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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

For ease of reference, citations to the pleadings will be referred to 

as Settled Record ("SR") and the numbers assigned by the Clerk, and the 

pleading and any further designation as appropriate, e.g. "SR 85, Notice 

of Appeal." References to the documents in the Appendix will be referred 

to as, "Document" and Appendix ("App.") with the appropriate page 

number or paragraph assigned, e.g. "Permanent Order for Protection, 

App. at A 001." Citations to transcripts will be designated by transcript, 

date of hearing, and page and line number, e.g. ''Transcript (7/01/2024), 

p. 39: 18 - 40:2." 

The Appellant, Rigo B. Tovar will be referred to as "Rigo Tovar". The 

Appellee, Kyle M. Wagner will be referred to as "Kylea Wagner" or "Ms. 

Wagner". The minor children will be referred to collectively as "LT. and 

T.T." or individually as "LT." or ''T.T.". 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This is an appeal from the trial court's Permanent Order for 

Protection. Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), App. at A 

001 -004. On July 1, 2024, Kylea Wagner, as the Petitioner1 and Rigo 

Tovar, as the Respondent signed the Notice of Entry of Order and 

Acknowledgment of Personal Service, acknowledging receipt of a copy of 

the Order for Protection. Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic 

1 Kylea Wagner signed, but did not date the Notice of Entry of Order and 
Acknowledgement of Personal Service. 
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Abuse), App. at A 004. On July 31, 2024, Rigo Tovar filed a Notice of 

Appeal. SR 85, Notice of Appeal. This Court has jurisdiction over this 

action pursuant to SDCL § 15-26A-3. 

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

I. Whether the circuit court erred when it entered a Permanent Order 
for Protection. 

The circuit court held in the negative. 

MOST RELEVANT AUTHORITIES 

Pieper v. Pieper, 2013 S.D. 98, 841 N. W2d 781 

Purcell v. Begnaud, 2017 S.D. 23,895 N.W.2d 346 

Schaefer ex rel. S.S. v. Liechti, 2006 S.D. 19,711 N.W2d257 

SDCL § 25-10-1(1) 

II. Whether the circuit court erred when it entered a Permanent 
Order for Protection when it found domestic abuse occurred 
based upon alleged incidents, some of which allegedly 
occurred ten years ago. 

The circuit court held in the negative. 

MOST RELEVANT AUTHORITIES 

SDCL § 25-10-1(1) 

SDCL § 25-10-3.1 

III. Whether the circuit court erred when it entered a Permanent 
Order for Protection for the maximum period of five years, 
prohibiting Rigo Tovar, from any contact with the protected 
parties and minor children, I.T. and T.T .. 

The circuit court held in the negative. 
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MOST RELEVANT AUTHORITIES 

Purcell v. Begnaud, 2017 S.D. 23,895 N.W.2d 346 

SDCL § 25-10-5 

IV. Whether the circuit court erred by not modifying the Order 
for Protection when it heard Respondent's Motion for Order 
to Modify the Order for Protection at the July 22, 2024 
Hearing to Modify the Permanent Order for Protection. 

The circuit court held in the negative. 

MOST RELEVANT AUTHORITIES 

Purcell v. Begnaud, 2017 S.D. 23,895 N.W.2d 346 

SDCL § 25-25-10 

SDCL § 25- 10-13 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On May 24, 2024, Kylea Wagner filed a Petition and Affidavit for 

Protection Order (Domestic Abuse) , seeking a Protection order for a 

period of five years for Kylea Wagner a s Petitioner, and for Kylea Wagner 

and Rigo Tovar's two minor children, LT. (who is nine years old) and T.T. 

(who is e ight years old). In the Petition and Affidavit for a Protection 

Order (Domestic Abuse), Kylea Wagn er checked the boxes to allege 

Respondent, Rigo Tovar's actions inflicted fear in Pet itioner, Kylea 

Wagner and/or the other protected parties , LT., and T.T. and that 

Respondent, Rigo Tovar was about to cause physical harm or bodily 

injury to Petitioner , Kylea Wagner or the other protected partie s, LT. , and 

T.T .. The Petition and Affidavit for Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), 
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further alleged that Respondent, Rigo Tovar pursued a knowing and 

willful course of conduct which seriously alarmed, annoyed, or harassed 

Petitioner, Kylea Wagner and/or the other protected parties, LT., and 

T .T., with no legitimate purpose. As part of the Petition and Affidavit for 

Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), Kylea Wagner provided a "Summary 

of Incidents" alleging incidents from December 20, 2023 until May 22, 

2024. 

On May 24, 2024, an Ex Parte Order Hearing was held, where the 

circuit court granted an Ex Parte Temporary Order for Protection. 

On June 20, 2024, a Hearing was held that was continued, where 

the circuit court Granted a Continuance of Temporary Protection Order 

and Order to Show Cause (Domestic Abuse). 

On July 1, 2024, a Permanent Order Hearing was held, where the 

circuit court entered a Permanent Order for Protection for a period of five 

years, from July 1, 2024 through July 1, 2029, prohibiting Respondent, 

Rigo Tovar from coming within one hundred (100) yards of Petitioner, 

Kylea Wagner and the other protected parties and minor children, LT., 

and T.T .. The Order for Protection further prohibits Respondent, Rigo 

Tovar from any visitation with the protected parties and minor children, 

LT. and T.T. for a period of five years. The Order for Protection also 

prohibits Respondent, Rigo Tovar from any phone calls, emails, or third 
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party contact with the protected parties, Kylea Wagner, and the minor 

children, I.T. and T .T. for a period of five years. 

On July 2, 2024, Respondent filed a Motion for Order to Modify 

Order for Protection. On July 22, 2024, a Hearing to Modify the 

Permanent Order for Protection was held on the Motion for Order to 

Modify Order for Protection, where the circuit court did not modify the 

July 1, 2024 Permanent Order for Protection. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner were previously in a significant 

romantic relationship. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 8:22 - 9:2; p. 13:3 -

13:4; p. 177:2. Sometime in 2013, Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner entered 

a consensual domestic relationship, where the parties cohabitated 

together. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 15:20 - 15:21. Rigo Tovar and Kylea 

Wagner have two children together, I.T. (born February 4, 2015, who is 

nine years old) and T.T. (born February 19, 2016, who is eight years old). 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 177:2; p. 11:17; see also Exhibit 102 , Verified 

Motion for Change of Custody, App. at E 001. 2 

Sometime in 2018, Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner separated and no 

longer cohabitated together. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 15:24 - 16:8. 

Around the end of May of 2019, Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner reconciled. 

2 While received by the circuit court into evidence as r eferenced in the Transcript 
(7 JO 1 /2024) , Exhibit 102 is not listed in the Settled Record. See Transcript p. 177 :2; p . 
11: 17. 
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Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 16: 11 - 16:24. Toward the end of 2019, Rigo 

Tovar and Kylea Wagner again cohabitated together. Transcript 

(7/01/2024), p. 16:25 - 17: 1. 

In February of 2024, Kylea Wagner moved out of the residence 

owned by Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner and the parties again separated 

and began living apart, but maintained contact and Rigo Tovar still saw 

his minor children, LT. and T.T .. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 37: 16 -

37:18; p. 98:25-99:2; p. 17:2- 17:3; p. 90:5-90:17; p. 145:10-

145: 11. On one occasion on or about April 30, 2024, Rigo Tovar called 

law enforcement to keep the peace when h e went to pick-up the minor 

children for his parenting time, due to being denied parenting time in the 

past. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 152:20 - 153:6; p. 153: 16 - 153:23. 

Rigo Tovar was invited by Kylea Wagner to go to Florida in March 

of 2024, with her, the parties minor children LT. and T.T., and others 

from the Wagner family, but Rigo Tovar elected not to go. Transcript 

(7/01/2024 ), p. 55: 15 - 55:23; p. 92:2 - 92:6; p. 162: 11 - 162: 17. On 

March 21, 2024, Kylea Wagner invited Rigo Tovar to her parents' house 

to see the minor children, LT. and T.T. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 92:7 -

92: 18. On March 22, 2024, Rigo Tovar filed a Verified Motion for Change 

of Custody in Kylea M. Wagner v. Rigo B. Tovar, 51CIV18-000623. 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 99:7 - 99: 15. Rigo Tovar's Verified Motion for 

Change of Custody made various a llegations against Kylea Wagner, 
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including but not limited to her dependency issues related to illicit drugs 

& alcohol. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 53:9 - 54:6. Rigo Tovar's Verified 

Motion for Change of Custody caught Kylea Wagner off guard, because 

around the time of filing the Motion, Rigo Tovar had a plane ticket to go 

to Florida with Kylea Wagner, the parties minor children, LT. and T.T., 

and others from the Wagner family. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 99:7 -

99: 15; p. 55: 15 - 55:23. Approximately two months after Rigo Tovar filed 

the Verified Motion for Change of Custody, Kylea Wagner filed the 

Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse). Transcript 

(7/01/2024), p. 38:2 - 38:6; see also Petition and Affidavit for a 

Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 001-024. 

On May 28, 2024, Kylea Wagner filed a Petition and Affidavit for a 

Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), checking boxes to allege that 

"[r]espondent's actions inflicted fear in Petitioner and/or any protected 

parties that Respondent was about to cause physical harm or bodily 

injury to said Petitioner or protected party" and "[r]espondent pursued a 

knowing and willful course of conduct which seriously alarmed, annoyed, 

or harassed Petitioner and/ or any protected parties with no legitimate 

purpose. The pattern of conduct was a series of acts over a period of 

time, however short, showing a continuing pattern of harassment." 

Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 

001-002. 
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Sometime after filing the Petition and Affidavit for a Protection 

Order (Domestic Abuse), Kylea Wagner posted a picture on her Snapchat 

story of the residence owned by Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner, with the 

text stating as follows: "Finally thank you, Lord, for doing the right thing 

and giving me and my kids our home back that was rightfully mine in the 

first place." (emphasis in original). Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 93: 17 -

94: 12; see also SR Exhibit 108, Snapchat Story of House. As part of the 

Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), Kylea 

Wagner sought to prohibit Rigo Tovar from being at the residence located 

at 2925 Orchard Lane , Rapid City, SD 57703, which is the residence 

owned by both Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner. Petition and Affidavit for a 

Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 005. Rigo Tovar is 

prohibited from being within 100 yards of the property located at 2925 

Orchard Lane, Rapid City, SD 57703. Permanent Order for Protection 

(Domestic Abuse), App. at A 002. 

On July 1, 2024, a Permanent Order Hearing wa s held, where the 

circuit court entered a Permanent Order for Protection for a period of five 

years, from July 1, 2024 through July 1, 2029. Perma nent Order for 

Protection (Domestic Abuse), A 001-004. On July 2 , 2024, Respondent 

filed a Motion for Order to Modify Order for Protection. SR 80 , Motion for 

Order to Modify Order for Protection. On July 22, 2024, a Hearing to 

Modify the Permanent Order for Protection wa s h eld on th e Motion for 
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Order to Modify Order for Protection, where the circuit court did not 

modify Order for Protection. SR 082, Notice of Hearing on Motion to 

Modify and Summons to Appear (Domestic Abuse). This appeal followed. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ENTERED A PERMANENT 
ORDER FOR PROTECTION. 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW3 

"We review a circuit court's decision to grant a protection order for 

an abuse of discretion. 'An abuse of discretion is a fundamental error of 

judgment, a choice outside the range of permissible choices, a decision, 

which, on full consideration, is arbitrary or unreasonable."' Purcell v. 

Begnaud, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 6 , 895 N.W.2d 346, 348-49 (citing Repp v. Van 

Someren, 2015 S.D. 53, ,r 8,866 N.W.2d 122, 125); Shroyer v. Fanning, 

2010 S.D. 22, ,r 6,780 N.W.2d 467,469; MacKaben v. MacKaben, 2015 

S.D. 86, ,r 9,871 N.W.2d 617,622; Gartner v. Temple, 2014 S.D. 74, ,r 7, 

855 N.W.2d 846, 850. "We accept the court's factual findings as correct 

unless 'after reviewing all of the evidence, we are left with a definite and 

firm conviction that a mistake has been made."' Id. (citing Repp, 2015 

S.D. 53, ,r 8, 866 N.W.2d at 125); Shroyer, 2010 S.D. 22, ,r 6, 780 

N.W.2d at 469). "If the trial court's findings of fact are not clearly 

3 This Standard of Review is applicable to all arguments, specifically Arguments II . 
through IV. and any sub-parts therein. To avoid n eedless rep etition, the Standard of 
Review will not be repea ted throughout Appellant's Brief for Arguments II . through IV .. 
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erroneous, we 'must then determine whether the trial court abused its 

discretion in granting or denying the protection order.'" Schaefer ex rel. 

S.S. v. Liechti, 2006 S.D. 19, ,I 8,711 N.W.2d 257,260 (citing Goeden v. 

Daum, 2003 SD 91, ,r 5, 668 N.W.2d 108, 110). 

B. THE PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE DID NOT 
SUPPORT THE PERMANENT ORDER FOR PROTECTION. 

SDCL § 25-10-1(1) defines domestic abuse, as the "physical harm, 

bodily injury, or attempts to cause physical harm or bodily injury, or the 

infliction of fear of imminent physical harm or bodily injury when 

occurring between persons in a relationship described in§ 25-10-3.1." 

As stated by this Court in Purcell v. Begnaud, 

A petitioner must 'allege the existence of domestic abuse[.]' 
SDCL 25-10-3(2). The petitioner is also required to submit 
'an affidavit made under oath stating the specific facts and 
circumstances of the domestic abuse[.]' Id. (emphasis added). 
'One seeking relief under the domestic abuse laws must 
prove abuse by a preponderance of the evidence.' 

Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 8, 895 N.W.2d 346, 349 (quoting 

Beermann v. Beermann, 1997 S.D. 11, ,r 17, 559 N.W.2d 868,872); 

SDCL 25-10-5 (emphasis in original). This court has stated that a 

"'(p ]reponderance of the evidence' is defined as 'the greater weight 

of evidence.'" Pieper v. Pieper, 2013 S.D. 98, ,r 22,841 N.W.2d 781, 

787 (citing L.S. v. CT., 2009 S.D. 2, ,I 23,760 N.W.2d 145, 151). 

This Court in Purcell reversed the circuit court regarding the 

protection order for the minor children, stating as follows: 
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There are several reasons why the protection order was 
improper. First, Purcell's petition and affidavit do not allege 
the children are victims of domestic abuse. The term 
domestic abuse has a specific, statutory definition: 'physical 
harm, bodily injury, or attempts to cause physical harm or 
bodily injury, or the infliction of fear of imminent physical 
harm or bodily injury when occurring between persons in a 
relationship described in§ 25-10-3.1.' SDCL 25-10-1(1). 
Nowhere in the petition or affidavit does Purcell allege that 
Begnaud ever attempted to harm or injure their children, let 
alone succeeded in doing so. Nor did Purcell allege Begnaud 
has inflicted on their children a fear of imminent harm or 
injury. Because the petition failed to allege the existence of 
domestic abuse in regard to the children, it was facially 
defective in regard to the children. 

Id. at ,r 9, 895 N.W.2d 346, 349 (emphasis in original). 

As stated by Kylea Wagner in the Petition and Affidavit for a 

Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), "[t]he petitioner, Kylea Wagner, has 

provided a detailed account of the respondent's alarming behavior, 

substantiating her fear of physical and emotional harm." Petition & 

Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 004. 

(emphasis added). Kylea Wagner's testimony did not support her 

allegations and such were not established by a preponderance of the 

evidence. 

In the Petition and Affidavit for Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), 

Kylea Wagner sought a protection order based on an alleged incidents 

that occurred between December 30, 2023 through May 22, 2024. 

Petition & Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 

003-004. When answering "I AM ASKING THE COURT FOR A 
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PROTECTION ORDER BASED UPON THE FACTS BELOW" Kylea Wagner 

alleged that "[o]n or about May 22, 2024 at approximately 7:45 o'clock 

AM" the following occurred: 

• Respondent's actions inflicted fear in Petitioner and/ or 
any Protected Parties that Respondent was about to cause 
physical harm or bodily injury to said Petitioner or 
Protected Party. 

• Respondent pursued a knowing and willful course of 
conduct which seriously alarmed, annoyed, or harassed 
Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties with no legitimate 
purpose. The pattern of conduct was a serios of acts over 
a period of time, however short, showing a continuing 
pattern of harassment. 

Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 

002-003. The two boxes checked only related to the alleged incident on 

May 22, 2024 and not to any other alleged incidents. 

When asked to "[p ]rovide a detailed description of what happened 

on the above date", Kylea Wagner stated "please see attached 

[d]ocuments[.]" Petition & Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic 

Abuse), App. at B 002. The attached documents made allegations from 

December 30, 2023 until the alleged "incident" on May 22, 2024. 

However, the incidents as alleged in the Petition and Affidavit for 

Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), go far beyond the date of the alleged 

incident on May 22, 2024. Petition & Affidavit for a Protection Order 

(Domestic Abuse), App. at B 001-004. 

At the July 1, 2024 Permanent Protection Order Hearing, Counsel 

for Respondent, Rigo Tovar asked Kylea Wagner about her allegation in 
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the Petition related to his "Rap [sic] sheet" and a "prior simple Assault" 

[sic] as follows: 

Q [by Mr. Nooney]: And you understand that that has 
nothing to do with your or your children's fear of imminent 
physical injury or harm, correct? 

A [by Ms. Wagner]: It shows that it's repeated. It shows that 
I'm not his first. 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 63:23 - 64:2; see also Petition & Affidavit for 

a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 002. As testified to by 

Rigo Tovar, the incident in Deadwood, involved an argument with a male 

bartender when Rigo Tovar was in his early twenties. Transcript 

(7/01/2024), p. 139: 1 - 139: 13. At the time of the July 1, 2024 

Permanent Protection Order Hearing, Rigo Tovar was thirty-five years of 

age. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 139: 14 - 139: 15. The "Rap [sic] sheet" 

and "prior simple Assault" [sic] allegations did not establish by a 

preponderance of the evidence that domestic abuse occurred or that the 

alleged incident caused the infliction of imminent physical injury or harm 

in her, or the minor children LT. and T.T., as the circuit court found. 

When asked about the December 30, 2023 allegation, Kylea 

Wagner testified in pertinent part as follows: 

Q [by Mr. Nooney]: You'd agree with me that you did not see 
m y client leave with the AR-15 during that alleged incident, 
correct? 

A [by Ms. Wagner]: I didn't see him leave, other than a video 
of him, of the back side of him. I didn't see anything in his 
hands. 
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Q [by Mr. Nooney]: So it's your testimony that my client 
allegedly had taken the AR-15 out of the gun safe while he 
was in the gun safe room, correct? 

A [by Ms. Wagner]: Yes. 

Q [by Mr. Nooney]: But that he never actually left with the 
AR-15, correct? 

A [by Ms. Wagner]: I can't say that he didn't leave with it. 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 64: 17 - 65:5; see also Petition & Affidavit for 

a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 003. Kylea Wagner 

testified that she did not call law enforcement related to the alleged 

incident on December 30, 2023, nor would have there been any reason to 

do so. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 61:23 - 62:6. Rather, Kylea Wagner 

testified she called her father, Jerry Wagner, who testified that he acted 

as a mediator for Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner off and on over a period 

of more than ten years. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 61 :23 - 62:6; p. 

119:20 - 120: 1. As it concerns the December 30, 2023 alleged incident, 

Ky lea Wagner did not establish by a preponderance of the evidence that 

domestic abuse occurred or that the alleged incident caused fear of 

imminent physical injury or harm in her, or the minor children I.T. and 

T.T., as ultimately found by the circuit court. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 

195:14-195:23. 

As it concerns the allegation on January 8, 2024 of Rigo Tovar 

allegedly locking himself in his bedroom for three consecutive days, 
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Kylea Wagner testified and admitted that Rigo Tovar "didn't make any 

threats, no, except for [sic] to himself." Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 67:4. 

This allegation does not amount to domestic abuse, nor could it 

reasonably create the infliction of fear of imminent physical harm or 

bodily injury in Kylea Wagner and the minor children. Kylea Wagner 

again testified that she did not call law enforcement related to the alleged 

incident on January 8, 2024, nor would have there been any reason to 

do so. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 66: 10 - 66: 13. Rather, Kylea Wagner 

testified she called Rigo Tovar's parents and his sister because she was 

"scared for him." Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 66: 17 - 66:20. As orally 

stated by the circuit court, "I don't know that it rebutted anything that 

Ms. Wagner had said about that. It was about his intoxication. Okay. The 

intoxication is not itself enough to form a threat", yet the circuit court 

erred by orally finding that "domestic abuse did occur." Transcript 

(7/01/2024), p. 197:4 - 197:7; p. 195: 14 - 195: 15. 

Regarding the January 14 , 2024 allegations regarding a "gun 

laser", Exhibit 113 a picture of a hand-held laser pointer in a kitchen 

drawer was received into evidence. SR 113, Exhibit 113 - Photo Inside of 

Drawer. The circuit court sought to clarify this on the record, as follows: 

THE COURT: Ma'am, I just have -- I just want to clarify 
something for the record. We've been talking about lasers 
and we've been -- I think there was a small bit of a 
discussion that was about laser pointers. And I'm kind of 
going back to when Mr. Nooney was asking questions. None 
of us here are talking about an actual laser that would do 
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harm, other than perhaps to someone's eyes; we 're talking 
about laser pointers, be they on a gun or a button that you 
use, like what could be this thing that's in the drawer. That's 
what we're all talking about, is that true, Counsel? 

MR. NELSON: I believe so. 

MR. NOONEY: I believe so, yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Ma'am, when you're talking about lasers, is 
that what you're talking about as well? 

THE WITNESS [Ms. Wagner]: Yeah. Only these either could 
be on a weapon or just a pointer, but it was used in a 
scaring manner. 

THE COURT: I just want to make sure we're all on the same 
page there so ... Ma'am, you may step down. 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 108:24 - 109: 18. Kylea Wagner alleged in the 

Petition and Affidavit for Protection Order (Domestic Abuse) that "his 

actions left an indelible mark of fear and distress on Ky lea and the 

children, particularly [T.T]", yet testified that on January 14, 2024, the 

minor children LT. and T.T. went with their father, Rigo Tovar to 

basketball practice after this alleged incident and she did not call law 

enforcem ent once Rigo Tovar left the residence, nor did she sugge st any 

rea son to do so. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 33: 13 - 33:24; p. 6 9 : 16 -

69:22. Kylea Wa gne r a gain testified tha t she did not call law enforcem ent 

rela ted to the alleged incident on January 14 , 2024, nor would have 

there been any reason to do so. Transcript (7 /01/20 24), p. 67:20 - 67:5. 

If Kylea Wagner truly believed h er and the children wer e placed in 

imminent fear of physica l harm or b odily injury, why would she allow 
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them to leave with their father, Rigo Tovar, rather than call law 

enforcement? 

Kylea Wagner alleged that on Febrnary 9, 2024, she "awoke to find 

one of their puppies bleeding with a swollen abdomen, evidently from 

being kicked". Petition & Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic 

Abuse), App. at B 004. Kylea Wagner initially testified that the "puppie s 

were sick" and then testified that "the puppy was hurt." Transcript 

(7/01/2024), p. 145:8 - 145: 17. When asked questions on cross 

examination, Kylea Wagner testified the puppies urinated and defecated 

inside the parties residence, were in a make-shift kennel, and were not in 

a great environment. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 73:8 - 73: 14 ; p. 74 : 13 -

74: 17; p. 75:2 - 75:4. The preponderance of the evidence did not 

establish that domestic abuse occurred as it concerns this unsupported 

allegation or that Rigo Tovar "evidently [] kicked" a puppy on February 9 , 

2024. 

Regarding the last alleged incident that allege dly occurred on May 

22, 2024, the alleged incident occurred at Wilderness Park. Transcript 

(7/01/2024), p. 145:8 - 145 : 17. On May 21, 2024, Rigo Tova r had over­

night parenting time pursuant to the Court Order regarding parenting 

time in Kylea M. Wagner v. Rigo B. Tovar, 51CIV18-000623. Transcript 

(7/01/2024), p. 145: 10 - 145: 12. On May 22, 2024 Rigo Tova r took th e 

minor children, LT. and T.T., a long with their bicycles to Wilderness 
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Park, where the minor children were to do a bike-to-school day. 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 145: 12 - 146:6. The minor children attend 

private school and I.T. became upset because he did not have his school 

uniform for the last day of school. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 145:8 -

145: 17. Rigo Tovar encouraged I.T., to ride his bike to school, but despite 

such, I.T. elected not to participate in the bike-to-school day and stayed 

at Wilderness Park with his mother, Kylea Wagner. Transcript 

(7/01/2024), p. 146: 10 - 146:20. Rigo Tovar rode his bicycle to school 

with T.T. and then Rigo rode his bicycle back to Wilderness Park, to his 

pick-up truck. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 146: 17 - 146:22. When getting 

ready to leave Wilderness Park, Rigo Tovar noticed Kylea Wagner and I.T. 

sitting near the playground. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 146:22 - 146:25. 

Rigo Tovar approached Kylea Wagner and I.T., so he could give I.T. a hug 

and encouraged I.T. to go to school. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 146:25 -

147:9. 

Rigo Tovar admitted Exhibit 106, an audio r ecording of the alleged 

incident on May 22, 2024, where there was no yelling, no threats, no 

threatening behavior, and Rigo Tovar did not charge Kylea Wa gner or I.T. 

or act in a menacing manner. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 160: 10 - 162:7, 

p.148:3 - 148:6; see also SR 104, Physical Exhibit List, Exhibit 106, 2 

Audio Recordings- Flash Drive. Kylea Wagner testified that she did not 

call law enforcement related to the alleged incident on May 22, 2024, nor 

18 



would have there been any reason to do so. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 

80: 14 - 80: 16. Rather, once again Kylea Wagner called her father, Jerry 

Wagner who acted as a mediator for Rigo Tovar and Kylea Wagner off and 

on for a period of more than ten years. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 80: 14 

- 80: 16; p. 119:20 - 120: 1. At no time on May 22, 2024 or any other 

alleged incident for that matter, was there any domestic abuse that 

occurred, neither physical harm or bodily injury, nor any attempt to 

cause physical harm or bodily injury, nor the infliction of fear of 

imminent physical harm or bodily injury. 

Kylea Wagner did not properly "'allege the existence of domestic 

abuse[;]"' did not state "'specific facts and circumstances of the domestic 

abuse[;]"' and did not "'prove abuse by a preponderance of the evidence"'. 

See Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 8, 895 N.W.2d 346, 349 (quoting Beennann, 

1997 S.D. 11, ,r 17, 559 N.W.2d 868, 872); SDCL 25-10-5 (emphasis in 

original). 

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT MAKE A FINDING THAT 
DOMESTIC ABUSE OCCURRED OR THERE WAS AN 

INFLICTION OF FEAR OF IMMINENT PHYSICAL HARM OR 
BODILY INJURY AS IT CONCERNS THE MINOR CHILDREN, LT. 
AND T.T .. 

The circuit court erred when it ordered that the minor children, LT. 

and T.T. were named as other protected persons, without making a 

finding that domestic abuse occurred or there was an infliction of fear of 

imminent physical harm or bodily injury against the minor children, LT. 

19 



and T.T .. Regarding the minor children, I.T. and T.T., the circuit court 

erred in its' oral finding as follows: 

THE COURT: And I believe that that is sufficient to issue the 
protection order as to Ms. Wagner and as to both of the 
children as well. I don't believe that I need to make a 
finding that the threat was made against all three of them 
individually in order for all three of them to be eligible 
or to grant the protection order against them and so I 
believe that that is sufficient. 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 198:9 - 198: 15. 

Despite the testimony and preponderance of the evidence not 

supporting the Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse) in the 

first place, in order for the circuit court to make the minor children, I.T. 

and T.T. protected parties pursuant to the Permanent Order for 

Protection as it did, the circuit court needed to make a finding that 

domestic abuse occurred against the minor children, I.T. and T.T., which 

it did not, nor did the testimony or evidence support such a finding. 

Even if the circuit court had made a finding that the minor children, I.T. 

and T.T. were victims of domestic abuse, which it did not, such a finding 

would be clearly erroneous based on the record and the specific facts and 

circumstances alleged by the Petitioner, Kylea Wagner. 

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ENTERED A PERMANENT 
ORDER FOR PROTECTION WHEN IT FOUND DOMESTIC ABUSE 
OCCURRED BASED UPON ALLEGED INCIDENTS, SOME OF 
WHICH ALLEGEDLY OCCURRED TEN YEARS AGO. 

Pursuant to SDCL § 25-10-1(1) domestic abuse can b e either 

"physical harm, bodily injury, or attempts to cause physical harm 
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or bodily injury, or the infliction of fear of imminent physical harm 

or bodily injury when occurring between persons in a relationship 

described in§ 25-10-3. l." (emphasis added). SDCL § 25-10-3.1 

provides as follows: 

Any person who is involved in one of the following 
relationships with another party: 

(1) Spouse or former spouse; 
(2) Is in a significant romantic relationship or has been in 
one during the past twelve months with the abusing party; 
(3) Has a child or is expecting a child with the abusing 
party; 
(4) Parent and child, including a relationship by adoption, 
guardianship, or marriage; or 
(5) Siblings, whether of the whole or half blood , including a 
relationship through adoption or m a rriage; 
is entitled to apply for a protection order or a temporary 
protection order pursuant to the provisions of this chapter. 

The word "imminent" is defined as "ready to take place" or 

"happening soon". MERRIAM-WEBSTER, https:/ /www.merriam­

webster.com/dictionary /imminent. At the July 1, 2024 Permanent 

Protection Order Hearing when asked about the "imminent fear or 

harm" specifically a s it concerns the alleged incident on May 22 , 

2024, Kylea Wagner t estified a s follows: 

Q[uestion by Mr. Nooney]: And you'd agree my client 
showed up to a baseball practice after this alleged incident 
on May 2 2nd of 2024 and stood approximately 10 feet from 
you, correct? 

A[nswer by Ms. Wagner]: I -- again, I don't know what day 
this is so I can't agree to anything without looking at a 
calendar. I know that Rigo showed up to baseball, but in the 
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last ten years Rigo was not present during -- during activities 
until April of this year that Rigo started being present. 

Q[uestion by Mr. Nooney]: Him not being present at things 
like baseball practice, that has nothing to do with your 
allegation -

A[nswer by Ms. Wagner]: Well, I'm just -

Q[uestion by Mr. Nooney]: -- as it concerns imminent fear 
or harm, bodily injury, from my client to you or the kids, 
correct? 

A[nswer by Ms. Wagner]: Correct. I mean, he was just 
standing there at a game. I believe that it's fear from the 
actions of what has occurred over the last ten years[.] 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 79: 15 - 79: 19. As testified by Ky lea 

Wagner the "fear", specifically as it concerns the May 22, 2024 

alleged incident was not imminent, rather it was alleged fear "from 

actions of what has occurred over the last ten years[,]" which are 

not "imminent" Id. 

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ENTERED A PERMANENT 
ORDER FOR PROTECTION FOR THE MAXIMUM PERIOD OF FIVE 
YEARS, PROHIBITING RIGO TOVAR, FROM CONTACT WITH THE 
PROTECTED PARTIES AND MINOR CHILDREN, LT. AND T.T .. 

Pursuant to SDCL § 25-10-5, "[a]ny relief granted by the order for 

protection shall be for a fixed period and may not exceed five years." 

Ultimately, pursuant to SDCL § 25-10-5, a protection order "may not 

exceed five years." See SDCL § 25-10-5 (emphasis added). 

In Purcell, this Court stated that "even if the circuit court 

had found that the children were victims of domestic abuse, it 
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could have protected against such abuse without completely 

curtailing Begnaud's fundamental rights as a parent for three 

years." Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 12, 895 N.W.2d 346, 350-51. As 

further stated by this Court in Purcell, 

At the very least, it was an abuse of discretion to impose the 
protection order without exception and without considering 
visitation. A court that finds domestic abuse has occurred 
has discretion to '[a]ward temporary custody or establish 
temporary visitation with regards to minor children of the 
parties[.]' SDCL 25-10-5(3). Yet, the protection order 
prohibits all contact between Begnaud and his children for 
three years. Under the order, Begnaud is forbidden from so 
much as sending a card to his children on their bir thdays or 
asking their grandparents to say 'hello' on his behalf. 

Id. (emphasis in original). At the case a t hand, the circuit court could 

have done something different than curtail Rigo Tovar's fundamental 

rights as a parent for five years, but instead it abused its discretion and 

elected not to. See Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 12, 895 N.W.2d 346 , 350-51. 

The circuit court abused its' discretion imposing the Permanent Order for 

Protection by not creating an exception or considering any visitation, le t 

alone prohibiting all "phone calls, emails, third party contact, including 

correspondence, direct or indirect[.]" See Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23 , ,r 12 ,89 5 

N.W.2d 346, 350- 51; see also Permanent Orde r for Protection (Domestic 

Abuse), App. at A 001-004. 

In the Petition & Affidavit for a Protection Orde r (Domestic Abuse), 

Kylea Wagner sought a permanent order of protection for a period of five 

years, which ultimately the circuit court granted. Petition & Affidavit for 
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a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 005; see also Permanent 

Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), App. at A 001-004. Pursuant to 

the Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), Rigo Tovar is 

prohibited from all contact with his minor children, LT. and T.T., direct 

or indirect via a third party for a period of five years, from July 1, 2024 to 

July 1, 2029, which amounts to 1,825 days. Pursuant to the circuit 

court's Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), Rigo Tovar is 

even prohibited from sending his minor children, I.T. and T.T., or either 

of them a birthday card or calling them on the phone to wish them a 

happy birthday. The circuit court abused its' discretion when entering 

the Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), by prohibiting Rigo 

Tovar from having any contact with his minor children, I.T. and T.T. for a 

period of five years. 

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY NOT MODIFYING THE ORDER 
FOR PROTECTION WHEN IT HEARD RESPONDENT'S MOTION 
FOR ORDER TO MODIFY THE ORDER FOR PROTECTION AT THE 
JULY 22, 2024 HEARING TO MODIFY THE PERMANENT ORDER 
FOR PROTECTION. 

SDCL § 25-10-10, provides as follows: "Upon application, notice to 

all parties, and hearing, the court may modify the terms of an existing 

order for protection." 

As stated by this Court in Purcell, "[t]he court could have simply 

ordered any in-person contact between Begnaud and the children occur 

in some type of a supervised setting." Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 12, 895 
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N.W.2d 346, 350. While Rigo Tovar Motioned the circuit court to remove 

the minor children, I.T. and T.T. from the Permanent Order for Protection 

(Domestic Abuse), given the circuit court would still have jurisdiction 

over the I.T. and T.T. in Kylea M Wagner v. Rigo B. Tovar, 51CIV18-

000623, the circuit court had the opportunity to amend its' Permanent 

Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), but did not amend such, which 

was an abuse of discretion. 

At the July 22, 2024 court hearing on Rigo Tovar's Motion to 

Modify the Permanent Order for Protection, Rigo Tovar made it 

abundantly clear that that the circuit court's July 1, 2024 Permanent 

Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse) prohibited Rigo Tovar from having 

any contact with his minor children, I.T. and T.T. for a period of five 

years, as follows: 

MR. NOONEY: As the current order stands that this Court 
entered for a permanent order of protection, my client does 
not see his children for a period of five years. That, of course, 
would equate to 60 months. And I've done the math, Your 
Honor. That would be 1,825 days from the date that order 
was entered. Beyond that, I believe this was discussed on the 
record previously, but my client had not seen his children 
since May of 2024. It's already been two months, Your 
Honor. So [Rigo Tovar is] motioning the Court to consider a 
modification of the Court's order that was entered on July 1, 
2024. 

Transcript (7/22/2024), p. 3:8 - 3: 18. 
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The Court understood that even if there were to be a Motion filed in 

the custody file, Kylea M Wagner v. Rigo B. Tovar, 51CIV18-000623, 

such order does not modify the Permanent Order for Protection: 

THE COURT: [T]here is a child custody matter also pending; 
is that true? 

MR. NOONEY: As this Court knows, in the event my client 
were to violate the permanent order of protection, that, of 
course, is a criminalable [sic] offense, a Class 1 
misdemeanor for the first occasion. 

THE COURT: Sure. 

MR. NOONEY: So with that, the permanent protection order, 
of course, trumps any order the Court would enter in the 
CIV file, which is -

THE COURT: Of course. I -- I understand. I'm just -- I 
guess the point that I'm getting at is that we're going to 
resolve that part some day[.] 

Transcript (7/22/2024), p. 3:20 - 3:21; p. 4:4-4: 14. 

SDCL § 25-10-13, provides for violations and penalties if a person 

violates a protection order, as follows: 

If a temporary protection order or a protection order is 
granted pursuant to this chapter, if a foreign protection 
order is recognized pursuant to§ 25-10-12.1 or 25-10-25, or 
if a no contact order is issued pursuant to§ 25-10-23 or 25-
10-25, and if the respondent or person restrained knows of 
the order, a violation of the order is a Class 1 misdemeanor. 

If the acts constituting a violation of this section also 
constitute a violation of§ 22-18-1, 22-18-1.1, or 22-19A-1, 
the violation of this section is a Class 6 felony. 

If a respondent or person restrained has been convicted of, 
or entered a plea of guilty to, two or more prior violations of 
this section, § 21-65-19, or§ 22-19A-16, or the comparable 

26 



laws of any other state, within ten years of committing the 
current offense, and the factual basis for the current offense 
occurred after the date of the second conviction or guilty 
plea, the respondent or person restrained is guilty of a Class 
6 felony for a third offense, a Class 5 felony for a fourth 
offense, and a Class 4 felony for a fifth or subsequent 
offense. 

Any proceeding under this chapter is in addition to other 
civil or criminal remedies. 

Despite Rigo Tovar being entitled to parenting time pursuant to a Court 

Order in Kylea M. Wagner v. Rigo B. Tovar, 51CIV18-000623, the 

Permanent Order for Protection prohibits Rigo Tovar from exercising 

such parenting time and if Rigo Tova r has any contact with the minor 

children, I.T. a nd/or T.T., such is a viola tion of the Perma nent Order for 

Protection, which is a criminal offense. Permanent Order for Protection, 

App. at A 001-004 ; see also SDCL § 25-10-13. 

As the Permanent Order for Protection stands, that "some day" 

when the circuit court may consider parenting time for Rigo Tovar in 

Kylea M Wagner v. Rigo B. Tovar, 51CIV18-000623, will have to be after 

July 1, 2029 , because unless the Permanent Order of Protection is 

modified or this matter is reversed and/ or remanded, pursuant to the 

Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse) Rigo Tovar cannot s ee 

his minor children , I.T. and T.T. until July 1, 2029 . Permanent Order for 

Protection, App. at A 001-004. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing arguments and authority set forth herein, the 

Appellant, Rigo B. Tovar, respectfully requests that this Court reverse the 

trial court's Permanent Order for Protection. 

Dated this 31st day of October, 2024. 

NOONEY & SOLAY, LLP 

Is/ Jared D. Nooney 
JARED D. NOONEY 
Attorney for Respondent and Appellant 
326 Founders Park Drive/ P. 0. Box 8030 
Rapid City, SD 57709-8030 
(605) 72 1-5846 
jared@nooneysolay.com 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) 
) 

COUNTY OF PENNCNGTON ) 

0DOMESTIC □STALKING 

□EX PARTE TEMPORARY 0PERMANENT 

□MODIFICATION 

PETITIONER 
KYLEA WAGNER 

First Middle Last 

By (name and DOB): 

On behalf of a minor child by parent/guardian. 

v. 
RESPONDENT 

RIGO TOVAR 
First Middle Last 

Relationship to Petitioner: 

Have had a child or am expecting a child with 

Respondent's Address: 
2925 ORCHARD LN 

RAPID CITY, SD 57703 

CAUTION: □Weapon Involved 

THE COURT FINDS: 

lN CIRCUIT COURT 

SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

ORDER FOR PROTECTION 
TPO NO. 51TPO24-000321 

PETITIONER IDENTIFIERS: 

1 0412211993 1 
[)ate of Birth of Petitioner 

Other Protected Persons (name and DOB): 

TOVAR, ISAIAH 02/04/2015 

TOVAR, TEYO 02/ 19/2016 
(See also 2B Additional Orders.) 

RESPONDENT IDENTlFIERS: 

SEX RACE HEIGHT I WEIGHT 
M w 5'11" I 240 

EYES HAIR DA TE OF BIRTH 
BRO BRO 09/04/ 1988 

DRIVERS LICENSE# I STATE I EXPDATE 
01030143 I SD I 

Distinguishing Features: 

Thal it has jurisdiction over the parties and subje1,;t matter, and the Respondent has been provided with reasonable 
notice and opportunity to be heard, and that in the case of an ex parte order, the Respondent will be provided with 
reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard sufficient to protect the Respondent's due process rights. 

THE COURT ORDERS: 
That the Respondent ls restrained from acts of abuse and physical harm, attempted or threatened abuse and 
physical harm, stalking or harassment. 

That the Respondent is restrained from contact with the Petitioner by any direct or indirect means to the extent 
stated in the following pages. 

Additional findings and orders are on the following pages. 

This order shall be effective I 07/01 I 2024 I through I 07/01 2029 
Month/Dav Ye:lf Month/Dav Year 

Or ifa penuanent order is issued, until that order is served. 

Only this Court can change this order. 
VIOLATION OF THIS PROTECTION ORDER IS A CRIMINAL OFFE1'SE. 

WARNING TO RESPONDENT: This order shall be enforced, even without registration, by courts of any state, 

the District of Columoia, any U.S. Territory, and may oc eoforced b}' Tribal Lands (18 U.S.C.§2265). Crossing state, 
territorial, or tribal boundaries to violate this ordrr may result in federal imprisonment (t ~ ll.S.C. §2262). 

Page I of 4 Form UJS-0911' (Domestic Permanent Order of Protection) Rev. 7/21 
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ADDITIONAL FINDINGS 

This matter came before this Court on this day and the following parties appeared personally: 
[Z]Petitioner 0Petitioner's Attorney NELSON, GEORGE J □Other 

0Rcspondcnt i{]Rcspondcnt's Attorney NOONEY, JARED D. n other 

0 I. This Court FINDS that, without admitting to the allegations in the Petition, the Respondent waives 
further hearing, findings of fact, and conclusions of law, and stipulates to the entry of an Order of 
Protection on the terms specified below. 

0 2. Having considered the evidence presented and any affidavits and pleadings on fil e, this Court FINDS: 
A. That jurisdiction and venue are properly before this Court; 
B. That the above-named Petitioner is eligible for a protection order pursuant 

to SDCL Ch. 25-10. 
C. By a preponderance of the evidence that "domestic abuse'' as defined by 

SDCL 25-10-1(1) has occurred; and 
D. That the Respondent had actual notice of the hearing and an opportunity to participate. 

ADDITIONAL ORDERS: 

01) That the Respondent is excluded from the Petitioner's res idence listed in 2C. 

jz2) That the Respondent shall not come within a distance or I 00 Yard(s) from the following persons 

and places : 

IZ]A. The Petitioner personally 

IZ]H. The following minor children named as other protected persons: 

Name 
TOVAR, ISAIAH 
TOVAR, TEYO 

0C. The Petitioner's residence 

2925 ORCHARD LANE 

RAPID CITY SD 

0D. The Petitioner's place of employment 

3234 CALAMITY RD 

RAPIDClTY 

[Z]E. Other places 

3232 DYESS AVE 
RAPID CITY 

519 6TH STREET 
RAPID CITY 

2929 JOLLY LANE 
RAPID CITY 

SD 

SD 

SD 

SD 

Date of birth 
02/04/2015 

02/19/2016 

57703 

57701 

5770 1 

57703 

57703 

Relationship 
Son 

Son 

This distance restriction applies unless otherwise specified in this order. 

D 3) The Petitioner shall have temporary custody of the minor child(ren ), whose names are: 

04) Temporary visitation for the respondent with the minor child(ren) named above 
shall consist of: 

□Existing order in File # □Supervised at or by 
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Jurisdiction: □South Dakota CSomh Dakota tribe OOther State 

□Other Visitation: 

US) The Respondent shall pay temporary: 

D child support in the amount of a month starting on 
and continuing until further order of the Court; 

Child :support shall bP paid to: O(fice of Child Support Enforcement 
Kneip Building 
700 Governors Drive 
Pierre, SD 57501 

D spousal support in the amount of a month starting on 

and continuing until further order of the Court. 

OOther 

Spousal support shall be paid to the Clerk of Courts Office in the county this order was filed. 

0 6) Phone calls, emails, third party contact, including correspondence, direct or indirect, are not permitted, 
to a protected person except as follows: 

NO EXCEPTIONS 

07) The Respondent shall receive parenting classes approved or provided by the Department of Social Services, 
pursuant to SDCL 25-10-5, and that a Certificate of Completion of that instruction the parenting classes be 
filed by Respondent no later than 

D 8) Respondent is ordered to immediately turn over all weapons and ammunition to local sheriff. 

09) Other relief as follows: 

WARNING TO RESPONDENT: You can be arrested for violating this prolection order even if any person 
protected by the order initiates the contact or invites you to violate the order's prohibitions. Only the court 
can change the order; the protected person cannot waive any of its provisions. You may also be held in 
contempt for ignoring the terms of this protection order. 

AND IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT: the Petitioner shall, immediately upon the granting of this Order, deliver 
two copies of this Order to the sheriff of this county. One copy shall be personally served by the sheriff upon the 
Respondent, unless personal service has been acknowledged below. 
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Service of this order is authorized on any day 
including Sunday, 

:f ,)?!.g_ 
Co~E ERIC KELDERMAN 

, Clerk of Courts 

, Deputy 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER AND 
ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF PERSONAL SERVlCE 

I acknowledge receipt of a copy of this Order of Protection. 

Date RIGO TOVAR, Respondent 

UNDER A PERMANENT PROTECTION ORDER: You may be subject to the following federal laws: (1) 
Effective immediately, you may not possess, carry, ship or transport any firearm or ammunition that has 
been transported in interstate or foreign commerce while this Protection Order is in effect. Title 18 United 
States Code Section 922(g)(8). (2) If you violate this Protection Order and are convicted of an offense of 
domestic violence, you may be forbidden for life from possessing, carrying, shipping or transporting, any 
firearm or ammunition that has been transported in interstate or foreign commerce. Title 18 United States 
Code Section 922(g)(9). Violation of these federal laws carries a maximum penalty of ten years in prison, a 
$250,000 fine, or both. 
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STATEOFSOUTHDAKOTA ) 

) 
COUNIY OF PENNINGIQN ) 

-vs-

Check here if under 18 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

TPO N0 .. _2..._~.....____-3_2_\ _ 
PETITION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR A 

PROTECTION ORDER 
(DOMESTIC ABUSE) 

I, ~\ev-.v,IDjo ~ 1. th~ lJ,r"bv\ the above named Petitioner, or the Parent/Legal Guardian of 

the minor child Petitioner (the Filer), being duly sworn upon oath, state and affirm the following: 

At least one.party to the protection order-Petitioner, Respondent (the person against whom I seek this 
Protection Order), or a Protected Party (a minor child in my custody also victimized by Respondent)-is a 
resident of South Dakota. Petitioner resides in f(&ll" County, :5 D 
(state); Respondent resides in Pe o:o County, $12 ·----'--(s-,a-t-e)_;_an_d_ 
any Protected Parties not residing with Petitioner or Respondent, reside in _________ _ 
County,, _________ (state). ·· 

[X)Please check this box ifthcre is a custody order in this state or another state regarding the children of 
Petitioner and Respondent. Please attach a copy of the custody order to this Petition or provide the 
county and case number. 5°'/ C, I v' / 8 - & Z '1 
The person I am asking the Court to restrain from committing acts of domestic abuse (the Respondent) is, 
in relation to the Petitioner and any Protected Parties: 
(check all that apply): 

spouse (married) or a former spouse (divorced); · 
n a significant romantic relationship or has recently been in one during the past twelve months; 
as a child or is expecting a child with Petitioner or Protected Parties; 

kJ.,~a parent or child; 
D a sibling. · 

I AM ASKING THE COURT FOR A PROTECTION ORDER BASED UPON THE FACTS 
BELOW: _ 
On or about (month)~(day) :Z 2 , (year):lff.1:i. at approximately:C 7'{ o'clock t,VJt (am/pm), 
Respondent committ~lowing act(s) of domestic abuse against Petitioner (if not me, my minor child 
who is related to Respondent) and any Protected Parties ( other minor child in my custody related to 
Respondent): 
(check ail that apply): 
D Respondent caused physical harm or bodily injury. 
D Respondent attempted to cause physical harm or bodily injury. 
9;] Respondent's actions inflicted fear in Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties that Respondent was 

about to cause physical harm or bodily injury to said Petitioner or Protected Party. 
D Respondent violated a protection order. 

B 001 

Form UJS-091A if Adult 
Form UJS-091AJ if Juvenile 

Rev. 07121 



D Respondent willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly followed Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties. 
,@.Respondent pursued a knowing and willful course of conduct which seriously alarmed, annoyed, or 

harassed Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties with no legitimate purpose. The pattern of conduct 
was a series of acts over a period of time, however short, showing a continuing pattern of harassment. 

D Respondent made a credible threat with intent to cause Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties 
reasonable fear of death or great bodily injury. 

D The person willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly harassed Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties by 
means of any verbal, electronic, digital media, mechanical, telegraphic, or written communication. 

D Respondent committed a crime of violence against Petitioner or any Protected Parties. 

Provide a detailed description of what happened on the above date: fie 0-~ 
:Doc,)~ er...¼ 

Bl- Yes 

i 
No □ Don't Know 

□ Yes No □ Don't Know 

□ Yes No □ Don't Know 

□ Yes No □ Don't Know 

□ Yes ID No □ Don't Know 

t Yes D No D Don'tK.now 
~ Yes D No D Don'tKnow 

Yes D No D Don't Know 

Was law enforcement called? 
Was Respondent arrested for this incident? 
Is Respondent in jail? 
Has Respondent violated previous protection orders? 
If so, against whom. ___________ ____ _ 
Has Respondent been found guilty of violating previous 
protection orders? 
lf so, against whom, _______________ _ 
Give the date of the conviction, _______ and the 
county and state of the conviction. _________ _ 
Does Respondent possess guns or weapons? 
Was a weapon used in this incident? 
Has Respondent threatened anyone with a weapon? 

Provide a detailed description of other similar incidents or actions that Respondent has committed and 
reasons you believe it will continue: -----r....,...-----------,.......---~---.------.-+-

\ Ji~5 a_. Sµ p;frQvh. p_,~ Qcl Lu"' t'.'.h:L--;f55 

2 
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Summary of Incidents: 

Kylea Wagner respectfully petitions this Court for a Protection Order against the Respondent, Rigo 

Tovar, based on a series of alarming and threatening incidents. The petitioner asserts t hat the 
respondent's actions have created a substantial fear of physical and emotional harm to herself and 

her minor children, Isaiah and Teyo Tovar. The following narrative details the incidents necessitating 
this petition. 

Incident on December 30, 2023: 

On the evening of December 30, 2023, the respondent, Rigo Tovar, had been consuming alcohol. At 
approximately 8:00 PM, the petitioner was alerted by an alarm ind icating that the gun safe was 

being opened. Upon investigating, Kylea discovered Rigo retrieving an AR-15 rifle and attaching a 

laser sight to the weapon. Concerned and frightened, she inquired about his intentions. Rigo 
dismissively responded, "You don't need to worry about it." Disturbed by his behavior, Kylea 

immediately went upstairs, secured her children in her bedroom, and locked the door, isolating 

them from any potential harm. Shortly after, Rigo Left the house. Kylea then contacted Vanessa 

Tovar, Rigo's sister, to inform her of the unsettling incident. Vanessa expressed concern for Riga's 

well-being. Rigo returned about 30 minutes later and slept in his truck parked in the driveway. Kylea 
did not see him again until January 2, 2024. 

Incident on January 8, 2024: 

On January 8. 2024, Rigo locked himself in a bedroom for three consecutive days. During this 
period, he consumed alcohol continuously and neglected personal hygiene. His reclusive and 

erratic behavior further heightened Kylea's fear for her family's safety and well-being. 

Incident on January 14, 2024: 

On January 14, 2024, Rigo arrived home and, in an alarming display, pointed the gun laser through 

the right front door window at Kylea and their children. He then entered t he house, attempting to 
downplay the incident as a joke. Despite her fear, Kylea and the children left for a basketball game 
with Rigo. However, his actions left an indelible mark of fear and distress on Kylea and t he children, 

particularly Teyo. 
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Incident on February 9, 2024: 

In the early hours of February 9, 2024, between midnight and 1 AM, Rigo returned home visibly 

intoxicated, as recorded by the Ring camera. Kylea awoke to find one of their puppies bleeding-with 

a swollen abdomen, evidently from being kicked. This act of violence against a defenseless animal 
was the final straw for Kylea. She immediately left the house with the child ren, seeking refuge and 

safety elsewhere. Since then, Kylea and Rigo have remained separated, and custody litigat ion has 
been initiated. 

Incident on May 22, 2024: 

The final incident occurred on May 22, 2024, in a public park. Rigo charged at Kylea and Isaiah in a 

physically menacing manner, instilling a profound fear for their safety. This aggressive behavior 
reinforced Kylea·s belief that Rigo poses a significant threat to her and the children. 

Request for Protection Order: 

Given the series of dangerous and irrational behaviors exhibited by Rigo Tovar, including the use of 
firearms, excessive alcohol consumption, physical violence, and menacing conduct, Kylea Wagner 

urgently requests this Court to issue a Protection Order. Additionally, she requests that Rigo 

undergo an alcohol evaluation and participate in anger-management classes to mitigate the risk of 
future harm. 

Kylea Wagner's primary concern is the safety and well-being of herself and her minor children. The 

issuance of a Protection Order is imperative to ensure their protection from further harm and to 

provide a secure environment for their emotional and physical well-being. 

The petitioner, Kylea Wagner, has provided a detailed account of the respondent 's alarming 

behavior, substantiating her fear of physical and emotional harm. In light of the incidents 
described, she respectfully requests the Court to grant her petition for a Protection Order and 

mandate the necessary evaluations and classes for the respondent to address his destructive 
behaviors. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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Continued from Page 2 

REQUEST FOR HEARING AND PROTECTION ORDER I 
Based upon this Petition and Affidavit in which I truthfully set forth the details of the domestic abuse, I 
n:spectfully ask the Court to set a date to hear this matter and after hearing the evidence, to grant 
Petitioner and any Protected Parties a Protection Order: 

EB 1) To Restrain Respondent from acts of abuse and physical hann, making threats of abuse, 
stalking or harassment. 

t±J 2) To Grant the Protection Order for a period of £ ¥'6 time (no longer than 5 years). 
[].-3) To exclude Respondent from Petitioner's residence !isled in 4C. 
0,.4) To Order that Respondent shall not come within a distance of 100 YARDS from the following 

P.ersons and places: 
H1' A. The Petitioner personally 
~- The following minor children named as other Protected Parties D More names attached 

Name Date ofbirth Relationship 

-X:s~e.b 7u Vo- tJ& /be/ fu)/["' -~Y-2,;..uOL------
~o :WVtv- o7- Zl t7J 7 2~l~ ___ _,_.l.1£...:."--=----------

Are ~the children related to the Respondent? If so, how? 1/.t._5 y'.)Y\5 , 

ls!l-c. Petitioner's residence (street/apt) ___ -V,-=-~.:_1.,,.:::::....::.5' __ 0.:::.._if_l_i.___C),.,,_l __ l_....;;.~...;..;;.......;_(...,;;..._ __ 

(city) ,f--{_:, :-GL-- ' (zip) [77>]- __ 
~ D. Petitioner's placeofemployment(street) ~ 't-f' .J- J~'Pj,:,f"f 4V'-

(city) 2_1:,, • (state) :n /77oT-__ _ 
[d..E. Other places (street/ayt) f?"J (., F-'\. <;.fr:t-d-

(city) £L , (state) jO 
(street/apt) 1fr7/l s\ulty IVV\e.... 
(city) f.L , (state) :5:D 

(zip) J??o] ----

(zip) J7707 ----
(street/apt) _ _______________________ _ 
(city) _____________ ,_,(state) ___ (zip) _______ _ 

To award me temporary custody of our minor child(ren), whose names are~-------

To establish temporary visitation for Respondent with the minor child(ren) named above 
consisting of: 
D Existing order in File # _________ ~ S~ervised at ~u""r:~' +.:..'-;;;...._~_.;~c.....::..:~::.:.tb~ie-'-/'=i'-f'--

Jurisdiction: []-South Dakota D South Dakota tribe LJ Other State _ ____ 00ther 
D Other Visitation: _________________________ _ 

3 
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D ?) To Order that Respondent shall pay temporary (If you are requesting support, you must 
provide proof of the monthly income of both parties at the hearing.): 
D child support in the amount of$ ____ a month starting on 

_______________ and continuing until further order of the Court; 
Child support shall be paid to: Division of Child Support 

Kneip Building 
700 Governors Drive 

Pierre, SD 
57501 

D spousal support in the amount of $ ___ a month starting on 
--------------~and continuing until further order of the Court. 
Spousal support shall be paid to the Clerk of Courts Office in the county this order was filed. 

Erl- 8) To Order Respondent receive parenting classes approved or provided by the Department 
of Social Services, SDCL 25-10-5. 

ffi 9) To Order Respondent to ob_tain counseling as fol ows: f\\r\g ir.C t'.Y\,C!...,,f'l/i'-8 V Yh.4J 
· · >-o---- o ll.o 7 · ·)J 

i]--10) That Respondent be restrained from contact with the Petitioner and any Protected Parties, by 
any direct or indirect means except as authorized by a court order. 

D 11) To Order other relief which I believe is necessary for Petitioner's protection and any Protected 
Parties' protection, as follows: ------------------------

(If you are requesting an immediate temporary protecJion order without notice to Respondent and 
without an opportunity for Respondent to appear, you must state why you believe Petitioner or any 
Protected Parties will suffer immediate and irreparable injury or damage if you or they have to wait 
tmtil the hearing.) 

REQUEST FOR IMMEDIATE PROTECTION ORDER 
WITHOUT NOTICE TO THE OTHER PARTY 

D I am JWl requesting an immediate Temporary Protection Order. 

~ In addition to what I have requested in sections 1-10 above, I further request that the Court grant 
Petitioner and any Protected Parties an immediate Temporary Protection Order restraining 
Respondent from committing acts of domestic abuse based upon the following sworn statements 
and beliefs: 

The reasons Petitioner and any Protected Parties need this order immediately and cannot wait until the 
scheduled hearing are: ________ ~-----~-------,---+---------

f). Jp, \.<> -b,"5 :tv:X:l)~C.,.hh, l, \ld\)U&\LLll< 
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~ I believe that Petitioner, and/or any Protected Parties will suffer immediate and irreparable injury, 
loss or damage if not granted an immediate Temporary Protection Order without notifying Respondent 
and his/her attorney or giving Respondent an opportunity to be heard. The immediate and irreparable 
injury, loss or damage that I believe will be suffered is: 

hN:n.... 

On this ·-z., 'f day of /VI t:..L,; • :zv ·z.. Cf , 1 swear or affirm under oath that the information I have 
provided in this Petition and Affidavit are true and correct to the best of my knowledge. I believe 
Petitioner and any Protected Parties are entitled to the protection I have requested. I am asking for this 
protection for valid reasons and am not attempting to harass the person I am seeking protection against 
and am not attempting to abuse or delay the court process or any other legal action. 

Signed and sworn to before me on this 

Commission Expires: 

5 
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4/16/24, 1 <31 PM Screenshot_20240416_ 132813_Message+.jpg 

1:28 52" 

• 

Vanessa Tovar 
~ Mobile 

12/30/2311:56 PM 

I just checked the gun safe. I think 
everything is there but I'm not sure because 
he has bought news ones. 

Ya I know he just got a new one a few weeks 
ago. 

12/31/23 12:02 AM 

Has he answered you 

He didn t answer my call but he text me 
back. 

What's he doing. He won't answer because 
he is hammered . 

• 
He didn't say yet 

Well keep talking to him. Im worried ai a 
him. Something is not right. V 

https://mall.google.com/mail/u/Ol?tab=rm&ogbl#lnbox?projector-1 
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4/16/24, 1 :32 PM 
' 

Screenshot_20240416_132838_Message+.jpg 

1 :28 ~ 52° 

• 

Vanessa Tovar 
~ Mobile 

Well keep talking to him. I'm worried about 
him. Something is not right. 

12/31/23 12:21 AM 

He just pulled into the driveway. 

-
I'm sure he's upset you told me. You did the 
right thing Kylea 

Did he every talk to you. I texted after I 
got off the phone 1Nith him. Told him I just 
needed to know the was safe and that it's 
not cool drinking and driving. He opened it 
but won't response. I'm just glad he is back in 
the driveway. Sorry I didn't mean to scare you 
or anything. I'm just can't handle drinking 
and driving. 

Ya he d 1d respond and I def went off on him a 
little. 

Okay sorry I feel bad like being a snitch or 
something lol.. but for real at the same A 
He can't do that. V 

• • • 

https://mail.google.com/maillu/O/'?tal),,,rm&ogbl#tnboJ</FMfogzGitSIRnWghCnWnGJrvrztdqGCP?projector=1 &messagePartld=0.1 
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4116/24, 1 \31 PM Screenshot_:20240416_ 132859_Message+ .jpg 

1 :28 ~ 52" 

• 

Vanessa Tovar 
~ Mobile 

12/31/23 12:34 AM 

Absolutely not. This is fucking ridiculous 
tbh. 

1/6/24 10:16 PM 

Someone asked about the puppies. I told her 
to message you. 

You should put your profile to public for a bit 
so people can message you or share the post 

1/8/2411;15 AM 

Okay, sorry I Just seen this message. 

Hey have you talked to your brother at he. 
He has been locked up in the kids bedroom 
since Friday .. the guys called me asked why 
rigo didn't come to work today. I told them 
I had no idea. I'm home now to check on 
puppies. Stand he is still locked in the room. 
Like he hasn't showered or even went to the 
bathroom in three days. 

I haven't. I did talk to my parents yesterday 0 
though 

• • • 

https:f/mail.google.com/mail/u/Of?tab•nn&ogbl#inbox/FMfogzGxSIRnLJghCnNgNPGRbpwMvBKr?projector-1&messagePartld=0.1 
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4116/24, 1 :,33 PM Screenshot_20240416_ 132926_Message+ .jpg 

1 :29 ~ 52" 

f-. Vanessa Tovar 
Mobile 

1 e e asn ts owe re or even went tot e 
bathroom in three days. 

I haven't. I did talk to my parents yesterday 
though 

My mom is leaving for a couple weeks 
on Wednesday though. If we want to get 
together and talk to him maybe that would 
be a good opportunity while she's gone. I 
told her I didn't think it would be a good idea 
if she was there cause I know how she is and 
she can not stay on topic and this is about 
Rigo. What do you think? 

Your mom had suggested maybe a mediator 
there wouldn't be a bad idea. ldk I guess if 
you even thing this is a good idea. Clearly 
each one of up reaching out individually isn't 
a great idea. 

Yes I think that is great. 

My parents suggested that sometime away 
could be an option. Which ya maybe good 
but def 11ot gonna actually fix anything. 

ldk what today Vanessa I really don't. 
There's nothing more then I ever wanted 

. . ,. - . . 

om 

e 

• • • 

https:lhnail.google.comlmaiVu/Ol?tab"rm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcgzGKS1RnWghGBsgKKDXpmSTLXNr?proJector-1&messagePartld=0.1 

B 012 

111 



4116/24, 1;32 PM 

Vanessa Tovar 
Mobile 

1/8/24 11:36 AM 

Saeenshot_20240416_ 132955_Message+.jpg 

To say* 

Q 

• • • 

https:/lmail.google.comlmall/u/Ol?tab=rm&ogbl#inboxlFMfcgzGxSIRnlJghDtHDdjPxcKsvhcxB?projector=1 &messagePartld=0.1 
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4116/24, 1;31 PM Screenshot_20240416_ 133012_Message+.jpg 

1 :30 !!! 52" 

~- Vanessa Tovar 
Mobile 

I think that's what everyone is thinking tbh. 
My dad pretty much said the same thing. 
That there is no need to stay together if 
noone is happy. But I feel like this is def 
going beyond your guys relationship and 
like you said it's effecting the kids so if he 
wants to be a part of there lives there are 
things that need to change. 

Everyone wants the best for you guys 
individually, too. No one is gonna judge you 
for not staying together Kylea. We've already 
gone through this once and if it does come 
to it again than hopefully everyone learned 
for the last time and we can all navigate 
through it in a healthier way. 

Yes, exactly. And I just hope we can all get 
along still. I don't want lawyers. I don't need 
visitation, right? I just want everybody to 
communicate and be a part of their lives. 
Honestly, our relationship took a big hit back 
in June. When I caught him having sex with 
my best friend Brooke in our downstairs 
bathroom. tried to move on with him. And it 
just brings more darkness to our lives. I just 
can't do it anymore. I just want the best for 
the kids. That's all this comes down to. 

Sorry spell check keeps changing my 0 

• • • 

https:l/mail.google.c:omlmall/u/0/?tab=rm&ogbl#lnbox/FMfcg.i:GxSIRnLJgtiCnWmCLjwHSdXbcpq?projector= 1 &messagePartld=0.1 
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4/16/24, 1;31 PM Screenshot_2024041fl_ 133039_Message+.jpg 

1 :30 ~ 52" £1 It 4GS ,,11 280/oijji 

f-- Mobile 

• 

Vanessa Tovar 

Ya that makes sense. There is no need to 
keep dragging this on. 

1/8/24 11:49 AM 

0 your rig ht. 

1/8/24 1:01 PM 

Your mom just called. Said her and your dad 
are going to the house. 

Ya she just called me top 

■ 
1/8/24 1:29 PM 

Well, helpfully, she won't get on my ass for 

the house being a disaster.~ Jk 

'I O < 

• • • 

https:/lmall.google.com/mall/ulO/?tab=rm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcgzGxSIRnLJghCnFdnnWxNwxPxWZB?projector-1 &messagePartld.o0.1 
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4/16/24, t:33 PM Screenshot_20240416_ 133102_Message+ .jpg 

1 :31 !' 52° Cu 46~ .,II 28%_ 

• 

Vanessa Tovar 
~ Mobile 

1/8/24 2:22 PM 

Haha. Well I was hoping they would be 
there and gone by the time I got the kids 
home. 1dk if i should stay away from the 
house for awhile or not. 

I know my dad was at work so she had to 
wait for him to get home. 

Oh so it won't be tell after dinner. The boys 
gave practice at 6 so we will probably be in 
and out of the house before they get there. 

She sJ1d they arc Just getting there. 

Oh okay. 

1/8/24 4:11 PM 

• • • 

hllps:l/mall.google.com/maiVu/0/?tab=rm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcgzGxSIRnlJghDijJxpqCXxmNjlrV?projectol"'1&messagePartld,,,0.1 
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4/16/24, t:32 PM Screenshot_20240416_ 133130_Message'I' .jpg 

1 :31 ~ 52" C If 4GS ,,I 28% ... 

• 

Vanessa Tovar 
f- Mobile 

I haven't heard from them. Did he go with 
them? 

1/8/24 5:25 PM 

Yes he left with them.Hopefully we will 
stay with them for a couple days. Instead of 
locking him self up here. 

Ya and like I said my mom is leaving 
Wednesday so it'd Just be him and my dad. 

I think that will be good for him. Just keep 
me posted. If I can do anything, let me know. 

Sounds good 

1/8/24 8:32 PM 

Well, that didn't work at all. He should have 
not ca me back here. W.e they talked about 
made him more of an ass hole. I can't it take 
anymore. My kids need their room. We need 
a functional home. Not a parent that acts 

like this.® 

1/8/24 9:10 PM 

• • • 

https:llmail.google.comlmaiUu/O/?tab=rm&ogbl#inboxlFMfcgzGxSIRnUghCnWqRJXckTKdzMpm?projecto.-1&messagePartld=0.1 
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4116/2~. 1:34 PM Screenshot_20240416_133149_Message+.Jpg 

Vanessa Tovar 
Mobile 

like this. . 

1/8/24 9:10 PM 

Honestly I don't even have any words for you 
right now. rvly mom did say they offered for 
him to stay at the house. 

1/8/24 9:43 PM 

I'm fine. I'm just overstimulated, I guess, 
and I totally feel like a failure. Thanks for 
being supportive. I do want the best. I'm 
just not perfect. And dont really know how 
to get through this the best way possible. I 
don't want rigo and i going separate ways 
go so badly that it ruins somewhat of a 
r·elationship we can have to co parent our 
children. If that makes any since. 

1/15/24 6:49 PM 

Was your dad still gonna sit with rigo and 
talk to him? 

1/15/24 6:56 PM 

• • • 

I thought they already did 

1/15/24 7:31 PM 0 
om Q 

' 0 < 
https:l/mall.google.comlmaillu/O/?tabzrm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcgzGxSIRnLJgqOFSOKQMXrlWXzbJx?projector-1&messagePartld"'0.1 
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4/16/2~, l :33 PM ScreenshoL20240416_ 133205_Mes5agei-.jpg 

Vanessa Tovar 
Mobile 

I thought they already did 

1/15/24 7:31 PM 

I thought they were gonna takl after your 
mom was gone. I know they talked that day 
when they got him out of the room. I just 
thought maybe your dad would still talk 
with him. 

I guess it really doesn't matter. it just makes 
him mad 

1/15/24 8:08 PM 

I guess I don't really know what they talked 
about. 

• • • 

https:/Jmall.google.com/mall/u/0ntab=rm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcgzGxSIRnLJghFzXRJNpkPRGrMSvh?projector-1&messagePartld:0.1 
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Screenshot_20240416_133304_Message+.jpg 

Vanessa Tovar 
Mobile 

we'll figure it out. 

1/15/24 9:36 PM 

1/16/24 10:51 AM 

Agreed 

Just to update on the shit he pulls so your 
side of the family understands the shit I put 
up with. The smorning the fridge wasn't 
working so I woke rigo up and told him. Then 
I left took the kids to school and came back 
to see if rigo had looked at the fridge when I 
got here. He said yup I tried plugging it into 
a different outlet it doesn't work. So I asked 
him what are we gonna do. This is what I got 
he took the gallon milk and the hamburger 
he bought an left. Said I needed to figure it 
out It wasn't his problem. My dad is livid my 
dad has been looking and working on the 
fridge for 3 hours. No company in town can 
come look at the fridge for another week. 
So now my grandfather has his employees 
looking into my fridge. My father is pissed 
my grandfather is pisses and rigo attitude is 
its not his problem. I don't need a response 
and I'm sorry to ruin your day. Like I said 
I'm just saying this stuff as it happens so 
everyone can understand why I'm leaving 
rigo. This is not the type on man that ca· 
for his family. And I nor the kids shoulc e 
punished for his uncalled for behavior. 

• • • 

https:fJmall.google.com/mail/u/Ol?tab;rm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcvzGxSIRnLJghDtHHsFRfQzNbvqSJ?projector=18messagePartld=0.1 
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4/17/24, 1:44 PM Screenshot_20240417_121644_Message+.jpg 

72:76. 41° 0 U IICI 5G ,,11187% ■ 

- -
what's yours 

Rigo Tovar 
Mobile 

12/31/23 12:10 AM 

What are you doing? You should not be 
driving. You know how I am. That's not cool 
at all. 

• • • 

• 
I know you're reading my messages. 

12/31/23 12:39 AM 

• 12/31/23 4:08 PM 

I'll call you back. 

1/2/24 9:48 AM 

I can't print the return label for the sheets 
unless you give me the pw 

c Okay)( Yeah)( Wow)( O 
01!1 

https:f/mail.google.com/mail/u/O/?tab=rm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcgzGxSISwMnbNvphsBdVlgcDRbsfm?projector-1&messagePartld=0.2 
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4/16/24, 9:59 AM Saeenshot_20240416_094659_Message+.jpg 

~ New Conversation 

.. • .. 11'--r-' 

' m . Tc Mulloy (M)· ;" 
~ - .. • 

1/15/24 6:46 PM 

Would you ever point a red laser on someone 
for head and think it's funny. After a week 
ago, that same person got drunk and was 
think it was funny to play games with .. -..~ ~7 
in your home. Just asking for friend. What 
your thouqhts would be on this. 

Delivered 
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DAKOTA HILLS VETERINARY CLINIC 
1571 E. HWY « 

RAPID CITY, SD 5770l-2218 
(605) 342-7498 

KYLEA WAGNER 
2929 JOLLY LANE 
RAPID CITY, SD 57703 

Page 1 / 2 

Client ID: 68704 

Invoice#: 634263 
Date: 2/10/2024 

(605) 431-3387 
KYLEAWAGNER22@GMAIL.COM 

Patient ID: 68704-5 Speciei: CANINE Weight 13.60 pounds 

Patient Name: BLACK PUPPY Breed: RETRIEVER GOLD., MIX Birthday: 12/24/2023 

2/9/2024 

2/10/2024 

Description 
Exam Regular 
IV Catheter SA Placement Long-Term 
Fluids IV 
Fluids Administration 
Lactated Ringers LRS 1 L 
Oral SAMeds 
Biohazardous Waste Disposal 
Panacur suspension per ml 
Metronidazole 100mg/ml (oral)per ml 
Proviable combo kit (Fel & Sm K-9) 
Fecal Smear and Giardia Test 
Parvo Test SA 
Hosp SA Nursing Care/Overnight 
Dally Patient Assessment 
Fluids Administration 
Oral SAMeds 
Injection SA- Cerenia per ml 

Patient ID: 68704-4 Species: CANINE 

Staff Name Quantity 

Dr. Jason Shipman, DVM 1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
9.00 
7.70 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
0.60 

Patient Subtotal: 

Weight: 

Patient Name: GRACE 9 PUPPIES 2023 Breed: RETRIEVER, GOLDEN Birthday: 12124/2023 

2/9/2024 

Instructions 

Description 
Exam Regular 
Proviable - Forte Caps 45ct 
Metronidazole 100mg/ml (oral)per ml 
Panacur suspension per ml 
Fluids SQ 
Lactated Ringers LRS 1 L 
IV Adm in Sets 103" Long Zoetis 
Needle 18g x 3/4"(100ct) per needle 

Staff Name Quantity 
Dr. Jason Shipman, DVM 1.00 

1.00 
60.00 
85.00 

1.00 
1.00 
1.00 
7.00 

Patient Subtotal: 

Sex: Male 

.Io!I! 
$84.00T 

$102.50T 
$0.00 

$49.50T 
$11 .35 T 
$17.00T 

$5.25T 
$17.25 T 
$17.62 T 
$33.80 T 
$73.50 T 
$93.00T 

$125.SOT 
$42.00T 
$49.50T 
$17.00T 
$45.75 T 

$784.52 

Sex: Other 

Total 

$84.00T 
$47.25 T 
$35.40T 
$36.25 T 
$58.50T 
$11 .35 T 
$6.46T 
$2.87T 

$282.08 

Your pet was given fluid therapy under the skin. You will notice a swelling where the fluids were administered. This 
swelllng will gradually subside as the fluids are absorbed into the body. 

CHECK OUT OUR WEBSITE: www.dakotahillsveterlnary.com 
Find Information on your pet$' health, nutrition, behavior, breed. You c:an 11h10 like Dakota Hills Veterinary Cllnlc on FaceboOk for 

interesting, fun facts and to keep up with our n.w.l 
To contact us after ragular bl.l81ness, please call (605) 342-7498. 

B 023 



DAKOTA HILLS VETERINARY CLINIC 
1571 E. HWY 414 

RAPID CITY, SD 57703-2218 
(605) 342-7 498 

Page 212 

Client ID: 68704 

Invoice#: 634263 
Date: 2/1012024 

KYLEA WAGNER 
2929 JOLLY LANE 
RAPID CITY, SD 57703 

(605) 431-3387 

KYLEA. WAGNER22@GMAIL.COM 

Invoice Total: $1,066.60 

SALES TAX 6.2% : $66.14 

Total: $1,132.74 

Invoice Balance Due: $1,132.74 

Check Check# 5981: ($532.74) 

Less Payment ($532.74) 

Invoice Balance Due: $600.00 

Balance Due: $0.00 

CHECK OUT OUR WEBSITE: www.dakotahtllsveterlnary.com 
Find Information on your pets' health, nutrition, behavior, breed. You can also like Dakota HIiis Veterinary Cllnle on Facebook for 

Interesting, fun faets and to keep up with our news! 
To contact us after regular business, please call (605) 342-7498. 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF PENNINGTON 

KYLEA M. WAGNER, 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

5 1TPO24 -321 

Petition er, 

vs. 

RIGO B. TOVAR, 

TPO-Permanent Prot ection 
Order Hear i ng 

Respondent . 

BEFORE: 

APPEARANCES : 

THE HONORABLE ERIC D. KEIDERMAN 
Circui t Cou rt Judge 
Rapid City, Sou t h Dakota 
July 1, 2024 , at 1: 00 p . m. 

For the Petitioner : MR. GEORGE J. NELSON 

For the Respondent: 

George J. Nel son Law Office 
2640 Jackson Boul evard 
Suite 1 
Rapi d Ci ty, SD 57702 

MR. JARED D . NOONEY 
Nooney & Sol ay 
326 Founders Park Drive 
Rapid Ci ty, SD 57701 
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I N D E X 

WirnESS: 

For the Petitioner: 
KYLEA M. WAGNER 

Direct Examinat i on by Mr . Nel s on 
Cross-Examination by Mr . Nooney 
Redirect Examination by Mr. Nel son 
Recross-Examinat i on by Mr . Nooney 
Further Redirect Examination by Mr. Nel son 

JERRY JAY WAGNER 
Direct Examination by Mr . Nel son 
Cross-Examination by Mr . Nooney 

JEANNE 'WAGNER 
Direct Examination by Mr. Nel son 
Cross-Examination by Mr . Nooney 

For the Respondent : 
RIGO TOVAR 
Direct Examination by Mr . Nooney 
Cross-Examinati on by Mr . Nel son 

EXHIBITS : OFFERED 

EXHIBIT 1 - Google Map photo of 
2925 Orchard Lane home 

EXHIBIT 2 - Petition for Protection Order 
EXHIBIT 3 - Medica l bill for puppy 
EXHIBIT 4 - School injury report 
EXHIBIT 5 - Officer ' s report 
EXHIBIT 6 - Photo of gun 
EXHIBIT 7 - Manual for a gun 
EXHIBIT 8 - Photo of gun safe 
EXHIBIT 102 - Veri f i ed Moti on for 

Change of Custody 51CIV18- 623 
EXHIBIT 103 - Text messages screenshot 

bet ween Kylea and Ri go 
EXHIBIT 104 - Google Maps driving time line 
EXHIBIT 106 - Audi o recor d ings 
EXHIBIT 107 - United Famil ies t ext 
EXHIBIT 108 - Snapchat stor y of house 
EXHIBIT 109 - Photo of ch i l d 
EXHIBIT 110 - Photo of AR-15 
EXHIBIT 111 - Photos inside home 
EXHIBIT 112 - Photos of children 
EXHIBIT 113 - Phot o of drawer 

12 

14 
47 
47 
49 
51 
21 
19 
53 

90 

138 
160 
150 

94 
151 
143 

75 
77 
97 

PAGE 
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52 
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111 
119 

125 
132 

137 
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RECEIVED 
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14 
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49 
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21 
1 9 
53 

90 
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EXHIBIT 115 - Photo of t ext messages (marked on Page 

94 
151 
143 

75 
77 
98 
98) 
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(vIBEREUPON, the f ollowi ng proceedings were dul y 

had :) 

THE COURT: Good afternoon, everyone . We ' re here thi s 

afternoon for a hearing on a petition -- a mot ion for a 

protection order. The matter is Kyl ea Wa gner versus 

Rigo Tovar , Case Nwnber 51TP024-321. 

Counsel , wou ld you n ote your appearances for the 

record, please. 

:tv:IR. NELSON: Yes , Your Honor . Georg e Nelson on behalf o f 

t he Pet i tioner Kylea Wagner . 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

:tv:IR. NOONEY: Good afternoon, Your Honor. Jared Nooney on 

behal f o f the Re spondent Rigo Tovar. 

THE COURT: Good aftern oon. 

3 

I t appears that the parties are present and there are 

a nwnbe r of individuals in the crowd . We will address t hat 

in just a moment . 

This might seem like a fairly c l ear answer here, but 

I ' m going t o ask, Mr . Ne lson, does the Petitioner still 

want t o proceed with this h e aring? 

:tv:IR. NELSON: Yes , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: And, Mr . Nooney, on behalf of Mr . Tovar, the 

Respondent is able t o consent or waive t he hearing and 

a llow a permanent prot ection orde r to be put in p l ace 

without having an y f indings being made in case that might 

C 003 
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affect any other proceedings down t h e r oad. Is that 

anything that 's an option or anything that you wish to 

speak with your client about? 

4 

MR. NOONEY: No, Your Honor. We h ave spoken about that and 

the Respondent would l i ke to proceed today with the 

evid entiary h earing. Thank you . 

THE COURT: Ms . Johnson, I forgot to turn the microphones 

on . Now they 're on . Now we can all hear each other just a 

little better . 

Mr . Nooney, do you agree tha t your client has been 

served a nd , obvi ousl y , he' s here, he's served and 

everything is proper; we can proceed today? 

MR. NOONEY: Ye s , You r Honor . The r e ' s no argument as i t 

con cern s service . 

THE COURT: Very well . 

Is -- we ' re goi ng to be just addressing what 's 

relevant to this petition today, but I do want to ask the 

parti es -- I just became aware this morning o f an order f o r 

mediation and cust ody evaluation that was ent ered last 

week . It appears that the r e was perhaps a hearing on this 

in a d i ffe rent c i v i l matter, 2018 case, and it appears that 

you may have had a h earing in May in front of J udge Wipf 

Pfeifle on that matt er and I think she just entered an 

order last week on that matter . 

Is that correct from everyone ' s perspective? 

C 004 
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MR. NELSON: Yes, Your Honor . And the parties have 

mediated . 

THE COURT: They have. You have mediated s o that is 

c omplete. 

MR. NELSON: Yes , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Do you agree , Mr . Nooney? 

MR. NOONEY: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right . 

MR. NOONEY: That's a fai r repre s entati on by --

THE COURT: So here we are I'm s orry . I int errupt ed. 

MR. NOONEY: Sorry. That ' s a fair repr esent a t i on by 

Mr . Nelson . 

5 

THE COURT: All right . So the findi ngs I make today 

regardless of whether they affec t t h i s other matter, I 

guess , I'm going to leave that t o the two attorneys a nd the 

two of you can figure out wh e r e thing s land a t the 

c on c lus i on o f this hea r i ng b a s ed on the f indi ngs t h a t I 

make. I s everyone clear that tha t might be what h a ppens 

h e r e ? 

MR. NELSON: Ye s , Your Hon or . 

MR. NOONEY: Yes , Your Hon or . 

THE COURT: All right . Mr . Ne l son, I 'm goi ng t o a s k j ust 

for a b r i e f open i ng s tatement . I t doe s n 't have to be 

anything l e ngt h y . I would j ust l ike to know wh e r e we ' r e 

heade d h e r e . 
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I s ther e anything e lse I need t o address first ? 

THE CLERK: ( Shakes head . ) 

THE COURT: Okay . Mr . Ne lson , i f you woul dn ' t mind , just 

t ell me whe r e we 're headed t oday, wil l you p l ease . 

MR. NELSON: Yes , Your Honor . 

You r Honor , I i n t end to p res ent witne s ses . 

THE COURT: Could you get that mic r ophone j us t a l i tt le 

c l oser to your mou t h, please . 

MR. NELSON: Sure . 

THE COURT: You may r emain seat ed too . 

6 

MR. NELSON: I i n t end to p r e s ent wi tnesses, my c l i ent and 

he r pa r ents , t o provi de t he Court wi t h backgr ound 

informat i on in r egards t o t he pa r t i e s . My cli ent 

peti t i oned t he Cou r t for a protective order due to the 

threatening behavior of Mr . Tova r , who i s t he f a t her of t he 

partie s ' t wo minor children . And t he behavi or has extended 

over not only to my cli ent , but , a l so, ther e ' s behavior 

t hat I t h ink my clien t has f ound thr e a t eni ng, harmful t o 

t he chi l d ren, and t hat' s why t hey ' re also int erest ed 

pa r t i es or s he ' s here on the i r behalf . 

We believe t hat t he p r eponderance of the evi dence by 

my c lient will est abl ish t o t he Cou r t that this behavior, 

this threat ening behavior , t hreatening towards my client, 

that i nvol ves ph ysi cal c onduct or contact would meet t he 

muster t est for t his Court to issue a pr otective order . 

C 006 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

16 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

2 0 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

7 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

Mr . Nooney? 

MR. NOONEY: Thank you , Your Honor . 

Your Honor , by no way am I tryi ng t o underplay a 

protection order matter because there a r e circumstances and 

facts that protection orders matte rs are very r e l evant and 

vi cti ms need to have p r otecti ons . But , Your Honor, the 

evi dence is goi ng t o show that t he protecti on order was 

merely filed to allow Ms . Wagner back i n a residence that 

is mutually ovvned by Ms . Wagner and Mr . Tovar as well as to 

alienat e t he children f rom my c l ient. 

As t he Cou r t previ ously not ed, t here ' s a civil fi l e , 

CI V18- 623 , wh i ch is a paternity matter . Your Honor, t ha t , 

of course, wi ll speak for i tself, but so the Court kind of 

understands, things essent ially transpired and l ed to t his 

afte r my c lient filed a ve r ified motion f or change of 

custody on or about Mar ch 22nd of 2024 . 

As the South Dakota Supreme Court has establis hed and 

stated in Batchelder, B-A- T- C-H-E-L-D- E- R, 965 N.W. 2d 880, 

a h i gh conflict relationship between the parties does not 

amount to a Court granting a protection order matt er . As 

Mr . Nelson has already i ndicat ed, You r Honor, pursuant t o 

SDCL 25-10-5 , the Court must find by a preponderance of t he 

evidence that domest i c abuse has taken p l ace or essent i a lly 

that there ' s imminent fear of harm. 
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The Sup r eme Cour t i n Trurmn, T- R-U-M-M, versus Cl e a v e r , 

C- L-E-A- V- E- R, 841 N.W. 2d 22 stat ed, A Circuit Cour t may 

gran t a d ome s ti c abus e p rote cti on order i f it finds by a 

p r eponderance of the e v i d e n c e tha t d omestic abus e has 

t a k en place . And that, You r Honor, is t he Court c i t i ng 

SDCL 25-1 0- 58 and, as the evidence wi ll s how, we do not 

beli eve t hat the Petitione r wi l l establish that burden , 

Your Honor . Thank you. 

THE COURT: Will you give me the name of t ha t f i r s t 

c i t a t i on t hat you g ave, t he 965 N.W. 2d . 

MR. NOONEY: Yes , Your Hon or. I t' s Batc h e lder, B- A- T -­

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. NOONEY: --C-H-E- L- D-E-R, versus Batchel der, 

9 65 N. W. 2d 8 8 0 . 

THE COURT: Thank you . 

And j ust s o ever yone i s aware , I have r ead t he 

Petition and Aff i davi t for a Protecti on Order that was 

fil ed May 28 -- I'm s orry, s i gned on May 24 , l ooks like i t 

wa s f iled on Ma y 28 of t his year . I ' ve read all the 

allega t i ons and t he i nformation conta ined in t hat document 

as well as t he r e l ated documents in thi s matt er . 

Simply f or -- s i mply for t he pu rposes of focusing on 

where we are headed, is there any di spute t hat the part ies 

wer e i n a s i gn i f i can t domest i c r elati onsh ip? 

MR. NELSON: No, You r Honor . 
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THE COURT: Any d i spu te to that in t h i s heari ng? 

MR. NOONEY: No, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Is there any dispute as to t he venue a nd that 

i t ' s p r oper i n Penni ngton County i n Rapi d Cit y , 

South Dakot a? 

MR. NELSON: No, Your Honor . 

MR. NOONEY: No d i spu te as concerns venue, Your Honor . 

9 

THE COURT: Well, then l et' s p r oceed . Mr . Nelson, I 

b e l ieve the burden is on y ou t o prove by a preponderance of 

t he evidence all t he elements t hat i ncl ude whether domestic 

abuse occur r ed as defi ned in you r -- under SDCL 2 5-10- 1 . 

So I turn t o you. 

MR. NELSON: Ye s , You r Honor . 

As I stated earli er, I do have a couple other 

witne sses . I ' m not s u re i f Mr . Nooney has wi tness es . 

Perhaps they should be s e que s t e r e d . I woul d move the Court 

for seques tration . 

THE COURT: I will grant that and order that all wi t nesses 

that a re going t o t e s t ify in thi s matter will be 

sequest e r ed. That is going t o be applicabl e t o both 

parties . So i f you ' ve got peopl e here that a re goi ng t o 

t estify , I ask you t o have t hem s t ep out of the room. They 

will not be allowed to testify if t hey are i n here during 

the r est of t h e testimony. 

( I ndividuals left the courtroom. ) 
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MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , if I may, t his i s Kate Anderson . 

She ' s our intern so she is j ust , of course, observi ng t oday 

just so the Court is aware who is behi nd me . 

THE COURT: Welcome to t he Seventh Circui t , Ms . Anderson . 

Just so the -- just s o I ' m clear, if these individuals 

that stepped outside , a f t er they ' r e finished t estifying, 

they may stay i n the heari ng for t he rest of the t i me . 

They won 't be allowed to testify again i f they do come back 

in, but I just wanted to make sure I was clear on that . 

Mr . Nelson, please p roceed . 

MR. NELSON: Thank you, Your Honor . 

I ' d call Kyl ea Wagner . 

THE COURT: Ms . Wagne r , wil l you come up and be s wor n . 

KYLEA "WAGNER, 

called as a witness, bei ng first duly sworn, t estified as 

follows : 

THE COURT: I s t he green light on on that mic r ophone? 

THE WITNESS: Yes , i t is . 

THE COURT: Thank you . 

MR. NELSON: May I proceed? 

THE COURT: Mr . Ne l son . 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Pl ease s t ate your name , and spell your 

f irs t and l ast name . 

A My name is Kylea Mari ah Wagner, K- Y- L- E- A W- A- G- N- E- R. 
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Q And where do you reside? 

A I reside at 2925 Orchard Lane as wel l as 2929 Jolly Lane 

during this time . 

MR. NELSON: Your Honor, may I approach the witness? 

11 

THE COURT: You may. And the attorney s may approach freel y 

without a sking permission. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Ms . Wagner, I'm goin g to h and to you 

what 's been marked as Exhibit 1 . 

A Okay. 

Q Do you recognize that picture? 

A Yes . This i s my h ome . 

Q And is that address 2925 Orchard Lane, Rapi d Cit y , 

Sou t h Dakota? 

A Correct . 

Q Okay. "When you say This is my home, who else r esi des 

there? 

A I saiah and Teyo Tovar. And Rigo did in the past . 

THE COURT: Mr . Nelson, I hate to interr upt . I want to 

clarify because I know I ' ll forget. I t says 2921 Orchard 

Lane at the top of that . I s that where the photo per haps 

i s being taken from? 

THE WITNESS: Yes . Those are the neighbors . Th e -­

the r e ' s kind of sever al traile rs t hat - - we own t he r oad, 

but the h ouses a r e kind of --

THE COURT: I jus t wanted to be c l ear . 
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THE WITNESS : Yes . 

THE COURT: Thank you . Pl ease proceed . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) And for c larification, you didn ' t take 

thi s picture, d i d you ? 

A I did not. 

Q This is a Googl e Map pictu re . Woul d you agree? 

A Correct . 

12 

Q And being Googl e Map, y ou -- some t i mes you can ' t go a ll t he 

way to the end of the street. 

A Correct . 

Q But this the maroon hous e i n Exhibit 1 is your 

residence? 

A Yes . 

MR. NELSON: I' d offer Exhi b i t 1 . 

THE COURT: Any objection? 

MR. NOONEY : No objection, Your Hon or . 

THE COURT: I t ' s -- Exhibit 1 i s received . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Kyl e a , h ow o l d are you? 

A 31 . 

Q And h ow l ong h ave you known Rigo Tovar? 

A I met Rigo in August of 20 13 . 

Q Are you married? 

A No . 

Q We r e you g uys d i vorced? 

A No . 
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Q Are you separated ? 

A Yes. 

Q All right. So you had an intimate relationshi p -­

A Yes . 

Q correct? 

When did that begin? 

A It began in August of 2 013 . 

13 

Q How would y ou describe the nature of your relationship with 

Rig o? 

A At f i rst he was a d r eam come true . I t was beautiful. I 

believed there was marriage in the f u t u re and a beautifu l 

famil y . Once I got pregnant with our firstbor n c h ild, 

I saiah, he became a different p e rson . Very distant . Ver y 

unpredictable. Alone -- I was a l one all the t ime wi th t he 

children. I never knew where we stood as a family. 

Q You' ve sought a p r o t e ctive order in t h is matte r, correct? 

A Yes , I did . 

Q And I'm going to h and t o you what ' s been marked a s 

Exhibit 2 . 

Do you recognize Exhibit 2 ? 

A Yes , I d o . 

Q And does Exhibit 2 r eflect your pet i t ion for the protective 

order? 

A Yes , it d oes . 

Q Th e statements t h at you made i n Exhibit 2 , d o you reaffirm 

C 013 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 4 

those here today under oath? 

A Yes, I will . 

MR. NELSON: Your Honor , I'd ask the Court to take, 

obvious ly, judic i a l n otice of the petition and the exhi b i ts 

that were originally f i l ed with the exh ibi t . 

THE COURT: Any obj e ction to that? 

MR. NOONEY: No objection, Your Hon or, provi d i ng they ' ve 

a lready been filed, I think are part of the court record so 

I ' m not g oing to obj ect to that. Thank you . 

THE COURT: Mr . Nelson, i s this 

document that was f i led that we 

earlier? 

MR. NELSON: Your Hon o r, it is . 

this is the same 

t hat I referred to 

THE COURT: Except it doesn't h ave t h e -- I ' m sorr y . I 

shouldn 't have interrupted . I t d oesn't h ave the text 

message s and those things attache d to it, but otherwise 

i t ' s t he same? 

MR. NELSON: Correct . 

THE COURT: All right . Hearing no objection , t h e Court 

will accept Exhibit 2 . It' s r eceived . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Kylea, did you describe the speci f i c 

instances tha t h a ve occu rred tha t hav e prompt ed you t o seek 

this p rot ect ive order? 

A I' ve -- throughout the years, Rigo h as physi cally thr ew me 

up against a wall and p inned me up against the wall i n our 
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laundry room as wel l as a year o r so l ater pinned me up 

against our bed to wher e I could not breathe, where I had 

to s lide off of our bed to gain oxygen . During these 

times, i f I confr onted him, it was a l ways my faul t for his 

actions t hat he took , which proceeded me to be i n fear of 

the unpredictabl e behavior that occurred throughout the 

many years . 

Going t o the most r ecent events was, it started off 

with finding Rigo having s e xual intercourse wit h a female 

in my house . I tri ed to seek help mutually between the 

both of u s to seek counsel and try t o figu re out how t o 

communicat e with each other. He was a l wa ys distant and 

would never conversate, which proceeded to around October 

Ri go started sleeping in our ch i ldren's bedr oom and coming 

home drunk almost a l l the time . 

Q All right. I ' m going to interrupt you . I ' m sorry. But 

just for the purpose of provi d ing the Court with some 

context chronol ogica lly --

A Uh-huh. 

Q -- your relat i onshi p started in 2013? 

A Yes . 

Q And did you initially cohabitate t ogether? 

A Yes , we did . 

Q Fo r h ow l ong? 

A I believe I moved in with Ri go around November, December o f 
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2 013 at 4100 Augusta Drive . 

Q And how long was that -- did that cohabitation last ? 

A I t lasted until the hearings o f 2018 . 

Q And that was i n the civil fil e for t h e cust ody 

and p arenting time, correct? 

A Corre ct. 

Q Thereafter was there physical separation ? 

A Yes. We separat ed at that p oint. I moved back home with 

my parents for a whi le. They we r e i n a n apar t ment s o I 

ended up r e s i d ing at my grandp arents ' house . 

Q Did ther e c ome a time where you and Ri go reconci l ed and 

then started cohabiting a gain? 

A Correct . 

Q When did that start? 

A It started Memorial Day o f 2 019 . 

Q Why d i d you? 

1 6 

A I t was my holiday with the children . Rigo reached out to 

me to ask if I was at work and, if I was, i f h e coul d see 

the children . I was not at work t hat day so I proceeded t o 

t e ll him that the chi ldren and I were on our way out the 

door to h ave lunch and we were going to the Air Force Base 

to go see the a irplan e museum and I invited him along . 

Q And then you r e connected t h en? 

A Correct . 

Q And you decided t o l ive together agai n? 
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A We did towards the end of that year . 

Q All right . .And how long did that last? 

A Until Febr uary of 2024. 

Q So from 20 -- or, what, J anuary of 2020 to February of 

2024, can we talk about any instances that you feel were 

abusive and that, I think, you previously r e f e r enced. I f 

you could put those into c ontext as to when they may have 

occurred. 

17 

A The first incident that I was speaking about happened 

wi t hin the f irst year of Rigo and I coinciding together . 

We had a argument. I do n ot remember what the argument 

was about, but he was angry and pushed me up against our 

room [s i c] in our l aundry r oom and pi nned me back wi th his 

forearm against my neck . 

Q Okay. "When was the next incident? 

A The next incident was about a year late r, r oughly a year. 

Q "What do you recall about that? 

A I recall it was someti me during COVID t ime period, where 

he -- it was another a rgument we were having, where he 

pinned me up against the bed, was on top of me, where I 

could not breathe or move to where I started tunnel vision 

and t rying t o fight fo r air, where I pushed mysel f off the 

bed and which gave me an opportunity to breat he . 

Q Did -- were e i t he r of those inc i dents r eported to l aw 

enforcement? 

C 017 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

2 0 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A No, they were not . They were just d i scussed wit h my 

parents . 

Q Okay. Was there another incident after the second one? 

A No. 

Q You talked about December 30th of 2 023 . Vllhat happened on 

that day o r night? 

1 8 

A During the day was a New Year's Eve basketball tou rnament 

up in Spearfish. Rigo and I were not talki ng f o r qui t e 

some while and the r e was arguments where the chi l d ren 

begged to not be in a vehic l e with Rigo, s o we took two 

s epa r a te vehicles t o Spearfish f or a basketball tour nament . 

On the way home the children in the parki ng lot refused t o 

g e t into his vehic l e s o one got in my dad 's and one got in 

wi th me . We went t o Taco John ' s tha t n i g h t and came home . 

V\Jhen we came h ome, we came in t o Rigo s i tti ng i n h i s 

chair in the living room dri nking Fi r eba ll shoot e rs and 

beer . I tri ed to j u s t ign ore t he fact of wh at he was 

d oing . We weren ' t speaking t o each other . Th e children 

wante d to watch a movie that night so we were going t o 

watch a movi e , but Rigo was angry because the r e was a fight 

that was g o ing to h appen, a WWE fight , or boxi ng, I' m not 

s u re, but h e wanted the TV . This s t arted an argument so 

Rigo proceeded to go back to the back room, which is whe r e 

our gun safe i s . I heard t h e t on es of the beepi ng to 

unlock the safe so I wal ked back the r e to see what was 

C 018 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 9 

goi ng on and I wi tnessed Ri go putt ing a -- openi ng a box of 

a sight laser t o be mounted onto an .AR- 15 . 

When I asked him what he was doing, I t old him that 

thi s was unne cessary, because he was angry and dri nki ng 

alcohol , that I told h i m that i t was scari ng me and I would 

like him to put it away, and he turned back around and t old 

me i t was none of my business and I needed to leave the 

r oom. 

Q .All right . I 'm j ust going to int errupt you there and hand 

to you what ' s been marked a s Exhibit 8 . Do you recogni ze 

Exhi b i t 8? 

A Yes, I do . 

Q How do you r ecognize that ? 

A Thi s is the gun safe that was in my home . 

Q Okay. And where i s i t located i n the house? 

A It i s in the back east corne r of the hous e inside the 

mudroom. 

Q You stated 'When you heard the beeping sound, i s that the 

beeping sound emitted from the keyboard on t he safe ? 

A Yes . 

Q And in Exhib i t --

MR. NELSON: Well , I ' d offer Exhibit 8 . 

THE COURT: Any objecti on? 

MR. NOONEY: No obj ecti on, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Exhibit 8 is received. 
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Q (BY MR. NELSON) In Exhibit 8 there appear t o be gun cases 

to the right of the safe ; is t hat accurate? 

A Correct . 

Q \l'Jhat are those gun cases f or? 

A One of them is for a shotgun, I believe . The s maller 

shorter one is the r i f l e . .And there's a nothe r one tha t you 

cannot see there . 

Q \l'Jhen y ou say "rifle ," a r e you talking a bout the AR-1 5? 

A Correct . 

Q .And I'm going to hand to you Exhibit 7 . Do you recognize 

Exhibit 7? 

A Yes , I do. 

Q .And h ow d o you r ecognize that? 

A This i s the rifle tha t I wi tnessed Ri go putting the mount 

ont o . 

Q All right. This -- wel l , this appe ars to b e a manual. 

A I t i s a manual . 

Q I s i t the manua l f or the rifle? 

A So the -- yes, the manual . Yes . Yes . It's the paper that 

was ins ide the gun -- the case . 

Q Okay. Do you have access to the gun safe? 

A No longer I do n o t . I do not no longer, sorry. 

Q Do you know where the AR-15 is? 

A I do n ot . I s u spect t hat it is inside that safe . I' m not 

100 percent sure . 
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Q All right. But Exhi b i t 7 , doe s t hat dep i ct a gun tha t you 

believe i s very s imilar t o what is exactl y own e d by Rig o , 

t he AR-1 5 ? 

A Correc t. 

MR. NELSON: I' d offer Exh i bit 7 . 

THE COURT: Any obj e cti on ? 

MR. NOONEY: No objec t i on, Your Hon o r . J u st , I g u e ss, 

b ased on the cont e x t t hat i t , i n f act , i s n o t the r i f l e , 

but that i t i s an owner ' s manual i d ent i f ying mul t iple 

Danie l De f ens e AR-1 5s . 

THE COURT: Mr . Ne l son, I h a ve thi s? 

MR. NELSON: Ye s. 

THE COURT: I cou ldn ' t so we ' r e c l ear , it ' s j ust -- i t ' s 

n o t i n c o l or . I saw that there the a ctual exhibit i s in 

col or . I t was just a manual . I t ' s not a phot ograph of a 

f i r e arm; i s t h at correct? 

MR. NELSON: That ' s cor rect . 

THE COURT: Okay . Exh i b i t 7 i s r ecei ved . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) All right. We were t a lking about the 

i n c i d en t on December 30th of 2 023 and how did that evening 

en d? I f you could des cri be to t h e Cour t . 

A Aft er Rigo made h is comment, I shut the door . I went and 

grabbed the chi ldren , was trying not to scare them of t he 

s i tuati on . We wen t to my bedroom and l ocked the door . I 

t u r n ed the TV on an d t urn ed on a movie , an d I went into my 
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bathroom t o call my dad . I p r oceeded to t e l l my d ad that I 

was scar e d and n o t j u st f or myself, but I was a lso s c a r e d 

that Rig o ma y have hur t himse l f o r may we l l h u r t h i mse l f 

with the a nger that h e has h a d f o r t h e past f ew months . My 

d a d wante d me to pack my b a g s and leave t he hou s e 

immediate l y . I r e fuse d to d o s o b eca u s e I d i d not wa n t t o 

s care the chi ldren an d alert them of what was h a ppe n i ng . 

And so my d ad p r oceeded to come t o t h e house . 

Du ring thi s ph one cal l , t he doorbell Ring camera 

alerted me t hat Rigo was l e a v i ng the proper ty so I told my 

d a d t h a t h e was drunk and s h ou l d n ot b e driving , and I was 

s car ed f o r his p ersonal we ll-being . My dad did wa nt t o 

c a ll t h e o f f i cer s , but I e xp lained t o h im that I wa nted him 

t o c ome over t o us f i r st and a s s e ss t h e s i tuation of j us t 

scare d and really n ot knowing wh a t t o do, more or less, 

b e cau s e I wa s scare d t o a l e rt t h e chi l dren . 

All r i ght . Back u p a l ittle b i t in regards t o t he commen ts 

ma de by Mr . To va r tha t scare d you . Can you be speci f i c? 

What d o you recall? 

When I proceeded t o ask him wha t h e was d oing, he tol d me 

that i t was n on e of my b u s iness , that I needed t o l eave the 

room. 

Q And he was in the gun safe room? 

A Yes , h e was . 

Q Did h e h a v e i n his h an d a n y of the weapons? 
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A He had the rifle i n h i s hands proceedi ng t o mount a l aser 

onto i t . 

Q Did he say what he was going t o do with t he we apon? 

A No , he d id not . 

Q V'Jhen you de s c r i bed him as having had a l coholi c beverages, 

h ow did you know t hat? 

23 

A V'Jhen I c ame h ome, I seen three double shot s of Fi reball i n 

the cuphol de r of t he chair as well as an open beer . 

Q Up t o that poi n t , had you wit nessed him dri nk a l cohol 

befor e ? 

A Ye s . 

Q How frequently? 

MR. NOONEY: Obj ecti on ; i r r e l evant , Your Honor. I t has n o 

bea r i ng t o t he peti t i on that is s ought . 

THE COURT: I' ll over rule it f or n ow. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) The quest i on -­

A Do I answer? 

Q Go ahead and answer . 

A In t his time pe r i od from Oct ober t o De c ember, i t was a lmos t 

a n i ghtly t h ing . 

Q And his behavi or wou l d change after dri nki ng? 

A Correct . 

Q Do you think he was intoxicated that night? 

A Yes , I do . 

Q And was t her e ammunition in the h ouse? 
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A Yes. 

Q To your knowledge, wer e t he weapons operable? 

A Yes . 

Q \l'Jhat other weapons were in the h ouse at the time ? 

A I 'm unaware of the new weapons . During thi s t ime peri od, 

Rigo was purchasi ng new weapons consistentl y behind my 

back . They were secret . 

Q Are you awar e of any other weapons to t his date? 

A I am not aware of no new weapons, no . 

Q You stated that he at t imes has a concealed weapon? 

2 4 

A Yes . He carri es a conceal ed weapon i n hi s front right side 

of his pocket. 

Q \l'Jhy? 

MR. NOONEY: Objection, You r Hon or; irrelevance . My cl i ent 

lawfully contains --

THE COURT: Sustaine d . 

MR. NOONEY: Okay . 

A Do I answer? 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Correct. 

A I do ? 

Q \l'Jhat -- no . 

A I ' m sorry. 

Q Let me ask a question first . 

A Okay. 

Q All right . So you s aw Rigo in the gun safe r oom. You l eft 
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that room and you went into the bedroom with the c h ildren. 

A I did, yes. 

Q And you called your father, correct? 

A Correct. 

Q I believe you stated t h at Ri go l eft the premises? 

A Yes . Accordi ng to the -- I witne ssed h im leave wi th the 

doorbell camera . 

Q And wher e did you go -- where did you see him go? 

A I just s een him get into his truck and drive down the 

driveway. 

Q And so in Exhibit 1, i t shows the exterior of your 

residence and there appears t o be a car near the front 

door . I s that whe r e you or Rigo woul d typical ly park? 

A Yes . ¼here his -- on the right-han d s i de of the p i c ture, 

you can see the f ront end of his t ruck r ight there . That's 

where Rigo parks his t ruck . He got i nto his truck ther e 

and drove down t h e d r iveway. 

Q Okay. There appears t o be a vehicl e wi th a white fron t 

end . Is that the truck? 

A Correct . 

Q Did you see him again that evening? 

A No, I did not . 

Q How long did you and t he kids stay i n your room? 

A For the rest of the night . 

Q To your knowledge, he never c ame back? 
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A He came back to the property and stayed in h i s t r uck with 

my dad. He -- him and my dad talked that night . I ' m not 

sure if it was in the driveway o r where they met , but my 

dad proceeded to tel l me that everything was okay and tha t 

I needed t o go to s l eep with the children . I went to 

sleep ; I d i d n o t s ee him again. I j ust know h e was ther e 

in the driveway in his truck . 

Q And to make sure I don't misstate you r testimon y , but did 

you indi cate that Rig o had e xpresse d h imse lf i n a manner 

t hat you thought he was thinking about h arming h imse l f? 

A I did. 

MR. NOONEY: Objection; calls f o r s p eculation. 

THE COURT: It d oes . That ' s s u staine d . 

You may reph rase . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) I believe you had prior testi mony i n 

r e gards to what you thought about Rigo 's intent a bout the 

guns and himsel f , cor rect? 

A Correct. 

Q What d i d he -- has he e ver expresse d to you in the past an 

idea of harming himself? 

A He h as not to me specifical ly; to my mother that i nformed 

me that he ' s expressed suicidal thou ghts . 

MR. NOONEY: Obj ection; hearsay. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) When d i d -- so you didn ' t see Rigo until 
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the next morning? 

A I did not . I seen him the 3rd. I t was a day or two later 

that I seen him physically. 

Q Do you know where he went? 

A I do not. 

Q Was there an incident on January 8, 2024? 

A Yes. 

Q What happened on that day? 

A J anuary 6th, 7th, and 8t h , Friday, that Friday evening, 

Rigo came home late at night drinking. He just went 

str a ight to the children' s r oom, locked h i mself up there. 

I did not see him for the entire weekend. 

Monday I was at work and a co- worker contacte d me and 

a sked me where t he whereabou ts of Rigo was . I proceeded to 

tell him that I was on my way home to go check on the 

puppi es . The we had nine puppies at the house . I was 

on my way there . I went upstairs to the bedroom to find 

Ri go s l eeping wi t h somewhere around 1 0 t o 15 open beer 

bottles and a bottle of insomnia sleep pill s that were 

opened and empty . 

Q Did the two of you -- were you working together at t he 

time? 

A We both work for my father ' s company, G&J Asphalt Company. 

We work in two different d epartments, but my department 

coin cides with all depar tments in the business . So I d on't 
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ph ysica lly wor k on his c rew, but I do h ave t o cons i s t e nt l y 

show up t here almost on a daily matte r . 

Q All right . So when you saw h im on t h i s d a te -- thi s again 

was J anu a r y 8th ; i s t h a t c orre c t? Or e a r lie r? 

A That Monday . I f J anua r y 8th i s a Monday . 

Q All right . He was i n c ap a c i tated? 

MR. NOONEY: Ob j e c t i on ; irrelevanc e , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Ove rruled. 

A He was s leep ing . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Okay . Did you wake h i m up? 

A I d id. I t t ook me mul t i p l e t i mes t o wake him up . 

Q V'Jhat h a ppe n e d ? 

A He wa s angry. He was mad . 

Q About wha t? 

A That I was in his busi n e ss . That I was in t here . I n e eded 

t o stay away f r om him. 

Q So h e d i dn ' t like you i n the r oom? 

A He d i d n ot . 

Q Wa s h e supposed t o work t hat day? 

A He was . 

Q And wer e others con cern ed abou t h im? 

A Yes . 

Q V'Jhat time of the day was t his when you saw him in the r oom? 

A I t was about lunch t i me . 

Q And did you leave the r oom? 
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A I did. 

Q "What happened next? 

A I called my co- worker that was waiting f or h im a nd tol d him 

that Rigo was here and that he would not be at work t od ay. 

And then I contacted his sister Vanessa for help . 

Q "Why? 

A Because she was my mutual person between him and h i s 

parents dur ing the matter o f January as well t he 

January 30th -- or t he December 30th incident . She was 

aware of all t h ese incidents and s he was t h at person that I 

rea ched to to seek out for help. 

Q Did she try to assist? 

A She did . She contacted h e r par ents to come get Rigo from 

the h ou se . 

Q And did you witness that? 

A I d i d . 

Q About what t ime of the day was that? 

A They came t o my h ou se appr oxi matel y 4 : 00-is h. And Vanessa 

was not with him; i t was just his mom a nd dad. 

Q Befor e I forget , when you say my house, who owns the house? 

A Rigo a nd I do together . 

Q "Who is in the h ouse a t this t ime? 

A Just myself and Rigo and his parents . 

Q Okay. I' m sorry about t hat quest ion . I' m trying to put it 

into context . 
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Are you and the children residing i n t hat h ouse a t 

this t ime? 

A Yes . Yes. 

Q All right. So his par ents came t o assi st? 

A Uh-huh. 

Q Is that a yes? 

A Yes. Sorry. 

Q Any other contact with h im that day ? 

A That evening h e c ame home more angry. 

Q How did he display that? 

A He, basica lly, questioned me on why did I contact h i s 

p arents and he was angry that I reached out f or hel p and 

that i t was nobody e lse ' s bu s iness but mine and h i s . 

Q And when he d i d that, d i d he r aise h i s voice? 

A Yes . 

Q Is that h ow h e c ommunic ates with you? 

A Yes . I t ' s not screaming; it' s just with a very strong 

str a i ghtforward tone . 

30 

Q All right. So did you make i t t hrough t he n ight then wi t h 

him? 

A I d i d . 

Q And you guys were i n separate rooms . You slept in a 

different bed than you --

A I d i d . The children at thi s time was at my parents ' house 

so it was just myself , an d Rigo was i n the kids ' b edroom 
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and I was in our bedroom. 

Q "When you said h e l ocked himself in t he room for three 

consecu t i ve days , so was that the 6th , 7th, and 8th o f 

January? 

A Yes . It started t h at Friday evening, which I bel ieve is 

the 5th . .And then Satur day, Sunday, Monday. "When h i s 

parents got him Monday, he also stayed there Tuesday, but 

proceeded t o go t o work Tuesday , I believe, but I'm not 

sure . 

Q Okay. So a f ter the 8th, when was t he next time you saw 

him? 

A I seen him that Wednesday . I seen him t h roughout the 

31 

night -- t h e week , but it was always at n ight. I t was 

n ever really -- t here was n o conversation between the t wo 

of us ; it was he would come home , go strai ght to h is room, 

usually c a rrying a case of beer or he would s i t i n t he 

truck and drink a beer . During t his t i me I just d i d my ovvn 

t hing , t rying to t ake care of t h e puppi es with the children 

at my parents ' house . 

Q Was there an inciden t that occurred on January 1 4 , 2024? 

A Yes . 

Q "What do you remember about that? 

A I was at home with t he children . It was a Wednesday before 

basketball practice . I asked Rigo if he was goi ng to make 

it h ome on time t o go to practice . He came i n -- he pull ed 
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into the d riveway and we -- the k i ds and I were putt i ng our 

shoes on and a red l aser came f r om his truck through t he 

front d oor onto my son ' s chest, Teyo's c hest f i rst. I 

grabbed Teyo and moved him to the wall. I got closer t o 

the door and window t o try to make eye contact wi th Rigo 

and asse s s the situation . I was frozen and scared. I 

didn't know what to do, other than I s een i n the reflect i on 

of the wind ow where the l aser was on my chest and s l owl y 

moved t o my forehead, and I just stood t her e in fear of not 

knowing what to do . 

Q Ag a in, looking at Exhibit 1, his vehicle wou l d be par ked 

near the front door? 

A Yes . The gray vehic l e that ' s in the dri veway. He was in 

the driveway at a 45- degree angle facing our front door . 

I f you ' r e l ooking at my front d oor , t h e laser came through 

that r ight-hand window of the front door, the r ectangle 

window. 

Q So this 

A Correct . 

you were on the first floor then? 

Q When this occurred what d i d you d o ? 

A I moved the kids, a s I stated, and was scared . I guess I ' m 

not sure what else you ' re asking me . 

Q Okay. Did Rigo come int o the house ? 

A He d i d not come into t he h ou se . We proceeded to wal k out 

of the h ouse an d Ri go made i t as if it was a j oke and I was 
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overreacting . 

Q So he was -- he remained in his veh i c l e? 

A Yes . He r emained inside of his vehicle . 

Q You got out of the h ou se t o g o t o t he garage? 

A He -- we got out to go t o the vehicl e to go t o p ract i ce 

with the children. 

Q Where -- where was you r vehi cle parked at? 

33 

A My vehic le was , I believe, over on t he west end o f the 

house , which is the righ t side of the picture . During this 

t ime period -- I don ' t even know if I had my veh icle that 

day. I left my vehicl e at work a lot and had my Dad drive 

me h ome during these time periods. 

Q All right . So you and the children l e ft the h ouse, though, 

for the purpose of goin g to an activit y? 

A Yes . We went t o a basketbal l practice . 

Q Okay. Wha t time of the day was this? 

A 5 : 30 at night . 

Q How d i d you get to the basketball p r acti ce? 

A Rigo . 

Q All r i ght . So h e was there , you approache d him after the 

l aser, and you got i nto t he vehicle with h im? 

A I did not; jus t my ch i ldr en did . 

Q Where did you go? 

A I stayed at h ome and call ed my dad . 

Q All right . Oth er than sayin g he was just j oking , d i d he 
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say an yth i ng els e that tried t o give you some assurance 

that he was going to harm anybody? 

A No . He j ust made me -- just bel ittl ed mysel f and made me 

feel l i ke that I was overreact i ng . 

Q All right. Let ' s t a lk about the incident of February 9 , 

2 024 . Te ll the Cou rt wha t happened on t hat day . 

3 4 

A Th e -- I wou ld l i ke to start wi t h t h e n i ght before, whi ch 

is February 8th. Aft er t he gun laser i nci dent, the 

children reside d wit h my parents until this t i me . We would 

spend the day wi th my parents , we would eat wi t h my parents 

as we h ad n o food a t ou r home, an d I was struggling t rying 

t o t ake care of n i n e puppi es and t wo children on my ovm as 

well as our h ou se . 

Duri ng thi s t ime period, Ri go would not allow the dogs 

to be in the garage so I was taking care of nine puppi es 

and two dogs i nside of ou r bat hroom. So the house was 

becoming a n on - healthy area for the children to be . The 

k i ds were s i ck at t his t i me as well so the kids were with 

my p arents . 

I went h ome the night of February 8th, as I did ever y 

night , to care for the puppies and left the ch i l dren with 

my parents . That n igh t -- February 9th, tha t Saturda y , a 

gentleman was dri v i ng from Montana to purchase one of t he 

puppies so I wen t h ome early that night t o give a ll the 

puppies a bath and I -- it was winter and col d so I ' d h ave 
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to bathe them, blow-dry them, towel t h em. I woul d wash the 

bathroom, make sure ever ything was clean. I went t o bed 

sometime around 10:00 o'cloc k that n ight . I woke up 

sometime around in between midnight and 1 :00 o ' clock t o 

being notified by the doorbell camera that Rigo was home . 

We did not spe ak to e ach othe r or s ee each other, as I was 

in my room. 

That morning at 6 :00 a.m. when I woke up t o go about 

my day, the first thing I do i n the morn i ng is t o get t he 

puppies , clean them, c lean their area, take them outsi de . 

I walked in to a puppy bleeding a l l over the bathroom. 

Q And did y ou try to ask did you ask Rigo what happened? 

A No t at f irst . At fi rst I grabbe d the puppy and I just took 

him straight for medical attention. I d i d contact Rigo, 

crying . I was upset . I asked him what h a ppened, if he was 

around the puppies that night. I was scared . I didn't 

know what happened . Rigo just said he never e ven was there 

o r around the puppies at all. I asked him if he hurt one 

of the puppies . I 

something to them. 

my gut f eeling was that he d i d 

Q You d idn' t see anything , other than the b l ood on the floor? 

A Correct . 

Q And was it a mess? 

A I t was a mess . 

Q You -- the two of you, were you raising puppies for sal e? 
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A Not the t wo o f us, just myself. Rigo denied having 

animals . He was ups et that I had a puppy. He would deny 

their c a re , f ood, anything . 

Q So he wouldn 't assi st i n your effort? 

36 

A Correct . I wa s having -- my dad and I were worki ng 

t ogether a s a t e am. Every -- every t h ree hours somebody 

had to assist the dogs , and we were also trying to work at 

this time. So my dad and I were alt ernat i ng car ing for t he 

house, the puppies , the children, and myse lf . 

Q I' m going to hand you Exhibit 3, which has been marked as 

Exhibit 3 . Do you recogn i ze tha t exhi b i t? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q How d o you r ecognize it? 

A This i s the medi cal bill for the puppy . 

Q All right. And s o i t corroborates t he i ncident as far as 

the puppy being injured? 

A Correct . There was no ph ysi cal b r oken bones or anythi ng so 

say. The v e t wanted t o do a ll testings f o r i nfecti ons, 

tests for anything, which she d i d , and everything came back 

n egati ve . There was no -- the d ogs were never fed nothi ng 

t oxi c . We d i d a toxi c l ab test as well as checking for 

parvo, as she was concer ned because one of the symptoms is 

bleeding . The a l l t e s t s - - all the puppi es were tested 

and not one of them test ed posi tive for any of these 

things . 
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Q Were there internal injuries f o r this one particular puppy? 

A It was just a s wollen abdominal stomach . 

Q Which led to the dog b leeding? Vomiting? 

A The dog was vomiting, and b l eedi ng from the front end and 

the back. 

Q Had that puppy had any othe r prior experi ence or probl ems 

with 

A No. 

Q -- vomiting? 

A No . 

At t h i s time the puppies were seven weeks old . They 

were all healthy . Everything was good with the puppi es 

until this night this morning, I shoul d say. 

Q Did you continue t o reside with Rigo at the res i dence? 

A I did not . 

Q When did you move out? 

A I moved out irmnedi atel y when -- the morning of 

Febru ary 9th. I went h ome ; I tried to c lean up the mess; I 

grabbed just a f ew clothes and I moved to my parent s ' house 

in fear . 

Q Why? Why were you i n fear? 

A I was s cared because of the last several years of the 

repeate d unpredictable behaviors of Rigo, t hat I f e lt l ike 

this was gett i ng more seriou s as time went on . 

Q So from Febr uary 9th unti l when had you been out of the 
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residence? 

A Until the p r otection o r der . 

Q Whi ch you appli ed for on May 24th of thi s year? 

A Correct. 

Q And it was issued May 28th? 

A Corre ct. 

38 

Q And after it was issued, d i d you go back to the resi dence? 

A The childr en and I went bac k t o the house immediately t o 

find that the house was in maj or distress . I t was f i lthy. 

I t was dirty. There was a l ot of health concerns that I 

had tha t the child r en and I cou l d n ot s l eep t here . 

During this time , the f i rst three days, my dad and 

mysel f and my mom went there . We tri ed t o clean . We tried 

to get groceries . During thi s time period the carpet 

smelled like urine and i t was a really awf ul, disgust i ng 

sme ll that we had to t ear out t h e carpet in the house . The 

third day then Rigo put a p inlock on the thermostat, wher e 

we n o l onger h ad air condi t ioning o r heati ng . 

Q Let me back you up a lit t le bit . After t he protect ive 

order was served upon Rigo and the house was l eft vacant , 

d i d you -- a nd you i nspec ted the h ome, d i d you immedi atel y 

move back into the h ouse? 

A I did not move immediately back into the hou se, no . For 

the best i n t erests of the children, we have went there 

every single day and we are c l eaning the h ouse . We are 
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taking care of the h ouse. It is not a heal t h matter -­

i t's not a healthy a r ea for t he children to be in . We 

would have moved back in within that f i rst few days , but 

there's no air conditioning and h eat i ng. 
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Q You hear d t he opening statement from Mr. Nooney tha t this 

motive -- that the mot i ve that you h a ve for this protect i ve 

order is to regain cont rol of this house. 

A Uh-huh. 

Q Is that acc urat e ? 

A No . 

Q "Why i s n't it? 

A I t's my home . I 'm n o t t rying t o cont rol anybody . I 

believe the h ome is where t h e chi l dren and I shoul d b e . 

Q All right. The protective order is related t o threat eni ng 

behavior from another person t o you . Wer e you experi enci ng 

that threateni ng behavior? 

A Yes . 

Q Regaining con trol of t h e house was f o r the purpose of 

making sure the residence was prot ected, which b oth of you 

own ; i s that fair? 

A I t was for t he children and I to go home . I t was so we 

could go home and have our -- ou r normal l ives back . I t 

was -- it ' s hard living with two children and not having a 

h ome . I mean, their clothes are there ; their beds are 

there; thei r toys are there . Their Christmas presents a re 
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still unopened sitt i ng on our tabl e. It was to regain a 

life, a healthy lifestyle for ou r children . 
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Q But you didn't make up anything in t he protect ive order f o r 

the purposes of just getting the home back, did you? 

A~-

Q Your concern r e garding Mr . Tovar 's behavi or i s r e lated t o 

the s a fety of you and your children? 

A Yes . 

Q After May 28th did you have any other contact with Rigo? 

A What was that date? I ' m sorry . 

Q .After May 28th of this year, have you had any o t her cont act 

outside o f the courtroom with Rigo? 

A ~ -

Q Prior to the protective order being i ssued, was there 

another incid ent that occurred between you and Ri go in a 

park? 

A Yes . 

Q Describe tha t t o the Cou r t. 

A I t was the very day before cou r t. I t was t he last d ay of 

sch ool, Wednesda y . Every year I t a ke our children . I t is 

a b ike r i de wh e r e you meet the sch ool and the ki ds at the 

park down the s treet. We me t the kids there . Both t he 

kids were different and angry. Isaiah proceeded that h e 

would not go on t h e bike ride with h i s father so we s t ayed 

back a t the park . Teyo took off with his friends , and 
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Isaiah and I stayed back. My dad drove us there i n fear 

that Ri go was going to be there . I was always scared t o b e 

alone or in presence of Rigo so my dad was a lways the one 

that drove us and was there for my safety, my -- t o make me 

feel like I was going to be safe. 

My dad dropped us off and had to run back home beca use 

Isaiah was upset that he was not in his school uni form. On 

the last day of school , I do not put my k i ds in school 

uniforms. I t's a free day to wea r clothe s, in appropri ate 

school manner c l othes, so tha t ' s what the ch i ldren were in. 

He was ups et of this fact so my dad ran home to g o give him 

a school uniform and come back. We were alone . Ri g o was 

alre ady g on e . Isaiah and I l e ft the parking l ot and went 

and sat inside the par k a rea where t h e s l ides and 

everything were at. 

Q Which park is this? 

A I d on ' t remember the name of the par k . I t is -- i t ' s about 

one mile south of St . El i zabeth Seton. I d on 't remember 

what the park is c a l l e d . 

Q All right . Rigo kn ew you were t h e r e , though? 

A Yes . 

Q How did he know that? 

A Becau se h e had the kids that night. He showed up there 

with the children and their bikes . I had the ir hel mets as 

I had t o go purch ase h e l mets for the k i d s as they could n o t 
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ride t he s c hool b ike r i de wi thout t h e appr opria t e gear . So 

we met . .And I do this ever y year with t he chil d ren; Rigo 

has never done this with the children . So it was something 

that I was c onsi stentl y t r y i ng t o s t ay wi t h . 

Q So you ' r e t her e in t he park with t he two chi l dren a nd did 

you s ee Rigo? 

A Yes , I did . 

Q \i'Jhat -- where was he at and vvhat was h e doing? 

A Rigo was angry over pict u r es . We were n ot speaking t o each 

other, but he just had t his very s tern, angry, t rying to -­

I fel t belitt led. I wasn' t sure how t o assess the 

situa tion because he was accusi n g me o f s t ealing p i c tures . 

They were baske tbal l pictures t hat were dropped off at the 

school tha t Monday. I d i d n ot go get my chi l dren from 

school that day , my parent s d i d . .And they did not p i ck up 

the school pictu r e s so I d i d n ot have t hem. But he was 

accusing me of steal ing something that I was -- that I did 

n o t have . I t o l d h im repeat edl y throu gh t ext messa ges tha t 

I did not have the pictures ; I was not t he one that went 

and p i cked up t h e kids that night . I tol d him t hat I would 

talk to my parents about i t just to make sure that my 

parent s didn ' t accident ally grab all of the pictures . They 

did not . We d i d n ot have my c opie s of t he p ictures e ithe r . 

So t h at We dne sday morning when I s een h im, he was angry. 

He was mad . 
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Q Did he express that to you? 

A He expressed it to the children . He was expressing an ger 

with Isaiah bei ng upset over clothes and trying to u s e 

I sai ah a s a tool to make me feel belittled as a wo- -- as a 

mother. 

Q Did h e approach you? 

A He did not. He kept t rying to take my kids. I shoul d 

rephrase that. Inside the parking l ot with the children, 

h e did not . After t he bike r i d e was over, I s aiah a nd I 

were still in the park, whi ch t his ma de Isaiah 20 minut es 

l ate to school becau se he d i d n ot ride t he bike ride as 

well I didn't have a vehicle . So Rigo got into h is t r uck. 

When h e came -- wh en Rigo c ame back, he l oad e d up the 

b i cycles ; he got i n h is truck . He started driving away 

from the p a rk . At this time h e stopped really fast ; he got 

out o f his truck and started approaching me and Isai ah i n 

the par king -- or i n the park i tsel f , not in the par ki ng 

l ot . 

Q How did that make y ou f eel? 

A I was scared. He was coming at me wi th a ver y aggressi ve, 

fast wal k trying t o demand our son to l eave me . 

Q What did -- what conver sation d i d you hav e with him? 

A I didn ' t have any conversation. All I d i d was express, 

Pl eas e l ea ve us alone . Ge t back i n to your truck . Leave us 

alone. You ' r e scar ing me . He kep t comin g c l oser so I kept 
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screaming loud e r . 

Q And how did h e react? 

A How did I react ? 

Q No. How d i d he react? 

44 

A He -- at t h is time as he got closer, I got my cell phone on 

t o record what was happen ing. Th e s e cond h e realized I had 

a recording on this, he changed into a smile, and h e 

proceeded to sit down right n ext to Isaiah and t ried t o 

make i t g o on -- your mother is just overreacting and this 

is unnecessary that she ' s doing this, and j ust total ly 

changed his behavior 1 00 percent. 

Q Did you fee l that y ou could trust Rig o? 

A ~ -

Q Did you seek the p rotec tive orde r after this ins tance? 

A Yes , I did. 

Q And you bri efl y d e scribed some o f the other incidents that 

occurred d u ring your relation s hip. Were there any other in 

your rel a tion- -- any other ins t an ces during your 

relationship that were physical? 

A The r e wa s a t ime about two weeks after I sai ah was b rought 

h ome . I sai a h was born p remature at 30 weeks wit h an 

emergency C- sect ion. I brought h im home on Val enti n e ' s Day 

that year , a 3 - pound p rematu re baby. Ri go was out with his 

f rien ds . He was angry at t h e fact that I was t rying t o put 

all my a tte nt ion t owards Isai ah an d my heal th. My health 
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during this time was -- deteriorated from my pregnancy 

being very difficult . He was angry at that fact and he 

believed that I was being controlling to him, trying to get 

him to stay with me as a family t o hel p t ake care o f the 

kids so he left with his fri ends . He came home drunk, 

angry, where we got into an argument, and h e beat our 

bedroom door dovm to where it was j ust a big huge hole that 

you could just walk throu gh it. Th is caused me to go int o 

the bathroom and cal l my parents . 

Q And when this occu rred, did he injure h imself? 

A He did. 

Q How so? 

A I f you l ook at both of his arms, h e has multiple scrat ch 

marks over both of his arms from punching the door . 

Q Are they 

A Yes . 

COURT REPORTER: I'm sorr y . Mr. Nelson, I didn 't hear what 

you said . 

:tv:!R. NELSON: Sorry. 

Q (BY :tv:!R. NELSON) Are they s till visible today? 

A Yes, t hey are . 

Q I ' m going to hand t o you what ' s been marked as Exhibit 4 . 

Do you r ecognize Exhibit 4? 

A Yes , I do . 

Q And how do you recognize that? 
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A This is a head injury report made by t h e school nurse at 

St . Elizabeth Seton . 

Q And what date was that? 

A April 30th. 

Q Do you know what happened to I saiah? 

46 

A The r e was an incident on the playground . No adul ts 

witnessed what happened. The school supervisor tha t was 

out on the park found Isaiah l a ying on t he g r ound, saying 

that he was dizzy and t hat h i s head hurt. The children 

a round said that another b oy t h at was bullying I s aiah -­

this boy has bullied him f o r the past few months -- chu cked 

a base- -- or chu cked a basketball at h is head and h i t him 

prett y hard t h at mad e him lay on the floor. And t he adult 

that was out there jus t found I saiah l aying on the g r ound . 

Q And you were contac ted? 

A Yes, I was . 

Q By t h e s chool nurse? 

A Yes . 

Q Did you go t o the school ? 

A I did . I went and picked up Isaiah . Sh e did a full 

assessmen t of I sai ah . She t ol d me to take h im home , l ay 

him in bed, do n o t l e t him fall asl eep, but t o get rest an d 

drink wat er, and wat ch his pupils or c h a nges in h is 

beh avi o r . 

Q About what time o f the day was this? 
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A This wa s a bout 2 :00 o ' c l ock i n t he aft e r noon . 

Q And did you do t h at ? 

A I did . 

Q And did you notify Mr . Tovar about t h e i nci dent? 

A I did . I not ified him imnediately getting in the park -­

g e t t ing back i nto the car at the school. He was suppos ed 

to p i ck up the chi ldren that day so I not i f i ed h i m r i g h t 

away tha t Teyo was still a t sch ool and sti l l needed t o be 

picke d up, but I was t aking I saiah home t o c a re for him. 

Q Did you see h i m later that day? 

A Yes . 

MR. NELSON: First of all, I would offer Exhibit 4 . 

THE COURT: Any obj ection? 

MR. NOONEY: No objecti on, Your Hon or . 

MR. NELSON: And I don 't t h i nk I previou s ly offered 

Exhib i t 3 . I ' d o f f e r Exhibi t 3 . 

THE COURT: Any objecti on to Exhibit 3 ? 

47 

MR. NOONEY: I guess , You r Hon o r , n o obj e cti on as i t 

concerns the fact that Ms . Wagner, of cours e , would have 

the ability to t e stify as i t r ela tes to the contents o f 

Exhib it 3 , but i f Mr . Nelson is g oing to offer i t to have 

her provide addition al t estimony as it concerns a ny 

findi ng, they, of cou rse, d i d not s ubpoena the witness or 

the veter i nari an so I ' d obj ect in that r e gard, bu t I guess 

I ' ll just sav e that objection . So n o obj ecti on as concer ns 
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the actual document itself. 

THE COURT: Exhibit 3 will be received . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Later did Mr . Tovar show up at your 

residence? 

A He showed up at my parents ' residence : 2929 Jolly Lane . 

Q Okay. That's where you and the children were staying? 

A Yes. 

Q And he was there fo r what purpose? 

A He was there to take I saiah from the h ou s e . 

48 

Q Did you , I guess, approach Mr . Tovar and try to explain the 

situati on to him? 

A I did. He showed up at the house with an officer . I 

proceeded to t e ll him t hat it was i n the best i nterests of 

I saiah to stay home with his mom. He only had a 3 - hour 

visit that day and so I asked him to go have Dad t ime with 

Teyo and allow Isaiah to stay home for care . 

Q All right . So I saiah i s in bed at the t i me? 

A Yes . 

Q And you explained to him the h ead inj ury. 

A Ye s . 

Q Despite that, d id he stil l ins i st about having I sai ah? 

A Yes , he did . 

Q And what happe ned? 

A He asked the officer t o f ile charges agai nst me and the 

officer said that ther e was n o charges t o be f i led as --
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that he would make a compl a int tha t I was not a llowi ng him 

to have his child. I p r oceeded to tell the officer that 

what was bothering me in this situation, that I b e lieved 

I sai ah s hould stay with me, is tha t I sai ah -- Rigo never 

showed concern f or I saiah's heal th. He never asked me how 

Isaiah wa s , h ow h e was doi ng, if he was okay, if he coul d 

see him. All he asked -- all he wan ted was just t o t a ke 

Isaiah from the home. 

Q I 'll hand t o you Exhibit 5 . 

Do you recogni ze Exhibit 5 ? 

A I do. 

Q How d o y ou recognize i t? 

A This i s the office r ' s r epor t . 

Q All right. Is t his the inc i dent r eport that you t est i f i ed 

about? 

A Yes. 

MR. NELSON: I' d offer Exhib it 5 . 

THE COURT: Any objecti on? 

MR. NOONEY: No objection, You r Honor . 

THE COURT: Exhi b i t 5 is r ecei ved . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) I'm going t o you h and to you wh at ' s been 

marked as Exhibit 6 . Kylea, what ' s Exhi bit 6? 

A This is a handgun with a laser attached t o it. 

Q I s t his a p i c ture of a s imila r pist o l that Mr . Tovar owns? 

A Yes . 
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Q \!'Jhat does he do with a handgun? \!'Jhy does he need a 

handgun? 

MR. NOONEY: Objecti on; irrelevance, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Overruled. I'll l et i t stand. I know how t o 

evaluate the testimony and what weight to give i t . 

50 

A I'm not sure exactly why he needs it . My concerns wi th 

having it is when I first met Rigo, he was not able to buy 

firearms . Every time we went t o go purchase somethi ng, he 

was denied . In 2018 he -- during the court proceeding, he 

got a concealed weapons permit randomly and i t was a 

concern of how he got that due t o hi s past behavior and 

record. Ever since then he ' s carried thi s with h i m and 

I'm -- I can ' t answer why . I just know that it ' s 

uncomforti ng . 

Q Is he still drinking, to your knowledge? 

A I haven't seen him in the past f ew months so I ' m not sure 

t oday. 

Q All r i ght. But his h istory of drinking concerns you with 

fire arms? 

A Correct . 

Q And you ' re seeking a protection order , a permanent 

protection order, for 1-'Jhat period of time? 

A Five year s . 

Q \!'Jhy? 

A I believe for myself, safety, and the children . 
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Q We h aven't talked an y g r eat deal in r egar ds t o Ri go ' s 

behavior around the chil d r en . What concerns you about his 

behavior around the children? 

A That h e has h i t t h e k i ds . He belittles t he children . He 

ma kes t h em f eel insecu re about t hemselves . He uses t hem 

a s a tool agai nst adul ts . He doe sn ' t s how up for their 

well- being . For example, I sai ah -- or Teyo had a surgery 

d on e . Rigo r e f used t o come an d -- nor d i d he show up f o r 

him in the two weeks of h e aling, the healing process . He 

d oesn ' t show up for them when he ' s needed . 

Q How d oes h e pun i sh them? 

A He punishes them b y yelling a t t hem or putting them in a 

room. I have witne sse d him hit I saiah . And h e h i t them 

wi th a belt when they were younger. Th i s made me very 

angry , where I told h im he was n o l onger a l l owed t o use any 

i t ems on the chil dren . 

Q Do you believe h e does that to t h is day? 

A I do . 

Q Why? How -- or why d o you believe t hat? 

MR. NOONEY: Objecti on ; cal ls for specula t i on , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: She can answer t o t he extent she knows . 

Overruled. 

A What I know about this is that my son has proceeded t o tell 

the chi ld advocacy building . 

MR. NELSON: Okay . I woul d offer Exh ibit 6 . 
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THE COURT: Any objecti on? 

MR. NOONEY: No obj ection, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Six i s received . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) And i n regar ds t o the protecti on order, 

what location do you want it t o apply to? 

A My residence, the 2925 Orchard Lane . I seek a protect i ve 

place to go to at 2929 Jolly Lan e as well as my three 

workp l aces, whi ch i s 3232 Calamit y , 3234 Diaz, and 

519 Sixth Street . 

MR. NELSON: All right . Your Honor, I h ave n o fur t her 

questions. 

THE COURT: Cross-examination . 

MR. NOONEY: Thank you , Your Hon or . 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ms . Wagner, I want t o start wi th your 

Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Orde r . If you 

would please turn to that exhibit . 

A (Complied.) 

Q Ms . Wagner , are you a t Exhibit Nwnber 2? 

A Yes , I am. 

52 

Q You ' d agree with me that there is a pending custody mat t er 

before this Court in 51CIV18- 623 , correct? 

A Yes , I do . 

Q And you' re aware of variou s a llegation s that my cl i ent has 

made again s t you withi n that verified motion, correct ? 
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A Explain the question. 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , if I may approach, I have a 

p r oposed exhibit binder for the witness, the Court , as wel l 

as counsel. 

THE COURT: You, too, may appr oa ch f r eel y . 

MR. NOONEY: Thank you , Your Honor . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ms . Wagner , I'd ask you to t urn to 

Exhibit Number 102, please. 

You ' d agree with me t hat Exhibit Number 102 is a f a ir 

and accurate copy of a Verified Motion For Change of 

Custody that was fi l ed in 51CIV1 8-623, correct? 

A Correct. 

Q And you'd agree with me t hat you have seen thi s 

Verified Motion For Ch ange of Custody prior t o today, 

correct? 

A Yes. 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor, I ' d offer Exhibit 102 i nto 

evi dence . 

THE COURT: Any objection? 

MR. NELSON: I would obj ect on r elevance at this poi nt . 

THE COURT: Overrul ed. Exhib i t 102 i s received . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ms . Wagne r , I would direct your a ttent ion 

to Paragraph 5 on Page 2 of Exhibit 102 . You'd agree wi t h 

me t hat Paragraph 5 s t a t es, The De f endan t r Ri go B. Tovarr 

is of information and belief that the Plaintiffr Kylea M. 
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Wagnerr has dependency issues related to illicit drugs and 

alcohol that have risen to a l evel that impacts her ability 

to effectivel y parent the minor children . Correct? 

A Are you asking if I agree? 

Q I 'm asking if that's what i t states? 

A It state s that. 

Q You'd agree with me that when you r ead that paragraph, it 

made you angry, correct? 

A No. 

Q How did it make you feel ? 

A It made me feel l i ke he was trying t o make me out to be 

s omebody that I'm not. 

Q You'd agree with me that Paragraph 6 state s , The Defendantr 

R.igo B . Tovarr is of information and belief that lack of 

stability in the Plaintiffr Kylea M. Wagner ' s r current 

mental and emotional state has risen to a l evel that 

i mpacts her ability to effectively parent the minor 

chil dren r as reflected in repeated communications from the 

Plaintiffr Kylea M. Wagnerr to the Defendant r R.igo B . 

Tovar. These communications include r but are not limited 

to a text messager where the Plaintiffr Kylea M. Wagnerr 

has indicated self- harmr while physically having one of the 

minor children in her care . Did I read that correctly? 

A You di d not because I did not have the children i n my care . 

Q But you would agree with me you had sent Rigo a text 
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sometime around March of 2024 that you were going to 

self-harm yourself, correct? 

55 

A I did not state that I was going to self- harm myself . I 

stated that I -- that what was goi ng on was mentally 

draining and what he has done, yes, affected my life. And 

I was seeking my parents . I would never self-harm myself 

or my children . 

THE COURT: Mr . Nooney, i f you're going t o read from other 

paragraphs of this, I ' m just going to ask you t o slow down 

a littl e bit . We a l l tend to go pretty quickly when we ' re 

reading so just keep -- keep the speed down just a litt le, 

p lease . 

MR. NOONEY: I apologize , Your Honor. 

THE COURT: That's fine . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) You 'd agree with me , Ms . Wagner, when you 

generally read the allegations in the Verified Mot ion f o r 

Change of Custody that that made you frustrated, correct ? 

A I was -- I was caught off gu a rd because duri ng t h i s t ime 

period Rigo had a p l ane ticket t o go to Flori da with us . 

He was supposed to be on that airplane . And instead of 

being on the a irp l ane to go t o Florida, he decided to write 

this instead of actua l ly trying to do what was best f o r our 

children and our fami l y . 

Q You' d agree with me that the b e st inte r ests of t h e children 

is something the Court can deal with in the custody ma tter 
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and that's not pertinent t o this pendi ng pr ot ect ion orde r 

matter , correct? 

MR. NELSON: Obj ection a s to f orm. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

A Can you ask me that question again. 

56 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) You'd agree with me , Ms. Wagner, that what 

i s in the best interests of the chil dren or what you 

believe to be in the best interests of the chil dren i s f or 

the Court t o c onsider in t he civil matter and not in t his 

pending protect i on order matter, correct? 

A I'm s eeking both. I want the Court t o s ee both s ides . I 

want the Cour t to see what is in the best inte r ests of the 

childr en and wh o g i ves the best for the ch i ldren . I 

believe that the Cou r t s h ould see everythi ng. I -- there' s 

a l ot her e t o take i nto mat ter and t hi s -whol e thi ng i s 

about the childr en; it's about Isaiah and Teyo a s well a s 

the safety of both of us . I beli eve Rigo should get the 

he l p that he needs t o be a good f ather to his child r en . 

Q Do you understand t hat my client has been and is currently 

going to counsel i ng? 

A I found t hi s ou t lat er, yes . And so am I . 

Q And you underst and t hat he went t o counseling long before 

filing this motion for change of custody, correct ? 

A I d i d not know t hat , no . 

Q And you underst and , t h ough, that my cli ent went to 
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counseling prior t o you ever fi l ing t h i s Peti t ion and 

Affidavit for a Protect i on Order, correct? 

57 

A I did not . I was not aware of this . I seeked h e l p from 

his p arents . And when I seeked help from his parent s , they 

flipped ever ything around and tried to separate me from my 

family. I f we would have b een aware of this , there -- I 

have a text message back from, you know, October of las t 

year me t rying to seek help for Rigo and myself . 

Q Ma'am, that --

A So , n o , I d i dn ' t . 

Q -- doesn't a nswer my question. I f you woul d p l ease answer 

the correct question that's directed. Your counsel has t he 

opportunity to r edirect . Thank y ou . 

Would you agree wi th me that you fi led thi s petition 

and affi davit, which you signed on o r a bout May 22nd of 

2024? 

A Did I -- d i d I -- s ay that again . I 'm sorry . 

Q I'll d i rect your attention back t o Exhi b i t 2 . I'm not 

trying to stump you , Ms . Wagner . J ust so I can understand 

the dates 

A Uh-huh. 

Q -- you ' d agree with me that it ' s dated on or about the 

22nd day of May of 2024 , correct? 

A Yes . 

Q And you h ad testified previously about various a llegat i ons 
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from, roughly, ten years ago where my c lient a l l egedl y 

created harm in yourself , c orrect? 

5 8 

A I t wasn ' t just ten year s ago , it was t h roug h -- wi thi n t en 

years. It was repeatedl y with in t en years . 

Q And you had a -- you 'd stated an all egation t hat my c lient 

pushe d you against the wall, corre ct? 

A Yes, I did . 

Q And you didn't call law enforcement as it c on c erns the 

alle g e d i ncident , c orr ect? 

A I did not . 

Q And you the n a lleged an inc i dent that occurred, I b e lieve, 

on the bed wh e r e y ou slid off the bed, correct ? 

A Yes , I did . 

Q And you ' d a g r ee wi th me you d i dn 't cal l law enforc ement at 

that alleged incidence, correc t ? 

A I d i d not . 

Q And you d on ' t have any e videnc e to of fer here t od ay, other 

than you r tes t imon y a s i t con c erns t hose a l l e g ed 

i ncidence s , c o r r e ct? 

A I have people t h a t have seen t h e aft e rmat h and t he f e ar . 

They were n ot the re duri ng the occurren c e , o ther t han t h e 

chil d ren being t oo small . 

Q But you h a v e nothing t o off e r as it concern s photographs , 

for e xample ? Corre ct? 

A I do not . How do you t a ke ph otograph s o f s omebody cho ki n g 
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you? 

Q Well , you would agree wit h me you could have called l aw 

enforcement as it concerned that alleged inci dent, correct? 

A I agree I could have, but I seeked help with f amily members 

as well as his parents . 

Q You had testified as it conce rns an alleged incident wher e 

my client allegedly had sexual i ntercourse with, I bel ieve, 

it was your best f riend, correct? 

A It was . 

Q And, first off, I'll just represent my cli ent takes issue 

with that allega tion, but you understand tha t even if tha t 

happened, that has nothing t o do with the safety of 

yourself or the children, correct? 

A It has everything to do with bel ittl ing who I am. I t has 

everything to do with the control of what Rigo does in our 

h ouse . 

Q Again, I'm taking issue with the all egation, but even if my 

client did ha ve sexu a l intercourse wi th one of your best 

fri ends , that doesn 't place you in some irrminent f ear of 

harm or physical injury, c orrect? 

A Not physical . 

Q And you ' d agree with me that, as i t concerns tha t 

allegation, that makes you angry, correct? 

A I t doesn't make me angry ; it make s me hurt . 

Q And I understand i t makes you hurt, but that has not h ing t o 
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do with your physical well-being as it concerns a ny f e ar of 

irmninent h a rm, correct? 

A I t has what t o do with the -- what it d oes to your ment al 

well being a s a woman, as a mother t o t he chi ldren, and t o 

a man that you love. It has t o d o with -- it's not 

physically harming me . It d oesn't physically h a rm by 

hitting me; it has everything t o d o with wh a t i s also 

important, which i s y our inside , o f who you are . I t 

contr ols y ou r fami ly relations hip . 

And what wa s mor e con cerning to me a bout it i s tha t 

Rigo used it as a tactic agains t me b e cause I wouldn ' t 

p leasure him. It was I wouldn't pleasu re h im s o h e u s e d 

anoth er woman to come a fter me . It was -- it was a tool. 

Q And tha t i s one of the reason s you s eek a pro t ection o r der 

here t oday then, correct? 

A I gue ss in a way . 

Q I would d irect your a t tention to Page Number 2 . I'm on 

Exhibit Numbe r 2. And if it' s easi er, Ms . Wagn er, I'm not 

t rying to stump you, but i t' s a l so a t Exhi bit 1 01, if it ' s 

easi er t o f lip to in t he b inder versu s the pages 

t h emsel ves . 

On Page Number 2 of the Pet i t ion and Affidavit for a 

Prote ction Order, you' d agree with me that you allege that 

my c lient possesses guns and weapons, correct ? 

A Yes , h e does . 
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Q And you then state when asked Was a weap on used in this 

incident, you say, Yes. A l aser . Correct? 

A In that speci f i c i n c ident. Wi th ther e being multiple . 

Q And you underst and that there is n o l aser on tha t AR-15 , 

correct? 

A I d o n ot. I was watching him instal l it. 

Q I f I represented to you that that was a Red Dot, do you 

understand the differ ence between a Red Dot and a laser? 

A What 's the differ enc e ? 

Q I'm asking you : Do you understand t h e d i fference? 
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A I do not. I don't know much about weapons . I d on ' t kn ow 

much about light laser s, red dots. If a red dot is on you, 

h ow woul d you f eel? 

Q Ma 'am, this isn't your time to ask me quest i ons . 

A I 'm not asking you --

COURT REPORTER: Um 

A -- I'm jus t saying, h ow d oes that make somebody feel? 

Q You then were asked, Has Re sponde nt thre atened a n yone with 

a weapon ? You checke d t he box Yes , correct? 

A Yes . 

Q My c lient never actu all y threaten ed you with a weapon, 

correct? 

A I felt threate ned by t his laser . And I felt t hreat ened on 

J anua r y -- or on De cember 3 0th by the demeanor of h i s b ody 

lan guage . 
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Q And the demeanor o f h i s body l anguage was s omethi ng you 

subjectively interpreted, correct? 

A Yes . I t was a feeling . I t was his emoti ons . 

Q And you never called law enfo r c ement on tha t event either, 

did you? 

A I did not . I calle d my fathe r . 

Q And your f ath er' s not a law enforcement officer, thoug h , 

correct? 

A He i s not . And he d id want t o cal l t hem. I d i d n ot want 

to scare my children . I didn ' t know -- I didn ' t know what 

to do. 

Q You'd a gree with me on any numbe r of t hese all eged e vents, 

you could have grabbe d the children and lef t i f you truly 

felt f ear , correct? 

A I did . I d i d leave multiple times throughout t he las t ten 

years . 

Q But a s i t concerns specifical l y t he a lleged i n c i denc e on 

January 30th, you didn ' t take t h e chil d r en and l e av e and 

see k refuge then , c orrect? 

A The children -- I seeked r e f u g e f o r the child r en . I sta yed 

at h ome becau se I h ad n i ne puppi es a l so to take care of . 

Q On Page 2 it says , Provide a detai l e d d escription of o ther 

similar incidents or actions that Respondent has commit t ed 

and r e asons you believe i t wi ll continue. 

You say Please see at t ached documents, corr ect? 
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A Ye s . 

Q And then you s tate, Check his r ap s h eet . I know he has 

prior simple assault on a woman involving alcohol . 

Correc t? 

A Correct . 

Q You know that n o t to be true , correct? 

A I don' t . I' ve seen h i s rap sheet an d t h e paperwork l S at 

my h ou se . 

Q And you ' re not offe ring that as any evidenc e t oday , 

correct? 

A I' m n o t s u re . It was g i ven 

Q Th a t wa s n't on e o f t he exhi b its you just --

A I t ' s n ot . I t ' s n ot one of the exhibits i n h e r e , but i t 

i s -- yes , I h a ve -- I d i d pri nt i t . I t ' s $20 . And i t ' s a 

public i n forma t ion for 2 0 bucks; you c a n pu r chase i t . I 

h ave a copy of it . 

Q How d o y ou know it was an alleged i ncident on a female? 

A Because it states tha t s he was a fema l e . Sh e was a 

bartender at the Sal oon 10 and she denied him alcohol . And 

h e went behind the bar, too k the bott le, and got i nto i t 

with her as well as the gu ard . I was not there duri ng t his 

incident ; it was just 1-'Jhat I r ead . 

Q And you understand t hat that has noth i ng t o d o wi th you r or 

your c h i l dre n ' s fear of i mminent physical injury o r harm, 

correct? 
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firs t . 
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Q I direct your attenti on to the Summary of I n c idents, which 

i s inc l u d ed wi t hin the Peti t i on an d Affidavi t for a 

Protection Order . You' d agree wit h me you d i d not type 

this Summa r y o f I ncidents , correct? 

A Di d I type i t? 

Q You'd agree with me y ou d i d not t ype t h i s , correct? 

A I did . I typed it wit h -- I spoke i t as Mr . Georg e Nelson 

wrote it . But i t ' s my words ; I said i t . 

Q You'd agree with me t h ere ' s i nconsi stenci es wit h in these 

a lleged summa r i es, correct ? 

A I d o not . 

Q Oka y . You ' d agree wi th me that you affi rmed under oath 

that these allegations wer e cor rect a nd tru thfu l , correct? 

A Yes . 

Q As it concer ns t h e al l eged inc ident with the AR-15 on o r 

about December 30th of 2023 , you ' d agr ee with me my c lient 

only has one AR- 15 , correct? 

A Ye s . That I'm aware of . 

Q You ' d agree with me that you did n ot see my c l ient leave 

with the AR- 15 durin g t h a t alleged incident, correct? 

A I didn ' t see h i m leave , other than a video of him, of t he 

back s i d e of him. I didn ' t see anything in h i s hands . 

Q So it ' s you r testimony that my c l ient allegedly had t aken 
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the AR-15 out o f the gun safe whil e h e was i n the gun safe 

room, corr ect? 

A Yes . 

Q But tha t he never actual ly l eft with t h e AR- 15 , correct ? 

A I can't say that he d i dn't leave with it. I when I went 

back downstai rs, I was l ocke d out of t he gun safe . I was 

n o longer able to open the gun safe. And at thi s t i me I 

spoke my f ear t o his sister . 

Q Well , if y ou turn to Exhibit Number 8 , you 'd agree with me 

t hat t hose gun cases a re quite l arge, correct? 

A Yes . Ther e's multiple ther e. 

Q And it's f ai r to say that if you watched a Rin g v i deo of my 

c lien t l e ave , you' d b e able to s ee him carrying tha t gun 

safe, correct? Strike that . Tha t gun case, correct ? 

A The c ase, n ot the gun. The gun is l ong and ski nny . You 

can e asily put it in front o f your c hest and walk outside 

of t he h ouse . 

Q But you didn 't see that happen, correct? 

A I did not . 

Q As it concerns the n ext i n c i d ent on or about January 8th of 

2 024 , you' d agree with me it states that on J anu a r y 8 , 

2024 , Rigo locked h imself in a bedroom f or three 

conse cutive days . Correct ? 

A Correct . 

Q So t h at wou ld mean that would be January 8th, January 9th, 
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and January 10th of 2024, correct ? 

A No . It was t h e weekend . I believe it was -- Fri day woul d 

h a ve been the 6t h , 7th, 8th, 9th . I thi nk the 8th is a 

Monday, the 9th i s a Tu esday. So i t woul d be t he Fri day 

through t h a t Monda y . 

Q .And it ' s you r t e sti mony that on January 8 , 2024, Ri go was 

sti ll locked in the bedroom an d did not l eave, correct ? 

A He did l eave wi th his par ents a fter I notified them for 

help . 

Q Did you ever call l aw enforcement as i t c on c e r ns your 

con cern with Rigo bein g a llegedl y l ocked in t he bedroom? 

A I d id not. I thou ght t hat it was in our best interests t o 

call his parents fi r st as we l l as h is siste r. 

Q So you' d agree wi t h me you d i dn ' t have any actual fear of 

harm with yourself o r the children, correct? 

A I do not agre e wi t h you . 

Q So if you would have had fear , though, why d i dn ' t y ou cal l 

l aw enforcement? 

A I calle d his parents i n f e ar fo r himse lf . Himself . I 

calle d his parents scared f o r him. 

Q .And the fear, though, was f o r Rigo ' s s afety , n o t your 

safety or the children ' s safe t y , cor rect? 

A Throu gh out the yea rs , Rig o make s me f eel t h at he woul d hurt 

me firs t and then h e would l e t himsel f g o . 

Q But he didn ' t make any threats on or about Fe b rua r y --
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threat s agains t you or the chil dren, corre c t? 
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A He didn't ma ke any t h r eats, no, except f o r t o himse l f . But 

due to the p rior i ncidents that oc cu r red o ver t i me , i t 

make s y ou f eel that wa y wh en s omethi ng -- wh en a nother 

s i tuati on occurs l ike thi s , y ou put i n everyth i ng tha t h as 

happened up to that inci dent . Up t o t hat i n c ident I was 

a lready scared f or my lif e . At t his p oint I ' m scared f o r 

him and t hen mine . 

Q You ' d a gree wi th me that you a l l ege t hat my c l i ent y e lls o r 

ye lled over t he year s, correct ? 

A Yes . 

Q You ' d a g r ee wi th me tha t y ou h a d y e l led a t my c l i ent over 

the year s , c orrec t? 

A Yes . 

Q You ' d agree wi t h me that you ' ve yel led at the ch i l d r en over 

the years , c orrec t? 

A Yes . 

Q As it concerns t h e inci dent on o r about Janu a r y 1 4th of 

2 024 , you n ever actu all y saw my cli en t have a f i rearm as i t 

conc erns tha t alleged i n c i dence, correct ? 

A On which date was that ? 

Q J anua r y 1 4th of 2024 . 

A I did n ot see t h e f i rearm. I j u s t seen tha t -- i f you see 
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Rigo ' s t r uck, it i s a l l b l acked out and t i nted . You cannot 

see inside t h e vehicle . The l aser was coming t hrough t he 

front window, whi ch you cannot see i n . 

Q And a t tha t t i me you n ever called law enf o r cement, correct ? 

A I did not. 

Q And you underst a nd Ri go or the boys h ave l ase r p o i nters , 

correct? 

A My children do not . 

Q You unde rstand that the r e has been h istoric ally a h a ndheld 

laser pointer i n t he r esi dence, correct? 

A Befor e this i nci dent, no . The very next day aft er thi s 

inc ident, a f t e r s peakin g t o my p arent s and my 

grandparents -- I spoke to my dad about it i rrme d iat ely 

a fter ; with my gran dma the very n ext morni ng, whi c h also 

everybody -- my f amily app roached Ri go a bout these 

i nci dent s a nd, magically, thi s laser poi n t e r appeared in my 

kitchen that I' ve never seen before until after the matt e r . 

Q You testi f ied earlier that the h ouse on any number o f 

oc c asions is frequently in disarray, c orre ct? 

A Ri ght now it i s , yes . 

Q And i t ' s histor i cally been, correct , over the years? 

A No . 

Q So it ' s y ou r t e stimony t hat the h ouse is a l ways p icked up 

and t i d y ? 

A I ' m a mom o f boys . It ' s n ot perfec t . 

C 068 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q You'd agree with me there 's -­

A Yes . 

Q You agree there's --
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A Yes. Dirty -- yes, from -- you h ave dirty laundry that you 

have to do. There's also d ishes . But t hat's a 

responsibility for both parents to take care of. 

Q You 'd agree with me there i s an y number of toys i n the 

h ouse, correct? 

A Yes . My children have toys. 

Q So is it your testimony that you know where each and every 

one of the toys is i n the house? 

A Not all the time, no. 

Q You had testified that as it conce rns the incidence on o r 

about J a nuary 14 , 2024 , that you felt scared, correct? 

A Yes . 

Q But you'd agree with me that you allowe d the children t o go 

with my c lient, Rigo Tovar, correct? 

A I d i d . I a llowed the children to go because I d i d not know 

what to do . I was frozen . I t's har d to call a law officer 

and say something but not really know what ' s happeni ng . 

\!'Jhen something i s not -- when you're j ust scared and you 

don 't know what t o do , you ' re f rozen . 

Q Ma ' am, that wasn ' t my question . I ' m asking you answer the 

quest i on i nstead of asking . You continue t o 

provide information 
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THE COURT: I don't need your commentary, Mr. Nooney . J ust 

ask your questions and if y ou have an obj ection, you can 

object to her answer. 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) As it concerns the alleged incidence on 

February 9 , 2024, you h ad stated, I believe, the n i ght 

prio r -- would that be February 8th of 2 024 ? 

A Yes. 

Q And you had testified there was n i ne puppi es and two d ogs 

in the house, corre ct? 

A Yes . 

Q And you had testified something t o t he f act t hat the house 

wasn't in a good condition. It wasn't healthy for the 

chil dren, cor rect ? 

A Yes . 

Q You 'd agree with me : Those two d ogs are your d ogs , 

corre ct? 

A They a re our d ogs . 

Q You'd agree wi th me tha t the puppies were your puppi es, 

correct? 

A They are ou r femal e ' s . Ours . Fema le puppy. They are our 

fami l y d og . 

Q So it ' s you r testimon y that my c l ient has the r i ght t o seek 

one o f or both of those dogs ? 

A \l'Jhat d o you mean by that? 

Q If my c lie nt initiated a separate action, he h as p roperty 
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rights as it concerns one o r bot h o f those dogs, correct? 

A If he wants to . I onl y have one dog left and all the nine 

puppi es a r e gone . 

Q You 'd agree wi t h me t h a t you p r eviou sly a lleged that my 

client poisoned one or multiple puppies, correct? 

A I sta ted that the vet did a toxi col ogy to make sure that 

they were n ot poi son ed . And, yes, I d i d ask Ri go i n a text 

message if h e would have done s omethi n g t o t he puppi es 

because of the act ions that were occurring . I didn ' t 

accuse; I asked . I asked if he hurt the dogs . I asked him 

if he kic ked t he dog because that' s what I believe 

h appen e d. 

Q And if you l ook at Exhibit Numbe r 3 , nowhere within 

Exhib i t 3 i s t h ere an y langu age as i t concerns the cause of 

the issues with the puppies, correct ? 

A No . It just shows wha t t h e vet did . It shows that the dog 

had t o stay in their care for three days . 

Q You ' d agree wi t h me those puppi es d i d not o r were not in a 

great condition, correct ? 

A They were in a great condition until that night . 

Q So it ' s your testimony that t he puppies were in a clean and 

sanitary area? 

A Yes . 

Do I agr ee with the location of where they were? No . 

I wanted the puppies t o be in the gar age because for the 
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b e s t i nterest s o f my fami l y and t he puppi es, i t was better 

for them to be in the garage . Rigo would not allow t he 

puppi es to be out there, that I put them in a kennel in our 

bat h r oom. But they were c l ean . Every thr ee hours t hose 

puppies were f ed, c l e aned, and t aken car e of by mysel f and 

my dad. 

Q I would direct you r atten tion to Exh ibi t Number 111, 

p l ease . 

A Do I have it? 

Q I t will be i n the premarked binder . 

And i f you woul d , please, take a moment t o review 

Exhib it Number 111. 

A Yes . This is the puppies using the bathroom after -- you 

can see that I open ed up the gate to let them out wi thin 

that three hours . That this is n orma l f or a d og ' s kennel . 

That you t a ke t h em out every three hours , you c l e an them, 

you pick up their feces . This would not have been the case 

if they were a llowed t o be i n a garage, where it was 

b e tte r . In the wint er I would have at -- I would h ave 

taken them outside . I do n ot agree wi th whe r e they wer e . 

This was a forced matter . 

Q You ' d agree with me tha t the variou s phot ographs in 

Exhibit 111 are fai r and accurate photogr a phs that depi c t 

the a r e a that the puppies h ad b een in t h roughout the home , 

correct? 
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A This was from the o l der dog that came i n and t here was 

garbage at our front door aft er begging Rigo f o r multiple 

days to help me get ou r Christmas g i fts . These are 

Christmas boxes that were at our front door tha t h e s t a t ed 

for multiple days that he woul d take out t o t h e dump . 

The s e were at my f ront door . Afte r t h ree days later, the 

dogs ate the boxes. 

Q We 'll go throug h them individually . I under stand what 

you ' ve t e stified t o as it concerns Tovar 0196 . 

I f you ' d f lip to the p r evious page , please, Tovar 177 , 

you agree with me that that is a photo of feces and urine 

o r o ther bodily fluids from either t h e puppies or the dogs 

inside the r e siden ce, cor rect? 

A Yes . Tha t's 

Q And that's a fair and accur ate phot ograph, correc t? 

A This i s a f ai r and accur ate that is r e s ponsib l e for b oth 

parties . 

Q You'd agree wi th me my c l ient never e l ected t o have 

puppies , correct? 

A I d i dn 't e ither . 

Q I' d d irect your attenti on to Tovar 01 97 and 0198 . 

You ' d agree with me that Tovar 01 97 and Tovar 0198 

depict feces on the c a r p e t in the residence, correct? 

A Wai t . What -- wh e r e are we a t? 

THE COURT: Can you h o ld on for just a moment . 
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You said Tovar what? 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I ' m referring t o t he Bates, the 

just in the bottom r ight. So Tovar 01 97 and Tovar 0198 

s till within Exhibit 111 . 

THE COURT: Very well. Thank you. 
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A The s e -- this i s a p i c ture of me lett i ng the d ogs out an d 

they ate food and they picked it up . I n your p ictures , i t 

will show in 198 of my carpet cleaner bei ng right there and 

I c leane d up the matter immediately. 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) But you ' d agree with me those are f air and 

accur a te photographs, correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And then Tova r 01 99, s til l within Exhi b i t 111 , you ' d agree 

with me this would be a fair an d accu rate pho t ogr aph of the 

puppies f ood and them essentially i n a makeshift kennel or 

crate , correct? 

A Yes . I pu t t h em in there becau se i t was winter . I t was 

40 degrees bel ow outside . Ri go wou l d not a l low me to put 

them in our garage so , yes , t his i s t he next best option I 

h ad for the best int erests of these puppi es, tryi ng to keep 

them a live . 

Q So you ' d agree with me , t hough, the puppies were not in a 

great --

A No , they were in a --

Q Ma ' am, i f you would p l ease let me fini sh . 

C 074 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

2 0 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A Sorry . 

Q That t hey were n ot i n a great a r ea or s urroundi ngs or 

environment, c orre c t ? 

A Yes . I agr ee t hat thi s was not the best for the puppi e s . 

7 5 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I ' d offer Exhibit Number 111 i nto 

e vidence . 

MR. NELSON: No objec t i on. 

THE COURT: Exhib i t 111 is r ece i ved . 

Let ' s t a ke a -- h old on for just a moment , Mr . Nooney . 

Okay . Go ahead . 

MR. NOONEY: .And, Your Honor, i f we need t o t ake a b reak, I 

sure l y do n ot mind . 

THE COURT: I guess I anticipate t h i s is goi ng t o go f or a 

l i ttle while yet . ¼'hy don ' t we t a ke just a 5- minute recess 

and we ' ll c ontinue on with c r oss- examinati on of Ms . Wagner . 

MR. NOONEY: Thank you , Your Honor . 

(Recess taken from 2 : 39 p .m. to 2 : 45 p .m. ) 

THE COURT: Mr . Nooney , you may continue . 

MR. NOONEY: Than k you, Your Honor . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ms . Wagner, you ' d agree wi th me that you 

p r evi ous l y testi f i ed that t he puppi es and the dogs wer e 

you r responsibilit y and you r f a t her ' s responsibility, 

correct? 

A They were a l so Rigo ' s responsibility and he refused to 

help . 
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Q You 'd agree with me that you testi f ied t hat either your dad 

or yourself would take care of the puppies every three 

hours, correct? 

A Correct. l'\s well as l eaving work to do so . 

Q l'\s it concerns the all eged incident on May 22nd o f 2024 , 

you r ecall that t e stimon y , correct, regarding t he park? 

And i s that Wilderness Park? 

A That sound s familiar, but, like I said, I don 't remember 

the name of the park . I can just expla in t he location, 

t hat it ' s about a mile and a half south of the school. 

Q And you had testified previou s l y tha t bot h Isaiah and Teyo 

were angry, correct? 

A Teyo not so mu ch. Isai ah was mor e angry than Teyo was . 

Q But earlier you t estif i e d that the k i ds were angry, 

correct? 

A Yes, I did . 

Q I' d d i rect your attenti on to Exhibit 112 . Do you recognize 

Exhibit 112? And I'll j u st represent to you that g iven 

there ' s minor children , face s -- or ot her individuals t hat 

you can see in c l ose proximity, the faces have been 

redacted . 

A Uh- huh . 

Q But you ' d agree with me that you were present at the 

May 22 , 2024 , b i ke rall y , correct? 

A I was p r esent but n ot at thi s spot. I was present a t the 
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parking lot, whi ch i s ab ou t a quart e r o f a mil e back , which 

is wher e i t starts, and t h at ' s where t h e p a r k is at . This 

i s n o t the p ark . 

Q You 'd agr ee wi t h me t h a t y ou we r e present prior t o the 

actual bike r a lly , cor rec t ? 

A Corre c t. 

Q And you tes ti f ied agai n that t h e kids were upset, c o rrect? 

A Yes . Th at' s why me an d I s a i ah s t a yed b e h i nd and Teyo lef t 

with h i s f r iends . 

Q You ' d agr ee wi t h me t h at Exhib i t 112 i s a f a ir and a ccura t e 

ph o t ograph, which depi c t s Teyo on t h e right - hand c o r ner of 

the ph ot ogra ph, cor rect ? 

A I wou l d agree t h at Teyo seems l ike he ' s happy that he i s 

wi th his fr i e nds . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I ' d o f fer Exh i bit Number 112 i nto 

e v i d ence . 

MR. NELSON: No obj ecti on . 

THE COURT: 112 i s received. 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) And , Ms . Wagner, you a lrea dy answe r e d my 

quest i on , bu t you ' d agree wi t h me that thi s photogr aph 

depi cts t hat Teyo was n ot upset an d i n fact is happy, 

correct? 

A At this t i me . This is a different time . 

Q And you ' d agree wi t h me t h a t i t was my c lient , Ri go Tovar , 

t h at b i ked wi t h Teyo t o sch ool , c orrect ? 
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A I would agree that Rigo foll owed the child ren t o ride t o 

school and I did not; I stayed at the park with Isaiah that 

was upset. 

Q And it' s fa i r to say tha t when my client t ook this 

photograph when he was with Teyo , he was , i n fact, h a ppy, 

c orre ct? 

A I f Rigo was the one that took that pictu re, yes . 

Q It d oesn 't look like Te y o is scared by a ny means, correct? 

A No. I t looks like he ' s happy wi t h his fri ends . 

Q And l et ' s l ook past t he alleged incident that actually 

occurred at the par k or on the way t o school on May 22nd of 

2 014 -- 2 024 , excuse me . You'd agree with me t hat tha t 

night both I saiah and Te yo had a baseball p r actice, 

correct? 

A On which n i ght? 

Q On May 22nd o f 2024 . 

A On May 22nd was t h e night that this was f i led? I woul d 

h a ve t o go back t o the cal endar. Ther e ' s been l ots of 

practices, lots of baseball games . I can 't t est i f y tha t 

the r e was a game that night on this day . 

Q And, Ms . Wagn e r, I'm n ot try ing to trick you . I'm just 

trying to get a t imel i n e for the Court . 

You would agree wit h me that there would have been a 

baseball practice sometime after the a lleged incident on 

May 22nd of 2024 that my cli en t woul d have been p resent at , 
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A They ' r e 

spor t s . 
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yes . They wer e in baseball , yes . They' r e i n 

Q And you'd agree my cli ent showed up to a baseball p ract i ce 

after t his alleged i ncident on May 22nd of 2024 and stood 

approximate ly 10 f eet f r om you, c or rect? 

A I -- again, I don't know what day this i s so I can ' t agree 

to anything without looking at a cal endar . I know that 

Rigo showed up t o basebal l , but in t he last t en years Rigo 

was not p r e s ent during -- during acti vi t ies unt i l April of 

this year that Rigo s t arted being present . 

Q Him n ot being present at things like baseball pract ice, 

that has nothing t o do with your allegation --

A Well , I'm jus t --

Q -- as it c oncerns irmninent fear or harm, bodi l y i n j u r y , 

from my c lient to you or the kids , corre c t ? 

A Correc t . I mean , he was j ust s tandi ng there a t a game . 

I believe that i t ' s f ear from the actions of what ha s 

oc curred over the last t en years that t he children wouldn ' t 

even acknowl edge that their dad wa s t her e . They wer e 

for ced to s a y "hi " t o h im and t hey would leave . So with 

what I saw from my ch i l dren, t hey weren't concerned that 

their dad was t here . 

Q You had testi f i ed, I beli eve, that there was an audi o 

recor ding or a video of t he all eged i nci dent on May 22 , 
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2 024 , c orr e ct? 

A Yes . On my cell phone . 

Q And do y ou have -- you r couns e l h a sn ' t o f fered t h a t a s 

e viden ce t od ay, correct? 

80 

A I did not see it . I t ' s a rea lly long vid eo t hat y ou cannot 

email. It i s on my phon e , wh i ch i s p r e s ent her e , i f you ' d 

l i ke to see i t . 

Q You h a d al l eged tha t my c lient , quot e , I b e l i e ve , c harg ed 

you, cor r e ct? 

A Yes . 

Q And t h a t h e , quot e , acted i n a phy s i c a l menaci ng manner, 

correct ? 

A Yes , h e d i d . 

Q You' d a g r ee wi t h me you d i dn ' t call law e nfor c emen t a s it 

con cerns that alleg ed incident , correct? 

A I d i d n ot . I calle d my dad . 

Q And you r dad, a g a in, is n ot a l aw en forcement offi cer, 

c orrect? 

A Correct . 

Q And you ' d agree wi t h me i f you , in f a c t , trul y did bel i eve 

the r e was some imminent ph ysi cal harm -- or r isk of 

ph ysica l h arm or i n jury, you, in f act, woul d h ave called 

law enforcement , correct ? 

MR. NELSON: Objecti on . 

THE COURT: Sustain ed. I t ' s a r gumen tat ive . 
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Q (BY MR. NOONEY) You the n go on t o s t a t e r e quest s f o r 

p rot ection order, c o rrect? 

A Yes . 

Q You s t a t e tha t thi s p rot ecti on order i s impera t i ve , 

corr e c t? 

A What doe s that me an? 

Q Ma 'am, I ' m r ead i ng your writi ng . I f you would, could you 

p l ease tur n to Exh ibit 102 . I ' m readi n g what you h ave 

a l l e g e d under oath wit hin the p e t i t ion . 

A Yes . I ' m r ead ing t h at I f iled fo r a protecti on order . 

Tha t' s -- are you g o i n g b ack t o t his? 

THE COURT: I think y ou sai d 102 . Are y ou t alking a b out 

Exhib it 2? 

THE WI'INESS: Yeah . 

THE COURT: And your Exhib i t 101? 

MR. NOONEY: Yes , You r Hon or . It was a misstatement . 

A Okay. Yes . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Sorry . Ms . Wagn e r, I 'm not t r yin g t o 

confus e you . That was a missta t ement on my part . 

So Exhi b i t 101 . And I ' m on the l a s t page befor e you 

can see i t says , Respectfully submitted. 

A Uh- huh . 

Q You ' d agree that you alleg e this prot ection order is 

i mpe r a tive, corre ct? 
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A Yes . I did i t on tha t day . The day that this -- the park 
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incident occurred, I went str a i ght t o Geor ge ' s offi ce . He 

was busy and I n otified him right away of what the acti on 

should be taken . I d i dn ' t know what to do s o I we nt to 

lega l guidance, to my attorney . 

Q And, ma ' am, j ust s o the record i s c l ear, I d on 't want to 

know anything that you talke d with your counsel a bout . 

You'd agree wi t h me general l y as it concerns you r and 

Mr. Tovar ' s relationship over a t en-year period o r a litt l e 

over t en years, correct? 

I s that f air i t ' s been roughly ten years ? 

A It' s been roughly ten year s , yeah. I agree t hat ther e ' s 

been t e n years of 

Q Woul d you agre e that at t imes t h e r e ' s been high conflic t 

wi t hin the relati onship? 

A A lot more than what normal should h a ppen . 

Q You' d agree with me that you made an allegation a bout my 

c lient punching a door , correct? 

A Correct . 

Q And you ' d agr ee with me that happened actually p rior to t h e 

children ever being born, corre ct? 

A No . My newborn son was in the h ouse i n the bedr oom during 

this incident . 

Q You ' d agree with me that you have punched o r kicke d holes 

i n an y numbe r of doors of t h e r e sidence , corre ct? 

A I did . Just previously this year Ri go pushed me on t he 
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floor, and my reacti on to bei ng pushed on the ground was t o 

get up and I walked upstairs to a private room a nd punched 

my door . 

Q And you put a hole i n the door, correct? 

A I put a dent in the d oor . There's not a hole; i t' s a dent . 

Q You had made an all egation when my client showe d up with 

law enforcement after the inc i dent that occurr ed a t school 

on o r about April 30, 2024, correct? 

A I did what? 

Q You ' d provided an exhibit, Exhibit 4 -­

A Yes . 

Q -- regarding the h ead injury and you testified as concerns 

that ; is that correct? 

A Yes . 

Q Excuse me. 

You' d agree with me that my c lient showed up with l aw 

enforcement to essenti al l y have his parenting time t hat you 

h ad continued to refuse him after any number o f occasi ons, 

correct? 

A I' ve n ever refused parenting time wit h Rigo the l ast few 

mon t h s . I expl a ined t o Rigo that i t was i n the best 

interests of Isaiah t o stay h ome with his mom tha t has 

fully cared for him fo r the last ten years . Ri go has n e ve r 

proceeded to take care of these children when they were 

s i ck, ill, hurt . I t was always me . 
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Q You'd agree, again, that that's in the best interests of 

the children, which is in -- for the Court t o consi der in 

the custody matter, n ot a protecti on order matter as it 

concerns any a lleged fear of imminent harm or physical 

injury, correct? 

A I belie ve the Court should look at it as that he d i dn 't 

care about the well being of his child. 
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Q You'd agree with me that my c lient talked t o Isaiah when he 

came to the house , cor rect ? 

A I invited the offi cer and Rigo i nto the home after 

proceeding to tell the officer I was concer ned that Rigo 

doesn't care about what was going on with his child. I 

offer ed the office r to come insi de to check on the wel l 

being of the child and with h im he could bring Rigo with 

him. Rigo went upstairs, never asked hi m how he was, bu t 

just proceeded to s ay that you needed t o go with me . 

I saiah was scared and thought t he officer was goi ng to 

arrest me if I didn't go with h im -- or if I saiah d i dn 't go 

with him. 

Q And you don ' t know what Rigo had t a lked with I saiah about , 

though, cor rect? 

A I did . I was s t anding r ight there in the room and so was 

the officer . 

Q You don ' t know what I saiah was thinking , though, correct? 

A I could see his body l angu age that he was cocoon i ng and 

C 084 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

2 0 

21 

2 2 

2 3 

24 

2 5 

85 

scared and pushing himsel f away from his dad. 

Q You 'd agree with me that he t old Ri go and/or the officer 

that he wanted to go with Rigo and t hat he was feeling 

okay, correct? 

A I do not agr ee with that. Isaiah said t hat he wou l d go 

with them out of f ear, afte r asking t he offi cer if the 

officer was going to a r rest me if he didn't come . 

Q You had testi f ied as i t concerns s ome allegations about my 

client a llegedly hitti ng Isaiah, c or rect? 

A Yes. 

Q You never called l aw enforcement at t hat a l leged i nci dent, 

correct? 

A During t hese time s I was n ot aware of -- when -- l et me 

restate that. Vllhen they were l i ttle, and I witnessed the 

one and only time that he h i t Isaiah with a belt , I did not 

call law enforcement. I proceeded to t ell Rigo and family 

members this was not how we were going to discipli ne our 

children. 

I n t he future, as t ime went on, I -- t he kids 

e xpress ed their fear t o my parents . They see t ha t thei r 

mom goes to their dad fo r help and they seek help f r om my 

dad too . The children went t o the child advocacy building 

and was questioned by them, and that's where a lot of t his 

s tuff came out was with the chil dren and the child advocacy 

building . 
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Q And you wer en't p r esent during any of t hose a l l eged 

c onver sations , correct? 

A I was n ot pre s ent during any of t h os e thi ngs . 

Q And you h ad sta ted the k i d s c ome to you r p a rent s . You 

don ' t know what t h ose d i s cussions are because you we r e n 't 

pre s en t, c o rrect? 

A Correct . 

Q You h ave a l leged wi t h i n -- I' m on Exh i b i t Number 1 01. 

You ' ve a lleg ed that you have called l aw enf o r cement 

previou s l y , corr ect? 

A Ye s . I h ave c a lle d law enf o r c ement . 
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Q And within the p r o t ect ion order, y ou h a v e aske d the Court 

t o a llow supervi sed visitation at Uni ted Famil ies, cor rect ? 

A I d i d . 

Q Do you und e r stand the p o l i c ies at Un i ted Famil ies a s i t 

c once rns wh a t they wi l l and will n ot a llow super vise d 

v i s ita tion for , meaning the facts s u r r oundi ng it ? 

A I do n ot . I'm rea lly n ew t o a ll of t h i s whole cour t s t u f f . 

I don ' t know all of i t, no . 

Q I f I r epresent ed t o you t h a t in the event t her e i s an 

a llegation of a weapon being i n volved wi th a prot ecti on 

order and Unit ed Famil ies not a l lowi ng superv ised 

visitation, do you have any reason to d i sagree with that? 

A To d i sagr ee wh y they ' re not allowing them? I ' m confused by 

you r question . 
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Q It wasn 't very well asked. 

I f I r epr esented to you that United Families had a 

polic y in plac e --

A Uh-huh. 

Q -- when ther e's a order f i led, if there 's an a l legation 

r egarding weapons , I represented t o you based on that 

allegati on Youth & Family Servi ces [s i c] wi ll refus e 

supervised vi s i tati on, do you have any reason t o d i sag ree 

with t hat? 

87 

A I do not d i s agree with t hat . I f t hat was t he c ase, I -- my 

concern i s why wa s thi s not brought f orward over a month 

ago, wher e if he was concer ned on actually s eeing the kids, 

the r e ' s l egal counse l t ha t he cou l d have r eached out to and 

tri ed t o actua lly s e e the ki ds on a d i fferent supervi s ed 

matter or -- I ' m n ot sure how that works, but i t ' s qui t e 

odd t o me that this i s the first t i me t hat I ' m heari ng t h i s 

over a month of him not seeing his children if he actually 

r e ally wanted t o see them. 

Q You ' d agree with me, t hough, prior t o t he prot ect ion order 

ma t ter , my c lien t had unsupervi sed vi s i tati on, correct? 

A Yes . 

Q And you underst and that given t her e is a court order, my 

client cannot see the minor chil dren , correct? 

A Yes . 

Q You had s t a t ed on Page 4 -- I ' m s t i l l on Exhibit 101 -- The 

C 087 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

2 2 

2 3 

24 

2 5 

88 

reasons for Petitioner and any Protected Parties need this 

or der i mmediate ly i s, quote, Due t o his irrationali ty and 

unpredictabl e behavi or. Co rrect? 

A Yeah. Yes . It was repeated consistentl y all the way up 

until the day before court. I t was odd that the day before 

h e was still b e ing aggressive and controlling a nd t ryi ng t o 

control a situation to affect my beh avior here. 

Q And you're r eferenc ing that Ma y 22, 2024 , alleged i ncident , 

correct? 

A I t hink he was tryi ng to scare me . I thi nk he was t rying 

to get me to come her e with fear of h i m, of fear o f what 

he -- the cont rol of what he could do to use law 

enforcement and t h e law against me . J ust l i ke he n ever -­

I'm referring to i f he wanted t o play thi s , the old court 

order that was previous, when I sep a r ated i n February, wh y 

did it take him over t wo months t o come s ee h is ki ds? I 

mean, it was a fear ; i t was a tacti c , a fear of control 

that was repeated . 

Q Just so the record i s c lear , you' re referring t o an o rder 

in 5 1CIV18 - 623, which is the pate rnity c i vil matt e r , 

correct? 

A Is t hat this is that in 101? Which one are you 

referring t o ? I ' m confused on what you ' re referri ng t o , 

what you' re referencing. 

Q I 'm asking the quest i on, ma ' am, as i t concer ns what you 
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c ourt o r der . 
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A Yeah . It was a court order back in 201 8 that was not 

f ollowed for many years . That , all of a sudden, was f orced 

upon me in April a f t e r him not even asking or t r y i ng t o see 

his ch i l d ren . Even whi le h i s son was i n the h ospi tal, he 

d i dn ' t s h ow up in February. 

Q But f o r the purposes of my question, you'd agree wi th me 

that i s in the paternity -­

A I am 

Q -- c i vil matter -­

A I --

Q -- n ot the p e nd i ng p r otection orde r matter, cor r ect? 

A Yeah . I agree they ' re two d i fferent t h i ngs . 

Q On the l ast page, Page 5 -- and I ' m still l ooking a t 

Exhib i t 1 01 , which is the Petit i on and Affidavit f or a 

Protection Order -- Ms . Wagner, you ' d agree with me that 

you a llege you will suffer , quote , Emotional and physi cal 

harm. Correct? 

A Correct . 

Q You ' d a gree with me that you h ad offered on an y number of 

occasions t o allow my c lient t o come see the k i ds prior to 

him filing the Veri fied Motion for Change of Cu s t ody, 

correct? 

A I n my care . I offered him to come to us t o see the 
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children t h a t wer e s i c k i n the home ; t hat he refused t o 

c ome see his children, which i s a l so a concern why -- why 

not come see your k i ds no matter where t h e y are? Who 

the y 're with? 
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Q I ' d direct your a t tention to Exhibit 1 03 . You ' d a g ree with 

me , Ms. Wag ner, Exhi b i t 103 is a fair a nd a ccurate copy of 

a text message screenshot between yourself and my cl i ent , 

Ri go Tovar, correct? 

A Yes . 

Q You ' d agr ee wi th me on or about March 21 , 2024 , a t 

appr oxi mat e l y 7 : 28 p . m., you had sent a text message to my 

c lient, which is -- I t hink it will be t h e gray t ext b ox, 

correct? 

A Yes . 

Q You ' d agree with me that this is a f a i r a nd a ccurat e copy 

of t h at t ext me ssage , correct ? 

A Yes . I wrote that . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Hon or , I woul d offe r Exh i b i t 103 i nto 

e vidence . 

MR. NELSON: No obj ection . 

THE COURT: 1 03 i s received . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ms . Wagn er, you ' d agree with me that , in 

essence , my cli ent was asking for time with t he children 

befor e you took the chi ldren to Florida , correct? 

A Yes . He was asking a t an unreasonable t ime of the day. He 
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had over a week, mult iple times. He was also supposed t o 

be on this flight . He asks at 8:00 o 'clock at n ight , whi ch 

i s not reasonable . 

Q You'd a g ree with me, though, that's a misstatement of the 

text message, correct? 

You'd agree with me 

A What do you mean? 

Q -- that he sent a text at 5:10 p . m., not 8 : 00 o ' clock, 

correct? 

A This says 7 : 28 p .m. 

Q If you look on the right-hand side next t o his text , which 

is in blue, you wou ld a gree with me it says 3-21-24 

5:10 p.m., correct? 

A Yes . I bel ieve it was late and I did not see the text 

until then. I f I went back, I could p r obabl y t ell you that 

I was at practice or something and did not see the text , 

which he could have been there too, but he wasn ' t . 

Q So you 'd agree with me , he, in fact, d i dn ' t ask f o r 

parenting time at 8 :00 o ' clock, he aske d for parent ing t ime 

at 5 :10 p . m. and you responded at 7 : 28 p .m., corre ct? 

A Yes . But why not days before o r n ot even get on the 

airplane with me? I t doesn 't make sense . 

Q You ' d agree with me that you go on to state, in part , 

You ' r e more t han welcome t o come to the h ouse while we get 

ready. Correct? 
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A Yes. I invited him over to spend t ime with the children. 

Q And you would agree wi th me then you state, You also have a 

plane ticket to come with . And you ' r e referri ng t o the 

fact that Rigo had a plane ticket to go to Florida , 

correct? 

A Yes . 

Q And i t 's your testimony, as you sit here today, tha t you 

a r e fearful of my client, yet you'd i nvi ted him over t o see 

the kids at your parents' house on March 21 , 2024 , correct? 

A I am feared of Isaiah -- or Rigo being alone. I believe 

I when my dad i s in the r oom, Rigo i s a different 

person . I believe that their relationship, he chooses t o 

b e somebody e lse . I n the best interests of the chi l dren 

that, no matter what , he i s their dad . No matter what , I 

think he should be a part o f their lives, but I thi nk he 

shoul d be doing it in the best interests in a heal thy, safe 

environment of the children. And I do -- I did i nvi te him 

over with s upervision o f my f ather. 

Q And that was, again, you dic tating that, correct? 

A Me saying that h e should come over and see his k i ds? Yes . 

Q And then you state when you offer for h im t o come to 

Florida, it ' s your testimon y that you're comfortable with 

him coming t o Flori d a on a vacation, but as you sit here 

t oday, you h ave fear that my client i s g oing to create o r 

has creat ed ph ysical harm in you and the chil dren, corr ect? 
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A I d on 't bel i eve tha t i n t hat -- t hat exact way , no . I 

believe t hat , a s I didn 't want h im t o c ome with a nd c l ear l y 

he wasn ' t corning with over that t ime , I wa s tryi ng to make 

a p o i n t tha t thi s is n ot a l ways -- i t ' s a poi n t of, despi t e 

my fear o f Rig o and the f e a r o f the c h i l d ren , i t ' s a l so 

that h e doesn ' t do what ' s in the b est i n t e r e sts o f the 

children, wh ich also c auses con cern for their well b e i ng . 

If h e 's n ot goi ng t o come see the ch i l d r e n when h e h as an 

opportuni t y to, what' s he h iding? What is t here on why 

c annot p e ople, oth er p e opl e , b e around? I f you ' re goi ng to 

come bec a u s e you're con cer n ed abou t y our chi l dren and b e i ng 

with y our children, wh y not be wi t h y ou r chil dren tha t ' s 

s up e r v i sed by oth er peopl e t o make t he envir onment s afe ? 

Q You would a g r ee wi th me tha t ' s your s ubj ecti ve s pecul at i on 

or b elief, c orrec t? 

A No t on l y -- n o t just mine , but yes . 

Q I would d irect you r a t tention to Exhi b i t 1 08 . You ' d agr ee 

wi t h me t h a t a f ter you fil ed thi s Peti t i on and Affi d avi t 

f or a Prot ect ion Ord er alleging d omest ic abuse , you posted 

on Sna p ch at or on you r Snapch at story a photogr aph of the 

h ou se, whic h i s depi c t ed in Exhibit 1 08 , cor rect? 

A I don ' t see a picture of my hou se on 1 08 . I see a text 

that I ' ve never seen before . Arn I in the wrong are a? 

Q Ma ' am, I believe i t i s t he n ext one . I believe you ' re on 

107 . 
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A Yes. This is a picture that I put on Snapchat to -- on my 

public privacy of j ust saying I ' m so thankful that I got my 

house back . V'Jhat ' s wrong with that? 

Q And you'd agree with me then you stated, Finally thank your 

Lordr f or doing the right thing and giving me and my kids 

our home back that was rightfully mine in the first place . 

Correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And this is a fair and accur ate screenshot of what you had 

posted on Snapchat of a photo you had taken and a t ext you 

had written, corr ect? 

A Yes. 

MR. NOONEY: You r Honor, I would offe r Exhibit 108 i nto 

evi dence . 

MR. NELSGl': No objection . 

THE COURT: 108 is received . 

Q (MR. NOONEY) Ms . Wagner , you' d agree wi th me that thi s 

protecti on or der a l lowed you t o get back into the home and 

remove my client f r om the home that you and him own 

t oge the r , correct? 

A I don' t agree i t was on purpose to remove Ri go . V'Jhat I 

agree with is tha t i t wa s a home which was in the best 

interests of the children . That we were homel ess . We were 

staying wi th my parents but we had nothing . V'Jhen we left 

there, we had n o c l othes ; we had n o toothbrushes ; we had no 
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p erson a l hygiene . We h adn 't -- we were str uggling 

fin anci a l ly; food . We had t o seek ref uge for h elp . I 

b e l ieve that i t ' s i n the b e st i n ter e sts of the chi l dre n t o 

be in thei r home wi th their thi ngs . I t ' s n o t about -- i t' s 

n ot about if Rig o h a s a home; i t' s about if t he c h i l dre n 

have a home . 

Q Understood . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , if I may h a v e just one moment t o 

review my not e s? 

THE COURT: Take you r time . 

MR. NOONEY: Th ank y ou. 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ms. Wa gn e r , I would direc t your a tten t i on 

t o Exh i b i t 110 . .And the r e ' s mu l tiple photographs so I' m 

g oing t o r e f er t o a Bate s s t amp . A Ba tes s t amp i s just 

what lawye r s use t o ma rk a specif ic document so I ' m on t he 

t hird p a g e o f Exhib it 110 . I n the bottom corne r i t wi l l 

say Tovar 0173 still within Exhibit Number 110 . Pl ease let 

me know wh e n you ' r e there . 

A Yes . 

Q Wou l d you agree wi th me t h a t Exhib i t 110 , Tovar 1 07 3 , wou l d 

be a fai r a nd accu rate depi cti on of my c lient ' s AR-1 5 as i t 

conc erns the alleged i n cident tha t you have provided the 

Court with on December 3 0 , 2 023? 

A Yes . I bel i eve t h a t t his i s one of them. Thi s i s the gun 

t h at was used on December 30th . Th is i s n o t the weapon 
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that was used on January 14th. 

Q And you'd agree with me , t o y ou r knowl edge, my c l ient onl y 

has one AR-15, whi ch i s depi cted in Tovar 0173, correct? 

A I can't a g ree with that. I don't know what Rigo has . 

Q You agree with me that he has the right t o lawful l y own 

guns, correct? 

MR. NELSON: Objecti on; asked for a legal c onclusion. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) You may answer, i f you know. 

A Yes. I believe people can bear firearms, but i t ' s 

concerning tha t he couldn't before. He was denied to 

purchase weapons so how can, all of a sudden, he can 

purchase weapons? 

Q I would di rect your attention, Ms. Wagner, t o Exhib i t 113 . 

You 'd agree with me that Exhibi t 113 woul d be a 

ph o t ograph that was taken as i t concerns a drawer i n t he 

residence and there ' s a l aser pointer towards the l eft - hand 

c orner, correct? 

A It looks like a bullet with a butt on . I can 't c onfirm that 

that ' s a laser . This is some thing thi s was a n ew i tem 

that was in the h ouse . I' ve n ever seen thi s pri or. 

Q Is it you r t estimon y that y ou know the contents of 

e ve rything in all the drawers in the residenc e i n t he 

h ou se? 

A Do I know e veryth i n g that ' s in the house? No . 
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This i s my d r awer. As you can see , my b r ot h e r tha t is 

pass ed away driver -- or his ID is t here so I do know some 

i tems . I know where thi s drawer is . Bu t thi s was not in 

t hat d rawer . As you can see, my brother t hat i s 

deceas ed -- h is s t u f f i s in this drawer . That was not 

the r e . That i s n ew. 

Q But you ' d agree wi th me that this is a fai r and accurat e 

ph o t ogr aph of that drawer i n the residence, correct ? 

A Yes . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I' d offer Exhib it 113 i n evidence . 

MR. NELSON: I don 't thi n k there ' s foundation as to -- I 

mean, I think this is a p i c ture; she's admit ted thi s is a 

picture of t h e drawer in the h ome, but as f a r a s this item, 

I don' t think s h e c an testi fy t o h ow that item -- she 

doesn 't recogni ze i t s o I objec t . 

THE WITNESS: Yeah. 

MR. NELSON: Lack of foundation . 

THE COURT: Ma ' am, do you recogn i ze t h i s drawer and what ' s 

i n it? 

THE WITNESS: I r ecognize the d rawer . I r ecognize some 

things i n the i tems , but n ot the item that he ' s 

specifically t alking about . I do recogni ze the other i tems 

but not that specific item. 

THE COURT: Everything e l se in there fairly and accuratel y 

depicts what ' s in that d r awer, as you r emember i t? 
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THE WITNESS : Yes . 

THE COURT: I will overru l e the obj ection, wi l l r eceive t he 

exhibit, and I understand her clarification of what ' s i n 

the photo. 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor, if I may approach, I ' m going t o 

mark as Exhibit 115. 

THE COURT: You may approach . 

MR. NOONEY: I apologi ze . I understand t he Court's a lready 

told me I don't need t o ask. It ' s just a habit . 

THE COURT: I know. 

Do you have copies fo r everyone? 

MR. NOONEY: Yes , Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Ver y good . 

MR. NOONEY: .And I'll mark the or i g i na l, Your Honor, as 

Exhibit 115. 

THE COURT: Sure . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ms . Wagner, I' d direct your a t t ention t o 

what is marked as Exhi b i t 115. Wou l d you agree wi t h me 

that thi s i s a s e r i e s of t ext messages, a screenshot, f r om 

February 9, 2024 until February 10, 2024? 

A I agree this i s text messages , ye s . 

Q .And would you agr e e wi th me that you sent a t ext message 

t o my cl i ent on Feb r uar y 10, 2024 , a t approxi ma t e l y 

10: 34 a .m., s t ating, you ' r e n o h e l p on anything . So 

t hat ' s wh y we mo ved out . Cor r ect? 
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A I did use those words, y e s . But i t' s not movi ng out -when 

you don ' t move out . I t ' s y ou left . Moving out consists of 

actuall y movi ng your property. I used t he words there as 

bei n g -- as bei ng u sed as somethi ng t hat wasn 't happened. 

I misused a word . Movi ng out is act uall y pac ki ng a nd 

moving . Leavi ng i s some thi ng d i fferent . 

Q Well , you ' d agree wi th me that p r ior to my c l ient f i l i ng 

t h e Ver ified Mot i on for Change of Custody on o r a bout 

Ma r ch 22 , 2024 , you had s ent a t ext on February 10, 2024 , 

sta t ing that my c l i ent was n o help and t hat ' s why you moved 

out, correct? 

MR. NELSON: I ' m g o i n g t o object t hat i t's argumen t a t i ve . 

A I d on ' t r e ally s e e wher e it says 

THE COURT: Overruled. Please an swer . 

A Yes . I stated that he was n o help wi t h a nythi ng . Thi s 

was -- the children were s i ck; the puppi e s wer e s i c k 

well , the puppy was hur t . We moved the puppies thi s day to 

my dad ' s h ouse . I d i dn ' t know there was a game . There 

wa s -- we were in mult iple diffe rent l e a gues so, y e s , I 

state t hat h e i s no help . That i s a true f act h e i s n o 

help to his children . 

Q But in tha t t ext you didn ' t s t a t e anythi ng a l l egin g that 

you move d out due t o my clien t ' s alleg e d e rratic or 

unpredi c t abl e b eh avi or, corre ct? 

A I don ' t think during tha t t ime tha t I had t o be so 
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explanatory. I think he knew exactl y why we ran i n fear. 

I think he knew exactl y what was g oing on . And h e knows 

that we ' re scared of him and he uses that as a tool, just 

as why he confronted my entire f amily to turn agai nst me . 

I t was a r e peated thing. He -- I d idn't u s e or exp lain 

a l o t o f these things because he ' s already aware o f them. 

Q You had stated about my client turni ng you against your 

famil y o r your fami ly a gainst you? 

A Yes --

Q Correct? 

A -- I did. 

Q You'd agree with me there were any number o f occasions 

wh e r e your fath er wou l d get in an argument with your mother 

and then seek ref uge at your and Mr. Tovar' s residen ce, 

correct? 

A No . My dad s eeked refuge at our home because o f mine and 

his fear , not becau se of arguments wi th h i m and my mother. 

My mother l ost her ch i l d and was a l one and scared because 

her child was devastat ingly taken from her . She was in a 

r eally hard t i me period . They weren ' t i n -- my parents 

were never arguing ; my parents were tryi ng to stand on 

their feet after losin g their chil d , and then in fear of me 

and Rigo . 

Q And, ma ' am, I' m not undermining your brother passing away; 

I feel sympathetic for you . I ' m just trying t o underst and 
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your s tatement. You' d a gree with me t h e r e was an occasi on 

where your -- wheth er it be y ou r dad just l eaving the 

hou se, but your dad came to y our residence and Mr . Tovar ' s 

r esidence, and that you r mom blamed my c lient f or a llowi ng 

that to happe n , correct? 

A My mom i s upse t that Rigo ' s acti ons was g e t t i ng i nto her 

marri age . That her husban d had to keep leaving her t o come 

s t ay i n the home because we were scar ed. She -- the y were 

n e ver f i ght ing between the t wo o f them; she was ups et t h at 

Rigo was getting in the middle of thei r mar r iage t h a t was 

making my dad so scared f o r h i s only ot h e r l iving c h i ld t o 

come seek refuge wit h u s f or ou r safet y . 

Q And t h at ' s j ust you r int erpretation, though, cor r ect? 

A Yeah . I mean, t h at ' s wh a t I seen an d what I fel t . 

MR. NOONEY: I have n othing f urt her at t his t ime, 

You r Honor, as it concerns cross- e xaminati on wi th 

Ms . Wagner . 

THE COURT: Redi rec t , Mr . Nel son? 

MR. NELSON: Thank you , Your Honor . 

J u s t a few quest i on s . 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Kylea --

A Yes . 

Q -- h ow many t imes did you l eave the r e s ide nce t hat you were 

coh abiting with Ri go? How many t imes have you fel t t he 
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1 02 

A I don ' t know the e xact nwnber, but t her e 's been a good 

handf ul o f times that I couldn ' t just get up and leave. My 

parents would have t o come either get me out of a l ocked 

b edroom and the chi l d r en ; the y would h ave t o come get u s 

because we were scared . There ' s a good h andful of t hose, 

but I can't tell you exactly how man y . 

Q Okay . At least the nwnbers -- a nwnber of them tha t you 

t esti f i ed to today? 

A Yes . 

Q And did -- was -- on the p i stol that Rigo has , is there a 

l ase r on the p isto l ? 

A Yes . 

Q Now the h ouse, again, i s a h ome tha t the two o f you own as 

joint t enants with right of survivor ship, corre c t ? 

A Yes . 

Q And t h e parties are in d i scu ssi on s on selling that house, 

correct? 

MR. NOONEY: Obj e ction; rel evanc e , You r Honor . 

THE COURT: Ove rrule d . 

A We are -- I ' m -- we are t rying to buy on e or the other out , 
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childr en . 

Q Okay. But 

A But, yes , the r e i s a ma t ter ther e . 
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Q All r ight. Again, t he purp ose of these p r oce edings i sn 't 

t o g a in some advantage over the h ouse , c orrect? 

A Correct . This has n othi n g t o do with t h e h ouse . 

Q Becau se y ou both a r e on t he t i t l e , t h e deed t o the h ome -­

A Yes . 

Q -- c orr ect? 

A Yes . 

Q And until there ' s a -- e ither a p e t i t ion act i on or a 

set t l emen t agreemen t b e t ween t h e par ties to t r ans fe r the 

a sset , y ou are n o t getti n g Ri go ' s s h are of the h ouse 

throu gh t hese p r oc e eding s , correct ? 

A Corre ct . 

MR. NOONEY: I'm j u st goi ng to ren ew my obj ecti on on 

i rrel evant . 

THE COURT: We ' ve been far a f ield a l l afternoon; we ' re j us t 

g o i ng to f i n i s h t his up . Overruled. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) All r i ght . The oth e r quest i on I had was 

if you look a t Exh ibit 101 , fi rst page . Excuse me, the 

first page aft er you r petition, I believe -- or after you r 

n a rrati ve . First col ored ph ot o . 

Again, wh a t is t h at a p i c ture of? 
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A This is a picture of the b l ood i n t h e bat h r oom from t he 

puppy. 

Q All right . And then if we ' d tum t o Exhi b i t 111 and the 

l as t photo of Exhibit 111. 

1 04 

When you r puppy was inju r ed, you took it t o the vet . 

The puppy was i n this kenne l e d are a? 

A Yes. 

Q All right. The puppy, was it vomit i n g ? I s that correct ? 

A He n e ve r -- I didn 't s ee h im v omit. Ther e was j ust blood. 

Q All right . 

A So it was -- the r e was blood and just a puppy l ayi ng t here . 

Q All right. And t o get into the kenneled area, i s there a 

gate ? 

A Correct . 

Q Is that close t o t he exit o f t he bat h r oom? 

A Yeah. Where t h e picture i s taken i s standi ng y ou can 

see t h e gate right wher e this picture i s taken . That gate 

h as to be ope n f o r s omebod y t o get i nto i t o r the puppi es 

to g e t out of it . 

Q So i s that the bottom r i ght corne r or top l e f t or -­

A The bottom, the bott om r i ght is t h e gate . 

Q All right . And so the blood was near the wal l by the vent? 

A Corre c t . It was d i r ect l y s t raight across whe r e you c ou ld 

see the v e n t up against that e ast wall of the house . 

Q All right . And so for a puppy t o be inj u red , s omeb ody 
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Overruled. 
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A Yes . Somebody would have t o go insi d e t he kennel for the 

puppy to get hu rt . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) J\nd I ' m cu r iou s , h ow does a person use the 

toile t then? 

A They don ' t . There is two other bathrooms i n t h i s house . 

Q Okay. 

A This bathroom wa s only u sed j u s t f or t h e puppies duri ng 

t h is t ime period, as we u s e d the othe r r e strooms . 

Q Now you ' ve been made aware of, appar en t ly, the first t ime 

about counseling, an effort by Rigo to rec e i ve counsel i ng; 

i s that a ccu r a t e ? 

A Today. What -- ask that again . 

Q Today is t h e f i rst you' ve heard of Ri go, Mr . Tovar, 

receiving counse ling ? 

A The f i rst t ime that I know that there was any counsel i ng 

was my child ren because he t ook t he children wi t h h i m t o 

have couns eling and the children told me . Th a t thi s was 

and I don ' t know exactly that date . 

Q All r i ght . 

A I know that it was just recen t . 

C 105 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

16 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q All right . .And a r e you happy about t hat? 

A Yes . I ' m happy that he ' s seeking counsel . 

Q Have you asked him t o do so in the past? 

1 06 

A Yes . Multip l e t imes I asked h i m t o do counsel by h i mself, 

that I woul d do counsel myself. I also asked if we cou ld 

do coup l e counse ling and h e would r e f u s e any type of hel p . 

MR. NELSON: All r i gh t . I have n o furth er questions . 

THE COURT: .Anything els e ? 

MR. NOONEY: Just very briefly, Your Honor . 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Just so t he record is c l ear, Ms . Wagner, 

you h ave -- your counsel has off ered and i t has been 

received Exhibit Number 6 , which is a photograph or a 

screen shot of a Smit h & Wesson pistol, correct? 

A Yes . I t was just s omething that I f ound that l ooks 

some t hing s i mi l ar to what h e has because I l i ke I stated 

before, I don ' t know weapons very well . I don ' t know i f 

t his is t h e e xact weapon , but t h is i s exactl y wha t i t looks 

like with a laser clipped t o the bottom of i t . 

Q .And as i t conce rns you r allegati on r e lated to the laser 

inc i den t on o r abou t J anu a r y 1 4t h of 2024 , again , you never 

saw my client actually point this gun i nto the house with 

the laser, correct? 

A I' m -- yes . I did n ot see the gun i t self . As I s t ated 

before, that his truck i s 100 percent blacked out . You 
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cannot see through the front o r the s i de windows o f his 

t ruck. This gun i s held e i ther in his pocket or inside t he 

truck at all t i mes so that ' s why I ' m assuming thi s was the 

gun. 

Q As it concerns the all egation r e g a rding the puppies, you 

would agree with me , you're not a med ical vet eri narian, 

c orrect? 

A No. That's why I took them t o the vet i mmedi atel y . 

Q .And you ' re not e ven a vet erinarian t echnician, correct? 

A No . That ' s vvhy I seeked help . 

Q So you h a ve n othing f rom a s kill, knowledge, experience, 

education, training to provide this Court with any 

certainty as i t concerns wh y the puppy or puppies were, in 

fact, b leed ing, correct? 

A I have a Wilderness First Responder. I do have medical 

attention f o r humans but n ot puppies . So I b eli eve that 

they're ver y s imilar . J'md wh en you have a gut i nci dent 

a human, you do h ave bleeding from bowel s from a human . 

believe t hat animals a re very similar to humans . 

Q But you have n othing t o proffer as i t concerns a cani ne, 

for exampl e , to the Court, corr ect? 

A I do not . That ' s vvhy I seeked help . 

MR. NOONEY: Nothing f u rther . Thank you, Your Honor . 

MR. NELSON: One follow- up, Your Honor . I' m sorry . 

THE COURT: One question. 
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FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) In r egar ds t o Mr . Nooney ' s questioning on 

t he l aser -- and if you woul d l ook at Exhi b i t 11 3 before 

you 

I think you ' ve testif ied bef ore t hat t hat i t em, t h e 

sil ve r -- it l ooks l i ke maybe a s i l ver bulle t with a key 

ch a in at t h e bottom. Is that t h e item you ' ve never seen in 

tha t drawer bef o r e? 

A Yes . 

Q Would you ever be a f rai d of a -- just a p lai n l aser i f it 

was directed a t you ? 

A Yes. If there was a las er poi n t ed on my chest and my 

f o r eh e ad, yes , t h at ' s something to be very scared of . 

Q I f i t was attach ed to a gun? 

A It doesn ' t matter . Even if it ' s att ached t o a gun or not, 

I b e lieve it t o be threa t ening, esp ecially a f t e r the last 

ten years of inc idents that held -- or occurred . Even 

if -- even if i t ph ys ica l ly wasn ' t a gun, i f a l aser i s 

corning through a window, yes , that ' s very fright ening. 

Q Had you seen any other type o f l a ser in your house, o the r 

than ones attached t o guns ? 

A No, I have not . 

MR. NELSON: No further questions . 

THE COURT: Ma ' am, I just h ave -- I j u st want t o clari fy 

something for the reco rd . We ' ve been talking about l aser s 
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and we 've been -- I think t h ere was a small b it o f a 

dis cuss ion t h at was about laser pointers . And I ' m kind of 

goi ng back to when Mr . Nooney was asking questions . None 

of u s here a r e talking about an actual l aser t hat would d o 

harm, ot her t h an perha p s to someone ' s eyes ; we ' re t a l k i ng 

about las er p o i nte rs , b e they on a gun or a button tha t you 

u se, l i ke what cou ld be thi s t h i n g t hat ' s i n the drawer . 

Th a t' s wh a t we 're a ll tal king about, i s t hat t rue, 

Counse l? 

MR. NELSON: I beli eve so . 

MR. NOONEY: I believe so, yes , You r Honor. 

THE COURT: Ma' am, wh en y ou' re t a l king about l asers, i s 

t h at what you' r e tal king abou t as well ? 

THE WI'INESS: Yeah. On l y these e i ther could be on a we a p on 

or just a poi nter, but i t was used i n a scari ng manner . 

THE COURT: I j u s t want t o make s u r e we ' r e all on the same 

page there so ... 

Ma ' am, you may step down . 

THE WI'INESS : Thank you . 

(Wi t ness excused. ) 

THE COURT: Counsel , we ' ve gone for two and a half hours 

and we ' ve gotten through one witness . It looked to me l i ke 

there was about n ine people that went out . Where are we 

h e r e ? 

MR. NELSON: I ' ve got t wo witnesses and her parent s should 
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be relatively short. Famous l ast words. 

THE COURT: Yeah . I under stand. I guess I understand 

that Ms. Wagner's woul d have been -- i s likely to b e the 

longest testimony or the l ongest witness and I get tha t. I 

just kind of want to know where we are as we proceed here . 

Do we think we 're going to b e able to g e t d on e here t his 

afternoon? 

MR. NELSON: I don't bel ieve s o . 

MR. NOONEY: Depending on how long Mr . Nelson needs, 

Your Honor , I'll be f air ly quick wi t h my client . I do have 

some audio recordings I'd like t o offer as testimon y . I, 

of course, need him t o lay the foundation. That's why I 

didn ' t use t hem with Ms . Wagne r. Dependi ng on t he 

allegations, Your Hon or, my primary focus is just t o call 

my witness. I ' m not going t o give the Court s ome assura nce 

that I ' m n ot going to c all anothe r witne ss. 

THE COURT: I understand. I' m just l ooking for a lit t l e 

guidance on where we a r e . 

Wel l , let ' s carry on . 

Mr . Ne l son . 

MR. NELSON: I would call Jerry Wagner . 

JERRY JAY WAGNER, 

calle d as a witne ss , being first dul y sworn , t e s tif i e d as 

follows : 
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DIRECT EXAMINATION 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Please state your name and spell your 

first name . 

A Jerryjay Wagner, J -E-R-R-Y-J-A- Y. 

Q And, Mr . Wagner, how are you related to the part ies here? 

A I'm her father . 

Q Whose father? 

A Kyl ea 's f ather . 

Q All right . 

THE COURT: Sir, will you pull that microphone just a 

little closer to your mouth . 

THE WITNESS: (Complied.) 

THE COURT: I mean, yeah, you can just bend it down . 

THE WITNESS: (Compli ed.) 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) And how long have you known Rigo Tovar? 

A Since late 2013 . 

Q And during the time that you ' ve known him, have you 

observed any threatening behavior that he ' s exhi bited 

towards you r daughter? 

A I have , yes . 

Q Can you relate to the Court t hose incidents, if there are 

one or mor e . 

A There was , yeah, more than one instance . 

Q Was there an incident on December 30th of 2023? 

A Yes . 
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Q \!'Jhat do you recall about that? 

A The -- I ' m trying to r emember exactl y what that was . 

December 30th . 

Q On that date, to your knowledge, late i n December of 2023, 

did Kylea call you out of a concern she was expressing t o 

you in the e vening? 

A Yes. She called concerned that -- t hat Rigo had t a ken out 

a gun and was worried that something might happen, he might 

do something to h i mself or -- or h e ' d been drinking s o she 

wasn ' t sure and she was just sirrpl y scared. 

Q And when she ' s scared, can you describe her appearance, 

Kyl ea 's. 

A Describe what ? 

Q \!'Jhen Kylea i s scared, can you describe to the Court her 

appearance . 

A Yeah. It ' s mostly distraught, worrie d, and scare d, and 

fear . 

Q Di d you s h ow up at their r esi dence? 

A I did, yes . 

Q Do you recall what happe n ed? 

A There is so many . I ' m try ing to remember exactly thi s 

incident so ... 

Q Did it involve a gun? 

A That part i cular -- that parti cul a r n ight was , you know, she 

was worr ied t h at h e had taken a gun out of the safe and, of 
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course, he' d been drinki ng so she was basi cally scared that 

he was going t o do something to h i mself is the way she 

explained i t to me . 

Q And did she stay i n the house? 

A She did, yes. 

Q Did you take the kids? 

A Yes, I did take the kids . 

Q Have there been other occasi ons where she 's asked your 

assi stance? 

A There's been several , yes . 

Q Related to the -- their domest i c situa t ion, their 

relationship? 

A Yes . 

Q And in those inc i dents has she expressed fear for her 

safety? 

A Yes. Each time . 

Q Have you made any obser vati ons about Mr . To va r and h i s 

demeanor a nd his ability to invoke fear in othe r peopl e? 

:tv:!R. NOONEY: Obj e ction; call s for spe cul a t ion. 

THE COURT: Ove rrule d . It' s base d on h i s obs e rvation. 

A The few instances that I have seen these reactions from 

her, one instance wh en -- I 'm t hinki ng 2 014 , 2015, wher e I 

had to -- where she was calling and t e lling me that h er a nd 

h e r n ewborn baby was locked in the ir bathroom i n t h e first 

home that Kylea moved in with Rigo at , and tha t he had been 
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threatening her and was beati ng the door down . And she 

told me she was locked in with the baby in the bathroom s o 

I got in my vehicle and drove straight to her h ouse t o get 

them. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Was that here in Penningt on County ? 

A Yes . I was n o t in Pennington County, but the y were . I was 

in Swmnerset so that would be Meade County. 

Q All right. So you traveled to their r esi dence to basi cally 

investigate? 

A Yeah . Well, to pick up my daughter and the newborn baby is 

what I went there for . I was -- all I cared about was 

their safety. So I wasn 't interested i n anything e l se, 

e xcept for g e tting them out o f the harm that I t hought that 

they were in. 

Q At that time did you confront Mr . Tovar? 

A I mostly just, you know, aske d him what he was doi ng . 

Q And what was his response on that instance? 

A He just didn ' t understand why I was -- why I was there. He 

was acting like I d i dn 't, you know, have a ny concern 

the r e and that n othing was wrong . 

Q Okay. So you p i cked up Ky lea and -- was it just I saiah o r 

your other g randson? 

A At this point it was just Isaiah . I t was t h e first 

incident that I had to go and pick them up . I sai ah was 

just a newbo rn baby and he was n ot very old a t all . 
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Q Was ther e another inci dent that perhaps occurred when Kylea 

and Mr . Tovar were on the West Coast? 

A When they were on the West Coast? 

Q No. Near the West Coast. Nevada . 

A The other incident was -- this was when my daught er was 

still p regnant with Isai ah. He -- my daught e r was a t that 

particular time havi ng really hard t imes with keepi ng food 

down with her nutrition. She was s upposed t o be i n bed 

most of the time . I had t o s omet imes f eed her several 

different things in one setting just to go ahead a nd make 

sure that s he wasn 't throwing i t up and t o get nutrit i on i n 

her body f or her and the baby . 

Q And did something occur in Ren o , Neva d a? 

A Yes . I went ahead and got a phone call f rom my daughter. 

She was stating that she was very s i ck ; she didn ' t know 

what to d o . 

Q Who was she wi t h at the t ime ? 

A Rigo was down in the casino . I wou l d i mag i ne t h a t tha t' s 

whe r e h e was at . 

MR. NOONEY: Obj e cti on; cal ls for spe culation . 

A I could hear 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

A I could h e a r the b ell s ringing s o - - I know what a casino 

sounds like . I asked him what h e was doi ng; why he wasn 't 

getting my daugh ter an y food; wh y he was -- why he left her 
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up in the room that particul a r t ime . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) What d i d he say? 

A Well, he said that he went ahead and bought her -- he got 

her a couple things and she wouldn 't eat t hem, wouldn ' t eat 

what he got her, and, b asically, that he ' d done a ll he was 

going to do . 

Q You di d find her i n the room? 

A I did not. I was in Rapid City or I was in Casper, 

Wyoming, and, of cours e , they were in Reno . 

Q Did you go to get her? 

A I asked Rigo, s i nce he was -- he i nformed me that he wasn 't 

going to help her out in any other way t o go ahead and make 

he r f eel better and get some nutrition in her body for her 

and the baby, that if he was not going to do that , that I 

wanted him to send her -- to get her a pl ane t icket and 

send her home to me right away. 

Q I s that what happened? 

A He called me back a l ittl e b i t later, maybe 30 minutes, 

said that he had got t en a ticket for her and he was going 

to be sending her home the next morning . 

Q Okay. 

A So I took that as though that he was not going to go ahead 

and help her in any way at that point . 

Q All right . And this was earl y in their relationship. 

A Yes . This is -- this is when she was pregnant with I saiah. 
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Q All right . .And then as the years went by, wer e ther e o t her 

incidents? 

A Yes . There was another incident where I got a phone call 

s tating tha t her and b oth boys this time was scared; they 

didn't know what t o do. Rigo was in t he h ouse a t one point 

and they c ouldn't find him. There was banging on the 

f l oors a nd on t he walls and on the wi ndows to the point t o 

where both h e r and the boys were scared. I could -- you 

know, she was just t e l l ing me, I don ' t know what to do and 

I'm scared. 

Q To make s u r e I unders t and your testimon y , you 're on the 

phone with Kylea and you could h ear t he noise? 

A I could not h ear the noise, I cou l d onl y go ahead a nd hear 

t he babi es scared, because trying to go in, they were 

saying my name, you kn ow, Papa , you know, tryi ng t o ge t my 

attention on the phone . I was most ly talki ng to Kyl e a on 

the ph one . She was the one tel l ing me, but I could hear 

the boys scared and upset . 

Q All right. So did you come to g e t her -­

A I d i d . 

Q -- and t he c hildren? 

A I did . 

Q Do you know approxi mate ly when this was? 

A I n the e v e n i ng 

Q Of what year ? 
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A This would have been approximately '1 6, '17 . I don ' t know 

the exact month. Somewhere in there, year ' 1 6, '17 . 

Q Okay. And did you see Rigo on this i ncident? 

A I did . 

Q What was he d o ing? 

A He came -- basi cally he was -- he had been n owhere to be 

found when I went in , first g ot the r e . But when I got , you 

know, to the h ouse , Kylea had the boys ready to go . They 

were wrapped up in blanket -- b l ankets and we were get t ing 

ready to leave and I tur n around and Ri go was s t andi n g in 

the hallway. 

Q Di d he say anything? 

A Just asked me what I was doing there . Basi c ally the s ame 

s i t u ation as the fi rst time when I went t o go get the 

kids -- or Kylea and Isai ah . He didn ' t under stand how come 

I was there . I basi cal ly t o l d him, Well r that ' s a good 

question b ecause I can ' t understand why I would have to 

come and get my daughter and my two grandchi l dren from your 

house with them being scared. 

Q Have you had a discussion with Mr . Tovar about h is behavior 

and it being alarming or t hreatening to you r daughter? 

A I did basi cally jus t stati ng the f act that I didn ' t 

understan d where h e was coming from . Why he thinks t hat i t 
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was something that he should participat e i n, do . 

Q Did he ever deny his threatening behavior? 

A He basically just told me that it was that he was j oking 

and it was not -- he wasn't trying to go ahead and scare 

them, but it was -- you know, I was overreacti ng . 

Q .And was there an incident involving Kylea and t he children 

in the home and a laser l i ght was shown? 

A I was not there at that i nci dent , but I know what happened 

through the boys t elling me so and my daughter . 

Q Did you go get the boys? 

A I did. Not that -- n ot that evening, no . 

Q Later? 

A Late r , uh- huh . 

Q Have you ever been i nvol ved in any i nci dents that i nvolved 

law enforcement and Mr . Tovar? 

A I -- not personal l y, no . 

MR. NELSON: I have no f u rther questions, Your Hon or. 

THE COURT: Cross? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Mr . Wagner, you' d agree with me that over 

the course of more than t en years when Rigo and your 

daughter have dated off and on, you ' ve essentially served 

as a mediator for both of them, cor rect? 

A I have, yes . 

Q I 'm sorry, sir? 
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A I have, yes. 

Q You 'd agree with me there ' s been any number of occasions 

where my c lient , Rigo Tovar, had called you with concerns 

with Kylea or a rguments that they 'd had bet ween the bot h of 

them, corr ect? 

A That's r ight, yes . There was one inci dent wher e he d i d , 

yes. 

Q You'd agree with me j ust r ecentl y in March of 2024 , my 

client had r eached out to you bas ed on a t ext message t hat 

your daughter had sent , where my c l ient i nterpreted t ha t 

Kylea may kill hersel f , correct? 

A That what ? 

Q That Kylea may kill he r sel f , correct? 

A He di d not state that, no. He just stated tha t he wa s 

worried . 

Q Worried that she may harm he rself, correct ? 

A He was worri ed t hat the text message -- -what the t ext 

message said. 

Q So that would be at l east one incident? 

A He just want ed me to know, basi cally, Are y o u -- do you 

know that she ' s sent this text message? 

Q And that ' d be one incident where you, in fact, served as a 

mediator between t he t wo of them, c orrect? 

A Be one of them. 

Q As it concer ns the all egation on the incident t hat was 
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alle g e d on December 30, 2023, you never saw my c lient wi t h 

a gun, correct? 

A Never saw h i m with a gun . 

Q You never saw my client, i n f act, con sume any a l cohol, 

correct? 

A No . Bu t I spoke with him on the phone to know tha t he was 

because h e told me so . 

Q You n ever saw my client l eave the resi dence wit h a f i rearm, 

correct? 

A No . I was not there . 

Q You n ever c alled l aw e n forcement as i t concerns that 

a lleged inc i dent, correct ? 

A I did not want to go ahead and involve the l aw wi th 

something I thou ght was a quarrel between my daught er and 

Rigo . 

Q Bu t you' d agree with me you i nsert e d yoursel f into that 

s ituation , correct? 

A I d i d out of concern o f Ri go and my daughter, yes . 

Q You ' d agree with me that that next eveni ng, you, Rigo, and 

Kyl e a spent the e vening toge the r on New Ye ar ' s , corre ct? 

A Yes . Yea h . 

Q At Mr . Tovar ' s parents ' h ouse, correct? 

A No . 

Q But you spe nt the e v ening toge the r, t he ne xt evening, 

correct? 
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A We spent a little bit of time together, yeah. 

Q I ' m sorry, at their home , meaning Ri go's home and your 

daughter ' s , correct? 

A Right. Yeah. 

122 

Q You 'd agree with me that you, in fact, had gifted my c l ient 

a fire arm in the past , corre ct? 

A I do not remember gifting h i m a firearm. 

Q It's not your testimony that you gifted him a . 280 

Remington rifle ? 

A Oh . Yes . Yes . Sorry. 

Q As it concer n s the all eged incident i n 2014 and 2015, you 

weren 't present during that alleged inci dent, correct? 

A I'm s orry, whi ch -- what are y ou saying now? 

Q I beli eve there was an alleged i n cident , you said, with a 

newborn baby when Ky lea was a l legedly i n a bathroom. You 

wer en't pre s e nt during that alleged i nci d e nt, correct? 

A I was only present there t o pick him up and t o see t he 

damage done to the h ouse and why she was sca red . 

Q You had t estified about an alleg e d i ncident in Ne vada . You 

were not present dur ing that alleg e d incident , correct? 

A I was not there . 

Q And you said that was 1-'Jhen your daughter was pregna nt with 

Isaiah and that would have been more t h a n t en years ago, 

c orrect? 

A No . She was -- I saiah was already there . 
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Q So is it your testimony that I saiah was i n Nevada? 

A Oh, Nevada. Sorry. I thought you said the bathroom. 

Sorry. No . Isaiah was not -- yeah . She was by herself in 

Nevada. 

Q And I ' m not trying t o stump you, sir; I'm just trying to 

get a time line for the Court . 

A Uh-huh. 

Q That would have been more than ten years ago then, correct? 

A Yes. Uh- huh . 

Q You had testi f ied as it concerns a l l egations where your 

daughter has stated that she believes the behavior i s 

threatening or alarming, correct ? 

A Uh-huh. 

Q You haven't been present during those alleged inci dences, 

correct? 

A No . No, I have not . 

Q I sn ' t it f air to say, sir, that during the ten years the 

parti es h a ve had a relation s h ip with conflict? 

A Yeah . Like any other relationship, t here would be 

conflict . 

Q Has there ever been a time, s ir, that you and your wi fe 

would have a disagreement or an argument, where you then 

went to Mr . Tovar and your daughter ' s residence? 

A Yes . Yeah . Sure . 

Q And then would you agree with me then, your wife has 
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reached out to Rigo and he gets stuck i n the middl e o f 

that? 

A Oh, I have no i dea . But I don ' t know why my wife woul d 

reach out to Rigo but 

Q But is it fair to say y ou 

A -- it's possible . 

Q Sorry. 

12 4 

got in an argument with your wife and then left and 

went to Rigo and your daughter ' s r e siden c e ? 

MR. NELSON: Objecti on; beyond t he scope of direct . 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

A Say the question a g ain, p l ease . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) I just want t o -- sor ry, s ir. I just want 

to make sure I understand your tes t imon y . I s i t fair t o 

say that there's been at least one oc c asion where you and 

your wife got in a disagreement and you have l e f t your 

marita l h ome to go t o my c lient and your daughter ' s home? 

A Yeah. Yea h. Uh-huh. 

MR. NOONEY: Nothing f u r ther . Thank y ou , You r Honor . 

MR. NELSON: I h ave n o f u rth er questi ons . 

THE COURT: You may s tep down . Than k you . 

(Wi t ness excused. ) 

THE COURT: Counsel , I just want t o clarify what I was 

t a l king about a minute ago . And you can cal l your next 

witn ess or h a ve your n ext wi t n ess come into the courtroom, 
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Mr. Nelson. I'll just clarify i n a moment -- or I'll do it 

firs t . ¼'hen I s aid we ' ve been far afield, what I ' m getting 

at is we ' ve been goi ng i n and out of thi s custody matter 

all afte r noon so I ' m n ot goi ng t o s t art sust a i ni ng 

objections that we ' r e outside the scope ; we ' ve been t alki ng 

about it the wh ol e t i me so that ' s my poi nt s o -- when I 

s aid that. 

Go ahead and call your next witness . 

:tv:IR. NELSON: J e anne Wagner . 

:tv:IR. NOONEY: Your Honor , i f I may , I ' m just going t o put 

this original notebook up front. 

JEANNE WAGNER, 

called as a wi t ness , being f i rst duly sworn, testified as 

follows : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

Q (BY :tv:IR. NELSON) Pl eas e s tate your name and if you woul d 

spell your f irst name . 

A Uh-huh. J eanne Wagn er, J - E- A-N-N- E . 

Q And what is your r ela t ionshi p to t he parties her e ? 

A Kyle a i s my daughte r . 

COURT REPORTER: Please pul l that mic down i n f r ont of you . 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

COURT REPORTER: Thank you. 

THE WITNESS: I s that bett er? 

COURT REPORTER: Yeah . 
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A Kyl ea is my daugh t e r. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) .And d o you kn ow Mr . Tovar ? 

A I do . 

Q How l ong h ave you kn own h i m? 

A Probably t e n ye a r s. Abou t ten year s . 

Q So wh en d i d you f irst meet him? 

A Eleven year s maybe . Summer of 2 013 . 

Q \i'Jhat was y ou r i n i t i a l impr essi on of Mr. Tovar? 

A He was p leasant enough . I j ust -- I d i dn ' t really h a ve 

1 2 6 

any -- she br ought h i m ou t to meet us . I t h ink the y had 

been speaking on the ph on e qui te a b i t and s pending t i me 

t ogethe r . .And initial l y I j u s t -- I d i dn 't t hink h e seeme d 

l ike t h e kind of b oy that s h e h a d f ormerl y dated a nd he 

s eemed a l ot older an d I knew he worked out of town, but h e 

was p leasant enou gh. 

Q How d i d the i r r e l at i onsh ip p r ogr e ss t he f ollowing months ? 

A Well , he was gon e a l ot, but i t s eems like it was -- i t 

moved pretty r api d l y . That he wanted h e r t o mov e i n, you 

know, pretty qui c kly . 

Q So h ave you ever mad e any obser vat i ons about Mr . Tovar and 

his t emper amen t ? 

A Of c ou rse . Well , i n i t i ally, I mean , I t hink Rigo was j us t 

a really quiet person, and j u st very poli te and nice and - ­

in r e l evance to wh a t exactly , like? 

Q Does h e h a v e a s h ort t emper? 
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A He does. He does. 

Q Have you ever witnessed him get angry at Kylea? 

A The fi rst time that I really saw him get angry a nd be angry 

was, roughly, after Isaiah was born . And we were c a lled in 

the middle of the night and she was cry i ng and we drove out 

t o the ir house in the Elks Golf Course, and he was -- he 

was very i rrational and unpredictable. He was very angry. 

Q Over what? 

A I -- I honest ly have no idea . I just know that the -- I 

don ' t know wha t started i t . I just know t h at the door was 

broken do"'i/ffi and the kids -- she and the baby wer e l ocked i n 

the bathroom. And he was -- he directed his anger 

init ially at us, you know, that we needed t o mind our O"'ifffi 

business . But there wasn't a l ot of conversati on wi th him. 

He was -- he wa s intoxicated, and then we j ust got Kyl ea 

and the baby and we l eft. 

Q Are you aware of any physical abuse between Kylea and 

Mr. To va r? 

A Just -- her just recently t elling u s about her chok- -- him 

ch oking her . That ' s all I' ve wi tnessed d i rected towards 

Kyl ea . 

Q Did you witness it or did you h ear about it? 

A I heard about -- I hear d about it from Kyl ea that he ch o ke d 

h e r . 

Q Was it related -- when you heard about it, was it 
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immediate? Was it near the t ime o f t h e i n c ident? 

A No, it wasn 't. Kylea had really not been shari ng a lot of 

what would have -- what had been going on at her home . I 

think the majority o f what we really started to be 

concerned is we were unaware of anyth ing that was really 

going on, exc ept they just weren't g etting a long. And 

that ' s happened many times so ... 

But when my brother and sister-in-l aw a nd t heir kids 

were at our house, we were playing games -- t hey came for 

like a post-Christmas event -- and during that , she k i nd of 

jus t broke down t o my brother and t o my -- t o our family as 

a whole and told us what was goin g on . And it was just 

kind of shocking just to -- just to hear . 

Q All right. As to the relation s hip between Kylea and 

Mr . Tovar 

A Uh-huh. 

Q -- wh at have you observed, i f an ything, i n regar ds to 

Mr. To va r' s t reatment of your g r andch i l dren ? 

A Well , it ' s not that I see -- I don 't see him really 

inte ract that -- like , h e doesn 't r e a lly show emotion so 

i t ' s h ard to really determine what you ' re tryi ng to ask me . 

I just know that h e has a very s tric t way of managing t he 

kids and he ' s very -- i t' s very important to him to 

maintain the same kind of s i tuations that he grew up with . 

You kn ow, like, as far as he doesn 't like them t o have t oo 
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mu ch, t oo much of anyth i ng, and i t does r eal ly g e t h im 

upset . 
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I d i d wi tness h i m slap I s a i ah across the fac e when h e 

was about 18 mon t h s o l d . I t was very upsett i ng and I g o t 

r eally angry with h im a t that t ime . And t here was several 

p eop l e there that s een thi s . He ' s jus t -- h e just -- he 

can be dar k . 

Q I'm sorry , I can' t hear y ou . 

A Mr . Tova r can be dar k --

Q All rig h t . 

A -- you kn ow . 

Q Have the child ren r eact ed i n a manner t h a t is c oncerni ng t o 

you wh en t hey ' re i n Mr . Tovar ' s presen ce? 

A They mind h i m; that ' s al l I c an s ay i s t h e y d on ' t really 

a c t up around him. He ' s -- t hey ' re ver y much a part -­

t h ey follow his rules, h i s g uard . They are ver y muc h -- an 

examp l e , l ike I' ve t aken them s h opping before and they have 

sai d t o me tha t they don ' t want t o take their c l othes in or 

t heir -- you know, t heir s t u ff becau se t hey will get in 

troub l e for bringing i n bel ongi n gs that I bu y them. I know 

that h e ' s j ust ver y s trict about wh at they do but ... 

Q Ha ve they e ver informed you o f any t ype of corporal 

punishment? 

A Yeah . Several t imes when I -- I babysat them a l ot over 

t h e years a nd i t ' s pretty much been Isai ah ' s ongoi ng 
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conversation throughout the years t hat h i s dad does not 

like him. He's told us that several times. He says his 

dad hits him. And I ' ve just watched Rigo, you know, now 

that you're -- I'm thinking about it, yeah, he's harsh and 

he doesn't spare wor ds. And his idea of j oking around 

is -- can be ve ry hurtful, but h e ' s able to l augh a b out it . 

He f inds the things that he does and says funny . So it's 

very off -- it puts y ou off because you 're n o t really sure 

how to respond or act because Ri g o is v e ry 

about inappropriate things and you ' re just 

he laughs 

a nd he ' s 

quick to get angry and to s et a tone. I don't know how t o 

explain this. I t's just -- it's hard to say with words . 

I t ' s just -- h e has a way abou t him that is just -- he 

just -- it ' s his way or the highway. He pouts . 

Q V'Jhen you confront h i m about your concerns, does h e admit 

to, I gue ss, the incidents that the chil dren relay to you? 

A The c onversation that he -- t he one conversati on tha t 

sti cks in my mind tha t Ri go and I had wi th each other, 

that ' s the only thing that I can reall y t hink of in t his 

s ituation because I' m so n e rvou s , but when we wer e l e aving 

the football game l ast fall, he tol d me that he has a hard 

time with his temper and that h e just h e s aid, I don 't 

feel that close to Isaiah and as much as I do t o Teyo . And 

h e was like, I just lose my -- I just lose my temper . I 

just -- I don 't know how t o get it toge t her . And I was 
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like, Wellr you just get -- you need t o go -- y ou need to 

talk to a counselor. You need to do s omet hin g . /Ind I told 

him then that, you know, that -- I ' v e talked t o Rigo, 

actually , a couple of t i mes, but he's ment i on e d being 

suicidal and he's mentioned having anger p roblems h imself 

t o me spe ci f ically. 

Q How recent were those conversati ons? 

A That -- the most recent one was in t h e summer and fall of 

last y e ar be cause I have r a rely s een h i m or spoken t o h im. 

He s topped really being around us a t all, oth e r tha n when 

the kids wer e at spor ts. I noti ced it a l o t in J une 

because that's the anniver sary of my son's death and we 

always g e t t og e the r as a family . /Ind he actu all y d i d s how 

up f o r tha t, but he was -- he d i dn't hardly t alk o r 

anything . We sat b y the fire, but h e didn 't r e a l l y have 

anything t o add . /Ind I' ve r e ally har dly spent a ny t ime 

with him at a ll. But a s far a s t h at conver sati on that i s 

preval ent in my mind r i ght n ow, tha t happe ned a t Box Elder 

at the f ootball game when h e wa s tal king about h i s own 

t empe r and --

Q Okay. So was i t unrelat ed t o alcoh ol? 

A Wel l , yeah . We wer e at a f oot b a l l game . Th ere was no 

alcoh ol t here t hat d ay , of course . 

Q So h e was s t one - sober ? 

A Ye ah . 
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Q And he wa s expressi ng t o you s ome of h i s ment a l thoughts? 

A Yep . And he 's told me , too, that he ' s been depressed many 

t imes . 

MR. NELSON: All right . I have n o f u r the r quest ions, 

Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Cross? 

CROSS-EXAMINATia-:r 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ms . Wagner, some of you r allegati ons s t em 

b a ck more than t en y ears ago, correct? 

A Which allegation are you assuming or --

Q Th e various alle ga tions that you' ve testified to just now. 

A Your question is unc l ear . Can you be more specific? 

Q I'll do it thi s way. You ' d agree with me the parties have 

been together approximately ten years, correct? 

A Yeah . Ten, eleven . Yeah . The summer of 2013 . And I 

t hink i n '18 , t hey took a year- and- a - half break wher e there 

was another proceeding . 

Q So i s it fair to say t hey ' ve been t ogether off and on f or 

approximately 11 yea rs? 

A Yeah . 

Q You ' d agree with me that you ' re aware of my c l ient goi ng to 

counseling, correct? 

A Yeah . The kids let me know that h e was going to 

counseling, uh- huh . 

Q And as it concerns your allegation of what Mr . Nelson has 
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identified as cor por a l puni shment, just because my c lient 

has certain expectations of the chil dren, that ' s jus t a way 

of parent ing, correct? 

A That' s -- that i s true , uh-huh . 

Q And just be c ause you bel ieve somet hing is harsh, that ' s in 

your subj ect i ve be l ief , correct ? 

A Not really. I would say that -- I ' m glad that you 

mentioned this . So about -- I thi nk i t ' s been about four, 

five weeks ago, six weeks ago, I can ' t -- but my grandson 

I saiah asked me i f I wanted to take hi m for a dr ive and I 

said, Sure. And while we were driving , he said, I want to 

t e ll you something r Cookier about -- but I don 't want you 

to overreact or ge t upset . And I agreed to that . And he 

told me that his dad had been beating hi m wi th a gun belt . 

Now I don 't -- I don 't know anything about gun belt s o r 

what a gun be l t is , but t ha t was his words, that he had 

been beating him with a gun belt . So I think that t hat 

woul d be irrationa l and beyond normal par enti ng puni shment . 

Q You ' ve never witnesse d t hat , though, correct? 

A No . But I believe my grandson . 

Q And while we ' re talking about parenting, you understand 

that your daughter uses illicit drugs, correct? 

A Illicit d r ugs? 

Q Correct . 

A \i'Jhat would those be? 
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Q You agree that she smokes marijuana, correct? 

A Sure . 

Q You agree that she occasional ly uses cocai ne, correct? 

A Yeah . So d oes Rigo. 

Q That's not my question . 

You understand my c l ient has a CDL --

A I've never ever s een her use cocaine, no . Ever. Never 

even heard about i t. 

134 

Q But based on that, t hat ' s okay t o parent while you ' re un d e r 

t h e inf luence of marijuana, correct? 

MR. NELSON: Objection. 

A I 've never seen her under the infl uence of anything 

caring -- for a parent , she ' s an amazing mom. 

Q You've mentioned the footbal l g ame . That all eged 

conversation t ook p l a ce a year ago , correct? 

A In the f all f e stival, yeah. I n the fall, yeah . Not quite 

a year . 

Q You'd agree with me tha t you h ave l eft a vo i cemail on my 

client ' s phone as i t c oncerns f r ustr a t ions wi t h my client 

a llowing your husban d to c ome t o thei r house when you and 

your husba nd h ad been i n an argument, c orrect? 

A Oh, I have no idea what -- what -- that would b e years ago . 

So I have n o idea what Rigo ' s collected i n i nforma t i on or 

what my r e l at i onshi p with my husband has anything to d o 

with relevance t o this s ituation . 
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Q But you'd agree with me then, you ' ve i nserted Rigo i n t hat 

situation, correct? 

A Absolutely not, huh-uh. I do kn ow that my husband has had 

to spend a lot of t ime at their h ouse. Somethi ng -- and 

interestingly enough i s that that was brought up t oday, i s 

that they had a protocol, I guess is what the y said, s e t up 

i s that when her dad had a key to their house and h i s shoes 

were at the bottom of the door, she woul d be safe . So I 

know that J ay stayed at their house a l ot and that used t o 

frustrate me because I didn ' t real l y know why Jay had to go 

over there and stay a lot, but yeah . 

.And we lost a child and I'm n ot sure if you under stand 

that , but we -- we ' ve been put thr ough a l ot so yes . .And 

a l ot of times parents don ' t make it; they don't s t ay 

married a f ter they lose a child. So t her e is no doubt that 

we have our problems. 

Q .And I'm sympathet i c --

A .And I have n o idea what they have to do with this . 

Q I ' m sympathet ic for that, ma ' am, but you had t e s t ified 

A I'm sure you are . 

Q -- as t o concerns of what you bel ieve to be Ri go ' s 

parenting style so I ' m asking you those questions . 

A You didn ' t ask me Ri go ' s parenting style a t all . 

Q During any a lle ge d incidences, have you c alled l aw 

enforcement? 
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A I h ave n ot. 

MR. NOONEY: Nothing further , You r Honor . 

THE COURT: Redi rect? 

MR. NELSON: I h ave n oth i n g f u r ther. 

THE COURT: All right . Ma ' am, you ma y step d own . Th ank 

you . 

(Wi tness excused. ) 

MR. NELSON: Your Honor , and these witness es can s t a y in 

the cour t room? 

THE COURT: With the understanding they won ' t be called 

back or they can 't be call ed back, t hey may s t ay i n t he 

courtroom now, ye s. 

MR. NELSON: What if they ' r e rebuttal , though? 

THE COURT: Nope . 

MR. NELSON: They have t o stay ou t ? 

THE COURT: They got t o s t ay out . 

MR. NELSON: I h ave no other witnesses, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: All r i gh t . Mr . Nooney , do we need t o t a ke a 

little b reak h ere to o rgani ze? I mean, a re you calling 

wi tnesses? What d o you plan to d o ? 

MR. NOONEY: Your Hon o r , l et me just p r oceed jus t for 

judicial effi c ien cy --

THE COURT: That ' s fine . 

1 36 

MR. NOONEY: -- to try and be as e fficient as we can, I ' m 

ready t o call my f i rst witness . 
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THE COURT: Ver y good . Call your f irst wi tness . 

MR. NOONEY: Can you ask Your Honor, I don't know if t he 

door is goi ng to be open or 

THE COURT: Well, Mr. Nelson, what did you decide or, I 

guess --

MR. NELSON: I'm not going to call them back even as 

rebuttal . 

THE COURT: Okay. I t hin k, ma ' am, were you just wai t i ng 

for your husband t o come back? 

THE WITNESS : Yeah . 

THE COURT: Okay. Yeah. You can go ahead and go grab your 

witne ss. 

MR. NOONEY: I'm going to call my client, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Very well. 

MR. NOONEY: Thank you. 

RIGO TOVAR, 

called as a witness , being first duly sworn, testified as 

f ollows : 

DIRECT EXAMINATIOO 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Please state your name for the r ecord. 

A Rigo Tovar, R-I-G- O. 

Q And, Rigo , are you the Respondent in this current matter? 

A Yes , sir . 

Q And, Ri go , the r e ' s a premarked exhibit b i nder in front of 

you . I would direct your attention first t o Exh ibit Number 
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104 . Are you awar e of an a llegati on t hat you d i dn 't l eave 

the home for roughly thr ee days? 

A I am. 

Q I s t h a t t r u e ? 

A Fa lse . It is not t r ue . 

Q .And is it fair to say the r e ' s a various timeline a nd base d 

on the allegation s that , apparently, now i s p r edati ng 

J anu a r y 8th, bu t did you l eave t he home on January 8t h? 

A Yes , I did . 

Q .And is it a f a i r and a ccu rate copy of the various dates 

t hat wou ld be a time l i n e and a screenshot from y our phone 

i dentifyi ng you r locat ion? 

A Yes . That i s an a ccu rat e timel ine from my phone tha t g oes 

everywhere wi th me . 

Q Did you modify that? 

A Nope . 

Q Do you have the abi l ity to modify i t ? 

A I don ' t bel ieve so . I t ' s a Googl e Map thi ng that ' s on 

anybody' s phones . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Hon or , I would offer Exhi b i t 104 i nto 

evidence . 

MR. NELSON: No obj ection . 

THE COURT: 104 i s received . 

I' m sorry . Exhibit 104 is r eceived. 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Rigo, I ' d d irect your attention t o 
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Exhib it NW11ber 101 . On Page 2 there ' s an a l l egation as i t 

c oncerns your rap sheet . Have you ever been c h arged o f a 

simpl e assaul t for simply -- for simp ly assaulting or 

assaulting a f emal e? 

A No, I h a ve not. 

Q Do you have a previ ou s criminal matter where the r e was an 

argume n t at a bar with a boun cer? 

A Yes , I d o. 

Q How long ago was t hat? 

A I t was early twenti es . Well , before I met Kyl ea . I t was 

in Deadwood . It was a mal e barte nder . There was no harm. 

I j ust wa s over intoxi c ated; got pepper- sprayed, went to 

jail. Re l e ased mysel f the n ext day from j ail . 

Q And you ' re 35 years old, correct? 

A Correct . 

Q So that i nci dent happe n ed a l ong time ago, correct? 

A Correct . 

Q Th ere ' s a series o f summar i es o f incidents tha t woul d be on 

the next page, Rigo . There ' s not a page nill!1ber . Have you 

h eard the allegations as i t concerns an alleged i nci dent of 

you retrievi ng an AR- 15? 

A Yes . 

Q What , in fact , were you doing? 

A Thi s i s the on e on? 

Q January -- December 30 of 2023 . 
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A December 30 o f 2023, we were at a kids' basketball 

tournament in Spearfish, a New Year 's Eve tournament . The 

children, Jerryjay was there, Ky lea, a nd myself . Upon 

leaving tha t tournament, the kids h ad t h r ee options o f 

vehicles to jump in . It wasn't anything I had d one towards 

the kids o r anything. They chose t o go with the i r mothe r. 

And I stopped at McDonal d's and got myself something to 

eat. I got two Fireball shots and I t h i nk, l ike, a 

six-pack o f beer . I drank one o f those Firebal l shots when 

I got home . Then I proceeded to go to the back room. Me 

and Kylea were a lrea dy not agreeing and getting a l ong a t 

the time. I went and put a battery i n t h is red dot , not a 

l aser, a Red Dot s cope that is on that AR- 15 . Then I put 

the gun away. It was a f ive-minute deal. 

Q You were just by you r sel f during t hat i ncident; you didn 't 

bring the gun out in front o f the children? 

A No . I stood at the gun safe directly i n f r ont of the d oor 

with it a nd it went right back i n the safe and l ocked i t. 

Q And it's your practice to have that AR loc ked in a s e c ure 

safe, correct? 

A Yes . That ' s where it is t oday. 

Q Unless you' re usi n g it, correct? 

A Correct . 

Q You n ever pointed that gun at Kylea, correct? 

A Correct . I never pointed it . 
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A I have never pointed a gun a t anybody . 
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Q l\s i t concerns the alleged i ncident on January 8th and the 

thre e d ays , you, i n fact, never threat en ed Ms . Wagner or 

the childre n , correct? 

A Correct. I n e ve r made no thre ats . 

Q And you, i n fact , had left the h ouse, despi te her 

positions , c orrect ? 

A Yeah . 

MR. NELSON: Your Honor , I' m going to object on the leading 

n a t u r e of the questions . 

THE COURT: Cut down on t he l eadi ng, p l ease . Go ahead and 

ask t h at question again . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) l\s i t con cern s the January 8 , 2024 , 

incidence, do you take issue wit h her a llegati ons? 

A No, I do not . I did not lock myself i n a bedroom for three 

days . 

Q But my question i s , do you take an i ssue -- l ike do you 

take issue with her a l legat i ons? 

A Ye ah, I have an issue with i t . 

Q And why? 

A Because they ' re false accusations . 

Q l\s it concerns the alleged incid ent on January 1 4 , 2024 , 

what happe ned during that a lle g e d inc ide nt? 

A The only laser I can thi nk of with that i n c ident i s t hat 
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laser pointer that I was showed a picture of in t he drawer. 

I was at Menar ds with my children. They had laser pointers 

for like 98 cents , I think, in Januar y sometime . Me and 

the kids bought them t o play around with Kylea ' s dogs and 

to tease the dogs, you know, l ike you do with cat s. And 

othe r than that laser pointe r , I don't know whe r e this 

could have came from. 

Q Do you r ecall ever pointing a laser poi nter at Kylea or t he 

children? 

A No, I do not. 

Q And I direct your attention t o Exhibit 113 . 

"What is Exhibit 113? 

A I t l ooks like a . 45 Smith & Wesson. 

Q No, 113 . 

A Oh . 

Oh, t hat ' s why. 

In that d rawer that is a las er pointer on a key chain , 

the same kind of l aser pointer I had i n my possession in 

the truck . 

Q That --

A You push a button and it dis plays a l aser . 

Q Is that i ntended t o be mounted on a firearm? 

A No , it i s not. 

Q I would d i r ect your attention t o Exhibi t 110 . 

There ' s thr e e ph otogr aphs, Rigo . "What i s t he first 
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ph ot ograph as i s depi cted on Exhibit 110? 

A The fi r st phot ograph i s a picture of my AR- 15 the day I 

p i c ked it up from Scheel s sport s . 

Q And I' m on the first photo s o you got to go t o the 

Ba tes stamp, Rigo . Tov a r --

A That is 

Q -- 171. 

COURT REPORTER: 71? 

THE WITNESS: Sorry . 

MR. NOONEY: Yes . 0171. 

A Tha t is a picture of the scope that i s mounted to that 

AR-15 . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) And then what do photographs Tovar 0172 

and 0173 depict? 

1 43 

A Those a r e pi c tures t hat I t ook the day I picked up that 

f i r e arm at Scheel s i n the back seat of my pic kup becaus e i t 

would no l onger fit i n the case once they mount ed that 

scope on it f or me . 

Q .A.re t hese f air and accu r at e phot ographs of t he Red Dot and 

the AR- 15? 

A Yes . That i s a Red Dot, n ot a laser . 

MR. NOONEY: I would offer Exhibit 11 0 int o evidence, 

Your Honor . 

MR. NELSON: No obj ecti on . 

THE COURT: 110 i s received . 
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Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Rigo , h ave you ever had a l aser mounted on 

that .AR- 15? 

A No, I have not . That is the on ly s cope I have ever had on 

there, wh o Sch eel s at t h e spor t i ng goods sect ion f or t he 

firearms mounted f or me . Tha t firearm still sits i n the 

same -- wi th the same scope combo kit i n that safe toda y . 

Q I s thi s the on ly .AR- 15 you own? 

A Yes , it is . 

Q Can you exp lain to t he Court how a Red Dot works . 

A Yes , I can . A Red Dot is a dot that only p r o j ects you 

only see the dot i n t h e l ens when l ooki ng t hrough the glass 

l ens. I t does n o t project a las er and point. And a red 

dot does not appe ar at an obj ect you ' re pointing at . 

Q As i t concern s t h e a l l eged i nciden t , Ri go, an d back on 

Exhibit Number 101, which is the Pet i t ion and Affidavi t f or 

Prot e cti on Orde r file d by Ms . Wagner, i f you would p l e ase 

turn -- it will be the second page of the Summar y of 

Inc i dents . I'm at t h e t op on i n cident a lle ged on 

February 9 , 2 02 4 . 

What do you take i ssue with as concerns the all egation 

on Febru ary 9 , 2 024? 

A That s t a t ement on Febr uary 9 , 2 024 , is a l so fal se . 

Q Had you ever k i cked one of t he puppie s o r t h e dogs? 

A I n ever had an ything t o do wi th those dogs from the 

beginning from the time s h e got -- even b rought, i n t roduced 
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the female d og that had t he puppies, I never had anythi ng 

to do with them. I didn 't want them in my house . They 

destroyed the h ouse. They made it messy. After the 

puppies were born, I never had an y part t o do wi th the 

puppies a nd I let her know that the day t hey were born . 

Q Did you e ver poison the puppies? 

A I never went around the puppies . No , I d i d not . 

Q .As it concer ns the all eged inc idents on May 22, 2024 , what 

happened the morning of May 22 , 2024? 

A The morning of May 22nd -- I had t he boys the n i ght of the 

2 1s t overnight per my parenting agreement . They spent t he 

night with me. I got them ready f or school in the morning . 

I packed t heir bike s in my pickup, we nt down to Wi l derne ss 

Park where t h ey do a b i ke- to- school day . I s tarted 

unloading the bikes . Kylea was s t anding a t t he rear of my 

p ickup t r uck t a l king t o another mother and her k i ds there 

at t he parking l ot at Wilderness Pa r k . 

.As I'm unl oading thing s , I sai ah is n ot getti ng ou t o f 

the pickup. I didn ' t rea l l y know what was going on . Kylea 

proceed e d to ask me , Well, wher e ' s Isaiah? And I said, Oh, 

he ' s in t he truck . So I wal ked over, opened up the door to 

the cab o f the pickup . I said, I saiah, what ' s going on? 

Isaiah was upse t b ecause she did n ot pack unif orm c lothe s 

a s t h e s e k i ds go t o pub- -- o r privat e sch oo l . I had 

informed Isaiah that that last day o f s c h ool they were 
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s upposed t o wear s ch ool uniform. He d i dn 't bel i eve me . So 

I told him I 'm not going to get i nto it with y o u guys . 

When we ge t to the p laygro und or to the park r you ' ll see 

everybody e lse i n uniform. So I sai ah got upset when we 

pulled up t o the p a r k i ng lot because h e did not h ave his 

uniform. J a y pulle d into the parking l ot , I bel ieve, 

exactly on e or two vehicles beh i n d me because I seen him on 

Wes t Chi cago Street when I t urned on t h e s t reet to go 

there . He droppe d Kylea and her bike off . 

I saiah f inally -- a fte r talking to h i m, I get h im to 

get out o f the cab of the vehi cle and I' m t rying to t alk 

him into going on a bike ride, t elling h i m, It ' s your last 

day o f school r buddyr l et ' s go and make i t a good day . 

I sai ah deci des to con front Kylea about t h i s , about not 

packing school clothes, and they got i nto i t . Al l sai d and 

done , they had the ir little d i sagreement . It lasted 

f ive minutes or h owever long . Then Kylea decides she was 

going to stay s o I pedaled my bike to that nex t par k i ng lot 

o ver, which is where Teyo was , and t hen I rod e my bike f rom 

the r e all t h e way to the sch ool . The bell rang . Teyo had 

t o go in t here for c l ass . I r ode back -- my bike by myself 

back to the park, l oaded my bike . Kylea was sitting on 

this , like , 2-foot l edge around the p l ayground with Isaiah . 

I was going to l eave and I n oticed she was s til l ther e and 

I was t rying to get Isaiah t o go to s chool . So as I ' m 
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driving by, I had my window down -- t h e weather was really 

nice out and I said, Isaiah r come here really quickr 

p lease. I wanted to give him a hug and try t o motivate him 

to go to s chool. When I started aski ng f or I saiah t o come 

here, Kylea yelled at me and sai d He will n ot come over 

h e r e ; he will not go over there; he 's not going over therer 

and just kept repeating herself. And I put my t ruck in 

park. I was just t rying t o get him to come s o I coul d give 

him a hug and trying t o get him t o go to school . J\nd so I 

put my truck in park, but I didn't approach to leave the 

parking lot, I walked over, walked around Kylea, and began 

talking to Isaiah. The whole t ime I sat there t al k i ng t o 

I saiah, trying to get him to go to school, j ust h a v i ng a 

conversation with him. I wasn 't ove r there even to talk 

about Ky lea. She claimed that I t ried talking to her about 

p icture s; I n ever said anything about p ictures . She ' s t he 

one that b r ought that up . I reminded her that I was not 

there to talk t o her . I proceeded to t r y t o tal k to 

Isaiah . And then a t t h e end of i t, I said -- I saiah looks 

at me and he said, Dadr we don ' t n eed no probl ems . I said, 

I knowr buddyr that ' s why I tried to get you to come t o the 

t r uck . 

And then when all t hat was said and done, she allowed 

him t o walk back t o the vehic l e with me, whe r e I gave him a 

hug and a k i ss an d sai d , Go have a good day at school . J\nd 
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tried to talk to her , nothing. 

Q Did you ever charge at Kylea and Isaiah ? 

A I did not. 
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Q Did you ever in a mena cing manner approach Kylea or I saiah? 

A I did not. 

Q The evening of May 22 , 2024 , what occur red then? 

A That evening -- that happened in the morning. We were 

suppose d to be at that bike park at 7:30 for the bike ride . 

Later that evening school got out, the ki ds had b a seball 

practice at Wes t Middl e School field. I showed up to 

p ractice at 5:30 because bat p ractice we n t from 5:30 t o 

7:00 p.m. Kyle a s h owed up half an h our l ate with the b oys. 

I was up at the cage hel ping the coaches with p ract ice . 

Kylea showed up 30 minut es late; the boys grabbed their 

g e ar, r an out the r e , started practicing . And I would 

always help, you know, just catch t he ball and stuff . 

And Kylea got out o f h er vehic l e for that entire 

practice and stood wit hin 10 feet of me . This was f rom 

the ball park incident happen ed a t 8 : 30 , e arlier that 

morning after the bike ride, and she came over and stood 

within 10 f eet o f me that whole h ou r of practice that she 

was there for , from 6 : 00 t o 7 : 00 p . m. 

Q Did s h e ever tell you to get away from her? 

A No . And we never exch an ged words . 

C 148 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 49 

Q To your knowledge, was l aw enforcement ever call ed on t hat 

alleged incident on May 22 , 2024? 

A No. 

Q There's been various allegations about a belt. Have you 

ever whipped the boys with a bel t? 

A So , yes , I have once . And i n the last parenti ng agreement 

when we separated in 20 1 8 , there's a secti on in there that 

says no physical abuse or no s panking t h e children, however 

it's worded . That's basical ly what it's stating . When 

Kylea and I got back together in 201 9, i t got t o a poi nt 

where she would get frustrated with the children, and she 

looked at me one day and she said You need t o spank the 

kids . Be cause I got h ome from work and she was all worked 

up so s he begged and begged me to spank the k i ds . I 

reiterated to her at that point , I thought I wasn ' t 

supposed to . That ' s what this agreement says from whe n we 

went through our problems in 2018 . So I spanked the kids 

per her request . 

Afte r a time went by, I s topped b e cause p r e tty soon I 

started to r e alize that it was b ecoming a normal thi ng that 

s he would ask me t o do i t . And it was a matter of maybe 

making the kids think I 'm a bad guy and she never lays a 

hand on them, but it was her requesting it . 

Q The r e was an a lle ge d incident wher e you s l apped I sai ah when 

he was 1 8 months o ld. Is there an y truth t o tha t? 
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A False. 

Q "When was the last t i me you saw the minor chil dren? 

A I believe it was May 23rd after we were -- that aft ernoon 

we were in here for the custody court . 

Q As it concerns you ever spanking the children, when was t he 

last time you would have ever spanked t he children? 

A It's been years ago. 

Q Rigo, I direct your attention to Exhibit 107. "What i s 

Exhibit 107? 

A That is me reaching out to United Services [sic ] t o see if 

I could have a supervi sed visitation t o -- with my 

children. 

Q And i s thi s a fair and accurate copy of that conve rsat i on 

you had with United Families? 

A Yes . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I would offer Exhi bit 107 into 

evidence. 

MR. NELSON: No objecti on. 

THE COURT: 107 is received . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Rigo , what were you tol d by 

United Families as it concerned supervi sed visitation gi ven 

this pending protect ion order? 

A Well , it state s it here, right here, because of the 

r estraining orde r and the allegati on invol ving guns that 

they would n ot t ake me as a client . 
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Q And given that, have you been able to see either of the 

children? 

A I have not seen the chil dren f or five to S l X weeks . 

Q How has that been for you? 

A Heartbreaking . 

Q I would di rect your attention to Exhibit 109. Ther e ' s 

screenshots . \lllhat i s Exhi bit 109? 

A That lS Teyo, my youngest son, attempting t o call me. 
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Q \lllhat i s the s e cond exhibit, Ri go , that's Tovar Bates stamp 

0208? 

A That is a f ter me not bei ng abl e to answer because of the 

order in place. 

Q Pue 

A Him trying t o get ahol d of me through text . 

Q Pue these screenshots fair and a ccur ate copie s of the 

screenshot of the phone call you did not answer and the 

text message of h im saying t o you that you di d not r e s pond 

t o ? 

A Yes , because of the t empora ry prot ect ion order . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I would of fer Exhi bi t 109 i nto 

e videnc e . 

THE COURT: Mr . Nelson ? 

MR. NELSON: No obj ection . 

THE COURT: 109 i s received . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ri go, what i s your bel ief wi thin your 
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opinion of why this protection order was f i l ed? 

A I believe i t was to a l ienate me f r om t he kids because 

that ' s all I' ve seen since Kylea moved out of the house 

s ince February 9th. I ' ve a ttempted t h r ough text messages 

many times to see my chi ldren and just t o be tol d no . And 

f o r h er to g e t back in the h ouse . 

Q Just so the Court under stands, prior to t h e p r otection 

order being filed, who r esided i n the residence? 

A I did . 

Q And when you had parenting t i me , is tha t where you a nd the 

boys wou ld res ide? 

A Correct. At 2925 Orchard Lane . 

Q The r e was an a lle gation as i t concerns the all eged head 

injury on or about Apr i l 3 0th of 2024 . Do you recall that 

testimony? 

A Yes , I do . 

Q "What , i f a nything, do you take issue wi th Ms . Wagner ' s 

testimon y as it concern s that incident? 

A Ask that again . 

Q I'll ask i t t his way. Was l aw enforcement p r esent when you 

went to go p i ck up Isai ah? 

A Yes , it was . So that d a y I was supposed to h ave visitation 

from 3 : 00 t o 8 : 00 p . m., a five-hour visit . She sent me a 

copy of that same picture from the school nurse . I r each ed 

ou t to her a n d I said, Hello . I will be over there at 
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3:00 o'clock to pick them up. I was picking up -- supposed 

to pick them up from school anyways, but then since that 

incident happened with Isaiah, he was in Kylea ' s care. I 

called law enforcement because I knew there was going t o be 

issues getting him once I arrived at t heir house so I 

called law enforcement to just basicall y keep the peace . 

Upon arrival, Jeanne opened the door, and there was 

some confrontation there between me and her, the way she 

it just -- that's beside t he point . Kyl ea final l y came t o 

the door minutes l ater and started to argue wi t h the 

officer tha t he was n ot -- she was not t o l et me take him. 

And I said, I'm a -- I ' m a parent. I can take care of h i m 

just like you are , even if it means I go back to my h ouse 

to hang out with him. To me it was valuing the t ime I was 

going t o get with h im that I very rare l y got . 

She's used the s e excuses pri or t o this that they were 

ill t o keep them f r om me and I just wasn ' t going to have it 

one more time. So that's why I t ook the steps I d i d , to g o 

ove r with law enforcement . .And even t he off icer 

r e -informed h e r and restate d to h e r, If you have a custodyr 

I can ' t do anything; this is a c ivil matter. I would 

usually suggest t o people that you f ollow the a greement 

that you have . 

And then f i nally she invite d us to go in the house . I 

looked a t the offi cer and I said, I won ' t go in the house 
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by myself. I refuse t o get cornered in a home that's not 

miner wh e r e her par e nts are i n and she i s and ou t side of my 

c omfort zone . Well, then onc e the off icer had an i nvi t e, 

that was my, Okay. I'm goin g t o be a ccompanied by him. We 

went i nside. Kylea stood in the bedr oom 5 fee t f r om me. 

I walked up t o Isaiah and I asked I saiah, How are you 

f e elin g? He kind of l i ke tuc ked a l ittle bit i n the sheets 

and he was like, Wellr I'm all ri ght. I mean, he was ki nd 

of giving an answer. l'illd I sai d, Wellr you ' re suppos ed t o 

have t i me wi th Dad todayr buddy. Do y o u wan t to go wi t h? 

l'illd next thing I knew, he jumped out of -- he jumped up i n 

the bed as if nothing -- he never s howed signs of me t o 

that anything wa s ser iou s . If he was that hurt, he should 

have went t o the hosp i tal and got x-rays if i t wa s a he ad 

t r auma deal. 

I said -- I t o l d Isa i ah , Wellr we got to get going or 

we want to get goi ngr you know. Teyo ' s goi ng with me. If 

you wan t to come wi t h mer you have to make a d e cision . He 

looks at me and says I want to gor and he j umped out of bed 

and went with me . By t he t i me we get to -- we got to the 

h ouse, hung ou t for a l ittle b i t , and the boys had a 

baseball game tha t a f t ernoon. I r eached out t o their 

baseball coach and t old him -what had happened with Isaiah 

and he sai d he had a l ready spoke to Kyl ea . So, therefore, 

Kylea had already spoken to the baseball coach so they knew 
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to look for any signs if there was anyth i ng really wr ong 

with him. He played i n t he baseball game that whole 

afternoon, never showed s i gns o f anything. I never heard 

anything of this after. 

Q You hear d al legations from Ms. Wagner 's mother, correct? 

A Correct. 

Q Have you ever told her that you were suicidal? 

A No . 

Q Have you e ver told her that you have a a nger problem? 

A No . 

Q Did you ever get stuck in the middle of Kylea Wagner ' s 

parents wh e n they 'd get in arguments and you had t o then 

mediate b etween both of t h em? 

A Yes . 

Q Do you believe that that c aused tension between you and 

them? 

A Yes . 

Q Was ther e -- were there ever any times when you reached out 

to J e rry Wagner as t o concerns , issu e s , t hat you and Kyle a 

had? 

A Yes , I did . 

Q V'Jhen was the last t i me you would have done so? 

A I belie ve it was e a r ly Dec- -- e a r ly to mid-Decembe r . I 

me t him a t t h e Open Bible Church parking l ot . I parked my 

pickup there an d jumped in his . We drove around f o r 
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approximately an h our. That's all the time he had because 

he had to get h ome to his wife . I talked to h i m as mine 

and Kylea's relationshi p was already on rough terms. All 

I basically told him was I need advice on how to make 

t hings work with your daugh t er. I need to understand her 

more . .And that's all our conversati on was , was me t rying 

to get somebody e l se's view, somebody that knew her better 

than I did, which is her dad. 

Q Was there ever a time you reached out to Jerry Wagner as t o 

concerns you beli eving Kylea was going to harm herself? 

A Yes , I did. 

Q .And what happened during that interaction? 

A I received a me ssage f r om Kylea . She had possession of 

Teyo. I was walking around at Sioux Park with I sai ah and 

she sent me a message that was suicidal -- I believed was 

suicidal. I calle d Jerryjay and I tol d h i m because I had 

spoke to somebody e l se -- it had to be a fast thing because 

you see something and sometimes you onl y h ave so much time 

to r e act. I could have called l aw enforcement or I -- but 

I chose to call him and g i v e them the benefit of the d oubt . 

I asked him, When did you last talk to Kylea? He 

said, It ' s been an hour . He was at Menar ds when I t alked 

to him, a c tually . .And then I said, Well r have you talked 

to Kyl ea at all? So h e said, Hold on . Let me call her. I 

read that direc t t ext message t o h im so he knew exactly 
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wh a t s h e t old me i n the tex t message . He -- I l et h im get 

off the phone so he could reach out to her . He called me 

b a ck and said, Everything ' s fine . Her and her mom just got 

i n to an argume nt . Te nsions are tight . Jeanne's been sick 

and t here ' s just -- she needed to get out of the house . 

Q Beyond l aw enforceme n t bei ng call ed e ssen t i a lly to keep the 

peace, h as t h ere ever been law e n forceme n t called as it 

con cerns a n y a llegati on o f you h armin g o r pot ent ially 

h a rming Ms . Wagner and the boys? 

A No . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I have an a u dio r ecording . 

I kn ow the Cou r t's already t o l d me I can a ppr oach, but 

I' m g o ing to grab what ' s been premarked as an exhibit 

wi t hin the ori g inal bin der . I ' m hopeful that 

THE COURT: Do what you need t o do . 

MR. NOONEY: -- I can operate the t echnology. I ' ve done it 

in front of Judge Wipf Pfeifle so I' m hoping it will work 

today. 

THE COURT: Sure . 

MR. NOONEY: (Complied . ) 

THE COURT: Do you need a microph one o r anything for that 

or --

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I -- I have it p l ugge d int o 

Source 2 . I t doe s not want t o s e em to play. I guess since 

there is just a speaker, if I coul d j ust p l ug i n . 
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THE COURT: Well, l et ' s d o thi s . You need t o l a y 

foundation for i t wi th y ou r c l ient -- or I ' m a s suming i t ' s 

wi t h Mr . Tova r her e . Why don ' t you take car e o f tha t p a r t 

and then we 'll see if we can f igure ou t t he t echnica l p a rt . 

MR. NOONEY: Th an k you, Your Hon or . I a pol ogi z e f o r the 

inconvenienc e . 

THE COURT: You' re fin e . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Ri g o , I ' m g oi n g t o pla y a n a udio 

rec ording . I f you would p lease listen to t his a udio 

r ecording . 

A Ye s . 

THE COURT: We ll, l e t' s do t he f oundat i on fi rst. See if 

the r e ' s an obj e cti on before you play i t . 

(Audi o recording pub l i s h ed a t this t i me . ) 

MR. NELSON: Obj ection, Your Hon or . I' d h ave i t s t opped 

and get the f oundation f i rst . 

THE COURT: I t hink h e ' s just doi ng t h at wi th h is c lient 

r i gh t here . 

Why don ' t you h it t he pau s e button . 

MR. NOONEY: (Complie d . ) 

THE COURT: How l on g is it? 

MR. NOONEY: I t is 2 minu t es and 57 seconds, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Mr . Ne lson, have you s een t h is or heard this 

r e cording? Are you f amil iar wi th i t ? 

MR. NELSON: I don ' t bel i eve so, n o . 
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MR. NOONEY: Your Honor, if I may l ay some foundation? 

THE COURT: Please . 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Rigo, did you record audi o on or about 

May 22 , 2024? 

A Yes , I did. 

Q When did you r ecord it and where were you at? 
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A I recorded i t the morning at Wil derness Park. I was by my 

p ickup t rying to tal k Isaiah into getti ng out of the 

pickup. 

Q Beyond that audio recording, did you record then an 

incident that followed that? 

A Yes, I did. On ce I returned from the school and rode back 

and was at the park speaking to Isaiah when he was s i tting 

next to his mother on the -- at the p l ayground, I recorded 

that. 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , if I may just bri e fly play 

Audio Recording Number 2 to l ay additional foundation . 

THE COURT: I guess that ' s what I thought you were doi ng 

the r e . 

MR. NOONEY: The r e ' s two r e cordings , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Okay. Yeah, go ahead . 

(Audio recording publ ished at thi s time . ) 

THE COURT: I s that en ough, sir, f or you to b e f amiliar 

with i t , Mr . Tovar? 

THE WITNESS : Yes . 
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THE COURT: All right . 
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Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Are both a u d i o recordings, Rigo , fa i r a nd 

a ccura te depiction s of wh at was recorded during the t ime 

you took t he audio r ecor d i ng? 

A Yes . 

Q Do you h a v e per son al kn owledge as i t concerns the 

inc ide n ces t h a t led t o t hes e recordin g s ? 

A Yes . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I would offer Exhi b i t 1 06, which 

a r e the t wo a u d i o r ecor din gs tha t I have p l ayed f or 

Mr. Tovar t o liste n t o . 

MR. NELSON: No objecti on . 

THE COURT: Mr . Nelson ? 

MR. NELSON: No objection. 

THE COURT: I gu e ss -- so you thi nk t hat you have p l ayed it 

and been able to p lug it in and get i t to come over the 

speakers h e r e or t e l l me t h is . I s i t goi n g to be clear 

enough? If you just b end the microphone over tha t t hing, 

are we going t o be able to h ear i t well e n ough? 

MR. NOONEY: I h ope so , You r Hon o r . 

THE COURT: Let ' s t ry it . 

MR. NOONEY: Okay. 

(Audi o recording publi s h ed at this t ime . ) 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Rigo, wh at were you try i ng t o accompl i sh 
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A I was t r ying to get Isai ah motivated to go to school and 

conti nue the bike ride we set to do that morning . 

Q \l'Jhy did you r ecor d this i nci dent? 

COURT REPORTER: Please pull that mic i n front of you . 

THE WITNESS: (Complied . ) 

1 61 

A At t his point Kylea had already been confrontati onal with 

me so I got t o t he point whe r e I start ed recording any t ime 

I wa s around he r . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , if I may play the second audio 

r ecording. 

(Audio recording publi shed a t t his time . ) 

THE COURT: Can you start it over, p l ease . 

MR. NOONEY: (Compli ed. ) 

(Audio recordi ng published at t his t i me . ) 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) Rigo, what was t he purpose of you goi ng 

back to the park on May 22 , 2024? 

A My p i ckup was t he r e . I parked there, unl oaded the b i ke, 

rode the bike to t he school , had to return to my vehicle to 

proceed to go to work . 

Q \l'Jho was present vvhen you returned to the park? 

A Kylea and Isaiah sitting on the edge of the playground. 

Q Did you ever yell at her? 

A No , I d i d not . 

Q Did you ever yell at I saiah? 
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A No, I did not. I only asked f o r him i n t h i s same voi ce t o 

come over and talk to me, please . 

Q Just so it ' s c l ear, is the female in t h e a udi o recordi ng 

Kylea Wagner ? 

A Yes, i t is. 

Q .And the male , the d eeper voi c e , wou l d be yourse l f, corre c t ? 

A Correct . 

Q Was law enforcement ever called as i t concer ns tha t 

inci d ent, if you know? 

A Not to my knowledge . 

Q The d ay p r ior t o you f i l ing the Verified Mo t ion f o r Change 

o f Custody, were you i nvited t o go to Fl ori da? 

A Yes , I was . 

Q Who invited you t o go to Flo r i da? 

A Kylea Wagner . 

Q .And had you pre vi ously b een invit e d? 

A Yes . 

MR. NOONEY: I h a ve n othing further on Direc t at thi s time. 

THE COURT: Cross? 

MR. NELSON: Thank you . 

CROSS-EXAM:INATION 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Mr . Tov ar, h ow many times did Kylea ask 

you t o leave the park there on that audi o? 

A Two . Three . I don ' t remember . A few . 

Q How much do you we i gh? 
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MR. NOONEY: Obj ecti on; i rrel evant , Your Honor. Fi rst off 

that ' s --

THE COURT: Overru l ed . 

MR. NOONEY: -- i nappropriate to ask t h e Court -- to ask . 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) How much d o you weigh? 

A 280 . 

Q Have you ever thr own Kylea d own and choked her? 

A No, I have not . 

Q You ' re physically able to do that, though, aren ' t you? 

A Yeah . If you ' re goi ng off s i ze . I bei ng a ma le versus a 

f emal e . 

Q So when Kyle a asks you t o do something and you don ' t d o it , 

does she fear you? 

MR. NOONEY: Objection; call s for speculation. 

THE COURT: He can answer to the extent he knows . 

Overruled. 

A Ask that again . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) When Kylea asks you to do something and 

you don ' t do i t , can she b e come fearful of you? 

A She never tol d me she was fearful of me . 

Q Well --

A She could if you ' re g oing off size and gender, but she 

n ever tol d me s h e was fearful o f me . 

Q So for you to understand her aft er, what, 1 1 years of a 
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rela tion shi p , she has t o ver bally e xpress hersel f before 

you understand her? I s t hat what you want this Court t o 

bel ieve? 

A I -- say tha t a g a i n . 

Q V'Jhat I h e ard you say t h a t you -- t o understand her b e i ng 

f e arful o f you, she would have to say some t hing to you? 

1 64 

A Most of the t i mes -- I guess because we wer e st i ll i n a 

r e l a tionshi p o r a t t hat poi nt we wer en't , but we ' d known 

e a ch other for ye ars . I wou ld have t h ought if there was an 

issue, you would hav e brought it up . 

Q You mean h e r ? 

A Yeah. Verbally she shou ld have said somet h i ng . 

Q All right . On De c embe r 30th of 2023, had you b een 

con s uming alcohol? 

A I had a Firebal l shot that I bou ght i n Spearfish when I 

l e f t from that baske tball tou rnament, for New Year ' s Eve 

t ournament , of t h e ch i ldr en . 

Q I t hink you a l so said you bou ght a s i x - pack . 

A Yeah . .And I don ' t recall how much of t hat I d rank . 

Q All r i ght . 

A I don ' t know i f I drank on e or two o r -­

Q Or six? 

A Yeah . 

Q I s t h a t a yeah? 

A I didn ' t say I drank six . I said it could be one t o six . 
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Q All right . .And how does alcohol affect you? 

A Well , as a heavyset per son, more alcohol probably would 

affect -- I don't know. The same way it affects e veryb ody. 

Q Do you h ave inhibitions? 

A You change . Just l i ke with drugs and alcohol, it c h a nges 

your mentality. It a ffects e v e rybod y t he s ame . 

Q All right . .And how regularly had you consumed alcohol ? 

MR. NOONEY: Objecti on; r elevance, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Ove rruled. 

A Very rarely. 

Q (BY MR. NOONEY) During you r relationshi p wit h Kylea , have 

there been other times in which you' ve consumed alcoholic 

b everage s? 

A Yes . I've con s umed alcoh o l throu ghout t h e years . 

Q All right . .And would there be arguments between the two o f 

you ? 

A I wouldn' t say be -- there was arguments i nvol v i ng a l cohol 

and n o t invo lving alcoh o l. 

Q All right . But at t ime s when the alcoh o l is i nvolved, d o 

you become mo r e argumentative ? 

A No . 

Q So it does n 't aff ect you in t hat r espect? 

A Well , I ' m sure it does . It affe cts your s t a t e of mind. 

That ' s what a l coh o l does . 

Q Oh, okay. All r i ght. So on thi s evening , December 30th of 

C 165 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

1 0 

1 1 

1 2 

13 

14 

1 5 

1 6 

1 7 

1 8 

1 9 

2 0 

2 1 

2 2 

2 3 

24 

2 5 

2 023, you' d been drin king and you wer e i n the r oom wh e r e 

t h e gun s a fe was, correct? 

A Yes . Alone . 

Q But s he heard you open up the gun saf e . 

A Yes. 

Q .And you pulle d ou t the .AR-15 . 

A I alre ady h a d i t out. 

Q All right. Well, y ou had it i n you r h ands t hen . 

A Yes. 

Q .And you had been argu i ng, the t wo of you? 
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A We h adn't r e a lly s p oken t hat day, othe r t h an a f ew wo rds a t 

the t ou r n ament. Fr om the time I got h ome, I d on ' t r e c a ll 

spe aking t o h e r . 

Q Oka y . So you wer e angry wi t h h e r. 

MR. NOONEY: Ob j ect ion; misstatemen t o f t h e t estimon y , 

Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Overrul e d . 

A I wouldn 't s a y I was angry . By t h is poi nt I h ad a l ready 

b e en s leeping i n my chil d r en ' s room t o a void conf ront ation 

wi t h her . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) But you weren ' t at t his t i me, thou gh? 

A I wasn ' t slee ping , but I was keeping t o my s e lf t o prevent 

con fron tati on i n f r ont o f the chil d ren . 

Q Oh. So ins t ead of t rying to avoid havi ng a con f r on tation 

with Ky l ea, you ' re s ayi n g t h at you weren ' t i n h er f a ce, but 
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you sai d you went t o a gun saf e a fte r d rin ki ng a l c oholic 

beverages and g o t out an AR- 15 . 

A Yeah . The s cope . Yeah . 

Q All right. You had t h e gun, thou gh, too -­

A Yes . 

Q -- didn ' t y ou? 

MR. NOONEY: Ob j ecti on ; asked and an s wered . 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) And s o i f y ou wer e hol ding t his a nd 
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could y ou under stand h ow a per son l ooki ng a t an oth e r person 

with a gun c an be fearfu l? 

A Yeah, I understand t hat. 

Q So d o you t hink s h e was fea rfu l of you a t -- on tha t 

momen t? 

A I d on 't believe s o . 

Q Okay. Le t ' s go b ack t o t h e p ark . You get out of y ou r 

truc k ; you ' re wal king towar ds h e r . She ' s on the bench, 

c orrect? 

A Correct . 

Q And s h e really h as asked you not to be in her space 

basi cally , corr ect? 

A Yeah . I t was an a c t, I believ e . 

Q And she asked that a number of times , correct? 

A Correct . 

Q So i n stead of walking away, you continue t o approach her, 
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right? 

A I didn ' t approac h h e r ; I approached Isai ah . 

Q Oh. Well, they were t oget her , r ight? 
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A Ye ah. I -- y ou e ven heard in the r ecord ing where I t o l d 

h er t hat I was n o t tal k i ng t o her; I wa s tal k i ng t o I s a i ah . 

Q .All right. But, Mr. Tova r , Kyl e a and Isaiah are ther e on 

t h e ben c h t oget her, an d y ou're appr oach i n g both of them. 

A Yes. Isaiah, wh o stayed the n ight with me t he n i ght p r i o r 

s o I t h ought I had a r i gh t t o appr oach my chi l d -­

Q Okay. 

A -- becau s e he jus t s pent t h e n i ght with me . 

Q I 'm j ust -- I ' m trying to get into y ou r , I guess, rat i onale 

f o r approaching h e r wh en s h e ' s aske d you p lease n ot t o come 

n e ar h e r . 

A Th e p a r t you didn't get bef o r e t hat a ud i o r ecordi n g , I put 

the truck in par k . I a sked Isaiah f rom afar wh ile I was 

still in the p i c kup , I sai ahr come herer p l eas e . I want to 

get a hug a nd k i s sr a nd s ay goodbye r an d t r y t o t alk h im 

into goi ng t o school . She s t a r t e d yelling and say i ng, No . 

He ' s n o t coming over ther e . So I att empt e d t o have h i m 

come over t o my vehicle to g i v e h im a hug p r ior to t h a t . 

Q Okay . Did you a sk h er t o b r i ng h im over? 

A No . Sh e j u s t d i rectly start ed res pondi ng t h at, no, he ' s 

n o t g o i ng over the r e and yellin g acr oss t h e par k . 

Q .All right . Mr . Tovar, d i d you a sk h e r t o d i rect I s a i a h t o 
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go give your daddy a hug? 

A I said, I j ust want to talk t o him; just have him come over 

here . 

Q All right. I just want -- I want t o make sure we 

understand what was going on here because i t's jus t an 

audio, r ight, that you have ? 

A Yes, that's t r ue. 

Q And on that audio we can hear h ow many times s h e asked you 

not to come towards her and you stil l did, t hough , correct? 

A Correct . 

Q The January 8, 2 024 , situation 

understand what your testimony 

I want t o make sure I 

the effect of i t , wha t 

you think the e ffect of your testimony is on Direct . Pue 

you saying on January 8 , 2 024 , you left the house on your 

own volition? 

A Under what? 

Q On January 8, 2 024 , you lef t the h ouse that you were 

residing in with Kylea and you left on your own v olit i on, 

correct? 

A I was at work t h at day . Following work -- I did not get 

h ome at 1: 00 a . m. I went to Founders Pa rk and wal ked. At 

that age -- a t that point in time , I ' d been seeing a 

counselor and h e s u ggest ed I start exercising, taki ng care 

of my heal th . I h ad just gotten h ome from a wal k and 

actually got h ome a t abou t 8 : 32 p .m. the n ight of the 8th. 
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Q Okay. I' m still trying to foll ow you . Januar y 8 , 2024 , is 

Monday, correct? 

A I don't h ave a calendar in front of me to know wh a t day o f 

the week it was. 

Q Well , Exhibit --

A January o r February 8th? 

Q J anuary 8th . 

Wasn ' t this the weekend that you -­

A Oh, sorry. I was on a dif fe rent subject. 

Q All right. So January 8th, this was t h e weekend tha t you 

c ame home on a Friday and you wer e dri nki ng that weekend, 

correct? 

A Yeah . I had drinks Friday night probably. 

Q And Satu rday? 

A No . 

Q You didn 't go to work on the 8th, though, did you? 

A No . I don ' t work weekends . 

Q No . The 8th i s a Monday. 

A The 8th I d i d go to wor k . No . I didn't stay i n the r oom 

three consecutive d ay s and the r eason f or me staying in 

that bedroom three cons ecutive days, once again, was t o 

avoi d confront a tion . 

Q Because you're afraid of what you might d o t o Kylea? 
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A Not because I'm afra i d , because I was t r yi ng t o avoi d t hose 

kind of a r gument s in front of t he chi ldren a s they were 

ongoi ng . 

Q You 're afrai d of wh at you might do to t he kids? 

A I ' m not . Thos e are my chi l dren . I would protec t them with 

e ve rything . 

Q Do you get angry? 

A Ever ybody gets angry s o, yeah, I do . 

Q .And you ' ve gotten ang ry at Kylea bef or e ? 

A Yes . As s he does with me . 

Q All right . .And with you r anger, you physi cally hur t her ? 

A No . 

Q You get v i ol ent , though, don ' t you? 

A No , I would n ot say that . 

Q You ' ve h i t objec ts, haven ' t you ? 

A In t he past . 

Q You ' ve hurt your arms , haven ' t you? 

A Yeah . .And those a c cusat i on s of the scar s on my a rms 

I ' ve worked i n t he d rone indus t ry for 12 years of my lif e . 

.And i f anybody has worked a r ound t he drone i ndustry, you ' ll 

underst and t he scars that a person has . 

Q You ovm a pist ol . 

A Correct . 

Q I t ' s got a l aser on it . 

A Correct . 
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Q And you have a -- vvhat, a conceal ed weapons permit? I s 

that even --

A Yes , I do . 

Q I s tha t even n ecessar y nowadays? 

A I --
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MR. NOONEY: I object , You r Honor; specul ation, relevance . 

THE COURT: Overru led. 

A I got -- I got my concea led carry permit before i t was a 

before South Dakota was a right- to- carry s t a t e so it was 

relevant at the time I got it . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) .All right. You don't need one t oday, 

thou gh ? 

A Th at ' s l ike getting r i d of my drive r ' s l icense because I 

don' t t h i n k I n eed it . 

Q .All right. 

A I do -- I choose t o carry one b e cause -- I mean, to carry 

in South Dakota you don ' t need it , but i f I go to Wyoming, 

I can still con ceal carry so, yes , I do use it . 

Q Okay. You go to Wyoming then . 

A Yes . I have friends there . 

Q Okay. I' m j ust trying t o understand where you are at with 

this need f or this weapon, this concealed weapon . It ' s a 

pistol . 

A Yeah . 

Q With a laser on it . 
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A Correct. 

MR. NOONEY: Obj ection; asked and answered. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) And -­

THE COURT: Overru l ed . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) And with the laser on it , i t directs a 

beam. 

A Wi th t h e laser . 

Q Correct. And t h at beam can go t hrough wi ndows? 

A Don ' t know. I guess I ' ve never teste d it . I t works the 

same way as a handheld l aser pointer . 

1 73 

Q I' m t rying t o under s t and . Why wou ld you t a ke a p i c ture of 

a d r awer that was a drawer f or Kylea and she kept her 

memorabil ia from h er b r other, take a picture of a drawer 

for what purpose? 

A Because when I was filed this order, t he allegations were 

on there a nd right when somet h i ng was said about a l aser, I 

knew exactly what was being talked about . 

Q So you woul d h a ve taken the picture when? 

A I can ' t give you a dat e unle ss it ' s on it . 

Q So you don ' t know when you t ook the p icture? 

A I don ' t remember the exact date . 

Q And the what you ' re c laiming t o be in tha t drawer was a 

pointer, a laser pointer, correct? 

A Yes . 

Q You didn ' t bring that with you here today, did you? 
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A No. I don't have it. I t's still in that same spot a t the 

residence . 

Q Okay. Well, you -- I think y ou testified you g o t i t a t 

Menards or something? 

A Correct. "When I was with the two chil dren . 

Q .All right. And you didn't g e t another one f o r t oday ' s 

testimony, did you? 

A~-

Q You don 't have any other samples, d o you , o f t hes e l ase rs? 

A ~ -

Q Okay. Well, you don 't col lect these, d o y ou? 

A No. That 's -- I bought one at that time because I d i dn 't 

ovvn on e . 

Q Oh . So you bought one for the purpose of ma king thi s 

picture t o defend ag a i nst this all e gation? 

A False . 

MR. NOONEY: Objec tion, You r Hon o r ; t h at ' s a miss tatement 

of the testimony . 

THE COURT: Overrule d . He c an ans wer if he knows . 

A False . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) .All r ight. Then on De c ember -- or, e xcuse 

me , Feb r u ary 9 , 2 02 4, you were i ntoxicat ed again, correct? 

A I do not recall being i ntoxicated a t that time . 

Q You were h ome t h at t h a t evening . 

A Febru a r y 9th, t h a t is the e v ening t hat I sai d I got home a t 
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8:30, and Kylea and the boys were pass ed ou t i n her bedroom 

when I got h ome . 

Q When y ou --

A I did n ot get h ome a t 1:00 a .m., as this sta t es . 

Q When y ou s a y "p a ssed ou t," you mean t h e y wer e sleepi ng . 

A The y were s l eepi ng, c o rrect . 

Q All r i ght . And you h a d the puppies i n t he hous e , c o rrec t? 

A I d on't kn ow wher e t he puppi es went. I got h ome a nd I went 

d irectly upstairs . If that ' s what I d i d , then I didn ' t 

p a ss t he b a t h room wher e t h e puppies were . 

Q But t he puppies --

A Th e puppi es wer e never my responsibilit y s o I had n o rea s on 

t o ch eck t h em. I -- that wa s t h e -- somethi ng we t a l ked 

abou t from t h e t ime they were born. 

Q And you g e t ang r y abou t t hat , d on ' t you? 

A I f eel b e i ng accu s e d of f a l s e accusat ions would a nger mos t 

peopl e . 

Q Well, you d i dn ' t like the puppi es . I gue ss t h at ' s my 

que stion . 

A I d i dn ' t like wh at t hey wer e doing to our home . 

Q Okay. I n stead of all owin g Ky l ea to put them i n the gar age , 

you forc ed h er just t o put t hem in the bat hroom. 

A I did not t el l Kylea she could n ot put t hem in the garage . 

The garage was f ull . There was n o ope n floor space . I 

told h e r if s h e wou l d put t h em i n there, she had to g o out 
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there and make r oom for them herself because t hey were not 

my puppies to be doing anything with . 

Q That's the and that's the type of relationshi p you had 

with Kylea, i sn 't it? 

A We were already on our falling- out at that poi n t, sir . 

Q You d on't h e lp e ach other out, d o you? 

A It g o t to the point where we wouldn't. That's why we 

parted ways. 

Q Yeah. You knew that long before thi s incident in the p a r k , 

correct? 

A At the incid ent in the park, she was a lready moved out o f 

the residence. 

Q Yeah. I n othe r words , s h e d idn' t t rust you then , d i d she ? 

A As I d id n ot trust her . 

Q Well, you knew that, didn't you? 

A Knew what? 

Q That she didn ' t trust you . 

A I d i d n ot kn ow t h a t. 

Q Oh . So on the 2 0 what is it -- the 22nd of May of t his 

year, you though t she trusted you? 

MR. NOONEY: Objecti on ; argumentat i ve . 

THE COURT: Su s t a ined. Rephrase that . 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) On May 22, 2 024 , did you believe Kylea 

trus t ed you? 

A Yeah . Sh e h ad n ever -- she h ad never told me o therwise . 
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Q Well --

A We have two children together . You would thi nk you would 

mutually trust each other enough for t h e sake o f the 

children. 

Q Okay. But you said y ou were on the outs ; you were arguing, 

corre ct? 

A Correct . 

Q And so y ou wer e arguing because there wer e t hings tha t you 

guys d idn 't s ee e ye to e y e on . 

A Correct . We had c ormnon relationship arguments and 

disagreements. 

Q All right. But they would end up in shouting matches, 

c orrect ? 

A Sure . 

Q And you ' d get f rustrated? 

A Sure . 

Q And during those f r u s tration s , you would express anger? 

A Incorrect . 

Q Oh . Okay . So you ' re -- you d on 't g e t a ngry wh en y ou ' r e 

frustrate d? 

A I d o , but i t depends wha t level of an ger you 're s p e a ki ng 

o f . I get upset . 

Q You me a n - -

A "Ange r " i s a str ong word . I would say I get mor e upset . 

Q All right . You get upset . 
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A Yeah. 

Q And you got upset when you hit that door that on e even i ng 

when you wer e upset wi th Kylea. 

A Eleven years ago? 

Q Well , sure. Let's start there first. 

A Sure . 

Q Because we can go through a lot of other -­

A Yeah. 

Q .All r ight . So you g e t angry and y ou e x p r e ss yours el f by 

physically h i tting s ome t h i ng . 

A Yes . 

Q Okay . And you' ve gotten angry with her i n t he past when 

s h e r e a lly wasn ' t wanting t o have s e x with you , corre c t ? 

A No. That was n' t really the case . 

Q Oh . 

MR. NOONEY: Obj e cti on; b e yond the scope of Direct , 

Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) So s exual relations a re i mport ant in a 

r e lationshi p , correct? 

A Correc t . 

Q Okay . And the r e a re times wh en s h e wasn ' t wanting to h ave 

sex, bu t you d i d . Would you agree? 

A I t worke d both ways ; that ' s correct . 

Q Okay. And you f o r c e d you rse l f on h e r wh e n thos e moments 
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A Fal se. 

Q Well -- all right . Let's s ay you got angry with her and 

you hit her . Would you agree? 

A No. I 've never hit her. 

Q You've choked h e r. 

A No. 

Q You pushed her down on the bed . 

A No. 

17 9 

Q You pushed her off the couch, t hat other incident . Do -­

A Fals e. 

Q you remember that? 

You used a belt on the chi l dren . 

A Per her request. 

Q And that's -- yeah. That's -- I ' m glad you b r ou ght tha t 

up. You said that her r equest lS for you t o punish the 

children with a belt. I s t hat what you 're saying? 

A Yes . 

Q Okay. How many time s has that happened? 

A I d on' t recal l h ow many t i me s , but I have not d one i t in 

years because I started not i c ing that i t was a common 

occu rrence an d --

THE COURT: Mr . Tovar -- I ' m sorry. I ' l l l e t you finish 

your s e nte nce . Go ahead . 

A And I was n ot going t o be the only parent -- it was 
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s t a rting t o -- I was star ting t o s ee what was goi ng on, 

where I would get home and ther e would b e issues going on, 

and she wou ld j ust directly tell me, she ' d say You n eed to 

who op tho s e kids ; the y get on my n e rvesr and just angry 

h erself a nd ma kin g -- a sking me to do it. And i t got t o a 

point a f t er do i ng that s everal times , I starte d s eei ng what 

wa s going on . I sai d , I can ' t con t inue to do this . I 

can 't c ontinue t o make my k i ds hate me because o f s omething 

I 'm doing for their mother t hat she doesn ' t want to do 

hersel f . She has a way of painting a p i cture i n the kids ' 

minds a nd I quit doi n g it. 

THE COURT: Mr . Tovar, wa i t un til Mr . Nelson i s fin i shed 

asking t h e question befor e you start to answer. Al l r igh t ? 

THE WI'INESS: Okay. Sorry. 

THE COURT: Yep . 

(BY MR. NELSON) 

No problem. 

So -- all r i ght. Now I get this p i c tur e 

t h at you ' re tryi ng t o pai nt that Kyl ea had r equested 

numerous times f o r you to beat the k i ds wi t h a gun belt , 

right? 

A I don ' t even believe it was a gun b e lt . 

Q Was i t some type of --

A Probably jus t a regular there ' s nothing special about a 

gun belt . We just c a l l i t a belt . I t ypi call y wore a belt 

as I h ave one now. 

Q All right . But it ' s your testimon y that Kyl ea is the one 

C 180 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

2 2 

2 3 

24 

2 5 

that i s the i nstigat o r b eh i nd thi s type of punishment? 

A Yes. 

Q And you' ve never raised that i ssue before, have you? 

A As -- r eword t h at . 

Q Well , you f i led a pet ition wi th the Cour t , didn ' t you? 

A Yeah . 

Q You n ever brou gh t t h at up, d i d you? 

A No . I'm j u s t speaki ng my par t n ow. 

Q Oh . Something that import ant , don ' t you t hink you would 

put it in a peti t i on f or custody? 

1 81 

MR. NOONEY: Obj ection; c al l s f o r specu l a t ion, You r Honor . 

Beyond the s cope of Direct. 

THE COURT: Ove rrul e d . He can answe r if h e knows. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) I f i t real l y happen ed, don ' t you t h i n k you 

would have put that in your petition? 

A If -- r eword t hat. 

Q Your testimony is that Kylea is the one that inst igat es all 

t his corporal punishmen t on your child r en i n defense of her 

claim t hat , no, you do it . That ' s why we are h e re is a 

p e t i t i on to pro t e ct the chi ldren and her --

A Yeah . 

Q -- and in y our defense now y ou ' v e tur ned it around, h aven ' t 

you? 

A Ye ah . 

MR. NOONEY: Objec tion; argumentative . 
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THE COURT: He can answer if he knows. Overrul ed. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) You've tur ned that around, haven 't you ? 

A I' ve only answered questions truthfully. 
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Q Oh . But, again, something that important you didn' t put in 

your petition for custod y . Are you making it up? 

A I guess I d i dn 't know I was going to get accuse d o f h i tt i ng 

the k i ds with a belt to do that prior to today . 

Q Well, you've admitted you've done that, though . 

A Yeah . As you're questioning me , but I didn 't know prior t o 

today to put i t into this paperwork . 

Q Now you ' re -- you 're going t o counseling. 

A Correct . 

Q Fo r what? 

A To -- because s ince February, sin ce she moved out wi th the 

children, I'm having a hard t i me as I've gotten very little 

to no v isitation, as you know. Now I've had no visi tat i on 

for almost six weeks, and it ' s been mentally tough and hard 

f or myself to be stri pped of my children wh en they ' re the 

world t o me, as it would be to any parent. 

I deci ded to go to counseling because it ' s somebody 

neutral to vent to , somebody that can coach you to become a 

better person . Just l ike I stated earlier, h e told me to 

start exercising and taking c are of myself and I d i d . 

Some times venting to fri ends and family doesn ' t cut it . 

You got t o have a mutual person and that ' s why I reached 
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Q Well , a nd I personally respect that and I think that 

sometimes we all c an use counseling, r i ght? 

A Correct. 

Q And s o y ou, obviously , felt the need for some type of 

f eedback from s omebody that might be trained, right? 

A I don't kn ow i f I was looking for feedback at the 

beginning. It was j ust somebod y t o vent t o , explai n my 

problems t o . 
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Q All right . The -- wi l l you agree t hat Kylea was seeki ng 

tha t from you f o r a number o f t imes -- a number o f years in 

the p ast? 

A l\s I had tol d h e r a lso in t h e past , I' d r equested for h e r 

to g o to counseling also . 

Q Oh . So you believe that you have not been able to see 

your child- -- you haven 't been able t o see your c h ild r en 

for f i ve o r s i x weeks becau se of these a llegations in the 

petition; i s tha t correct? 

A Correct . Because of t he t emporary prot e ction order . 

Q Did you seek any other a lte rnati ve forum o r supervisor for 

your parenting t ime? 

A To my knowledge, when I was given the paperwork by the 

deputies for the protect ion order, I understood the terms 

of t h e protection order . I followed the guideli nes of the 

protection order and reached out t o Uni ted Famil ies . 
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Outs ide of tha t, I didn't p l ay around wi t h because tha t was 

the only legal information on the order . I was not going 

t o get myself i n a bind that could e nd me in j ai l and 

v i o l a te the p r otecti on o r der. 

Q No . I wa sn 't asking for that . You ' ve had legal counsel 

for a number of months now, haven ' t you? 

A Correct . 

Q All right. So t h e r e were ot h e r remedies available t o you , 

though, like g e tting t he order changed to a ccommodate you 

and t he children? 

A Yeah. And I tried that . 

Q Oh. Di d y ou fil e a mot ion? 

MR. NOONEY: Obj e ction; argumentative, Your Honor . 

MR. NELSON: Well , maybe I missed somethin g . 

THE COURT: He just asked if he filed a mot i on . Overru l ed. 

Q (BY MR. NELSON) Did you fil e a motion to modif y the order? 

A Yes , we did . 

Q Okay. On t h e protecti on order? 

A On the cust ody. 

Q On the protection order? 

A ~ -

Q All right . So your theory about these proceedings here 

today is that Kylea is trying to gain some advant age over 

you over the h ou se . Is t h a t your theory? 

A Th at is a result of wh a t s h e did . 
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Q Well, I don't know h ow that' s accur a t e , i n that you both 

s t ill own t h e h ous e and you had possession of it for a 

number of months . 

Somebod y has to take care of the h ou se, cor rect? 

A Yeah . As I wa s prior to this TPO . 

1 85 

Q Well, I just want to understand -- I ' m tryi ng to understand 

your t heory of t h e motivation t h at Kylea has for t hese 

p r oceedings . You don't believe tha t they ' re sincere or 

b a sed upon any of the past ; you beli eve it ' s some 

fabrication on her part to gain access to the h ouse and 

h ave c ont rol over i t. I s that you r theor y? 

A Correct. 

MR. NELSON: All righ t . I have n o furthe r que s tions, 

You r Honor . 

THE COURT: Redirect? 

MR. NOONEY: Nothi ng f u rthe r on redirect, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: You may step d own, sir . 

(Wi tness excused. ) 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , if I may just h ave one moment with 

my cli ent --

THE COURT: Sure . 

MR. NOONEY: -- please . 

THE COURT: Sure . 

(Off the r e c o rd . ) 

THE COURT: We ' re goin g t o take a f i ve- minute rec ess . 

C 185 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

16 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

2 0 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 86 

We'll be back i n -- we ' l l be back a t 5: 2 5. 

(Recess taken from 5 : 21 p .m. t o 5 : 27 p .m. ) 

THE COURT: Sorry f or the del ay. I j ust wanted to t a l k 

with c ou r t staff a l i t t l e l ogi sti cally about what needs t o 

h appen, but I guess the question of t h e hour, Mr . Nooney, 

i s are you calling any more witnesses? 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor , I am don e with t h e Respondent . If 

I may j ust make a very b rie f argument -- o r if the Court is 

going to allow it , I ' l l j ust make quick argument a nd then 

t he Respondent will rest, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Well, my plan i s thi s . Mr . Ne l son, are you 

calling you r c lient in rebutta l ? I f t hat ' s t he case, I 

guess then, I me an, t hat ' s procedurall y where we woul d b e . 

MR. NELSON: We ' re good, Your Hono r . 

THE COURT: Okay . So then where we stand i s basically I ' m 

jus t goi ng to ask the -- just like I aske d f o r an openi ng 

earlier, I' m going t o ask for a brief closing a r gument f r om 

t h e attor neys . I s f i ve minutes e ach suffi c i ent? 

Mr . Nelson, I ' ll g ive you the , you know, bri e f rebutt a l 

t oo, i f you ' d like , because you have the burden of p r oof . 

But, I guess, that ' s where we are and if we just want to go 

into a closing argument, then what ' s going t o h appen is 

we ' ll get finished wit h those and we ' re going to take a 

bri e f r ecess and I ' m going t o g o over my notes and I plan 

to come back an d issue a ruling yet tonight . So i f 

C 186 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

16 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

2 0 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 87 

tha t' s -- i f e ver yone i s i n agr e ement, t h en l e t' s do tha t. 

Yeah, let ' s go t h at r oute . 

Mr . Nooney? 

MR. NOONEY: Und e r stood, Your Hon or . 

THE COURT: Okay. Are you good with t hat? 

MR. NOONEY: Ye ah . .And I -- f amou s l ast words . I don ' t 

even t h i n k I' ll n eed f ive minutes . 

THE COURT: Okay. Th a t's fine . I j ust want t o make sure 

that e v e rybod y is good with that plan a nd want to hear 

everyone out and make sure that e v e ryone ' s been a b l e to 

g i ve thei r s i de an d say thei r p i ece . 

I f s o , Mr . Nel son, go ah ead . 

MR. NELSON: Okay . Yes , Your Honor . 

Do you mind i f I remain seated? 

THE COURT: Not at all . 

MR. NELSON: You can h e a r me b e tte r . 

Your Honor, I believe my c lient and her wi tnesses have 

testified about s ome inci dents that i nv o l ved a s i tua t i on 

you know, a relationship between parties t hat are here, 

have cohabitated t ogether for a number of year s and their 

relationship became s trained f o r a variety of reasons . 

Both part ies h a ve t estif ied as t o , you know, wh ose faul t it 

was or i t ' s not just my fault , it cou l d be the other 

p e r son ' s fault as far as wh y we ' r e h e r e . But what I thi nk 

is also important , n ot only t h e context of their t est imony 
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and the history of thei r relationship, but the fact s or 

what has been said that what makes sense and what doesn 't 

make sense. 

I believe that Mr. Tovar has provided t he Court with 

inconsistent testimony, testimony that doesn 't make sense, 

that would provide my client the ammunition f or the 

basis -- you know, her basis for a protective order here. 

Mr. Tovar provided the Court with audio i ndicating that my 

client on a nillnbe r of t imes requested that he not come into 

her presence . There was n o protection order in place at 

the time, but there was a s tra ined relati onshi p and the 

parties have p rovided the Court with background as to how 

that st r ained r e lationship has come about over the years . 

In that setting and i n that par k, i n a publi c place, 

even though it's public and there a re other peopl e around, 

my client expr essed h ers elf on a nillnbe r -- a nillnbe r of 

times requesting Mr. Tovar t o keep hi s distance, he doesn ' t 

need t o come in her presence, n onetheless he d i d so . And 

his excuse is because he was there for his son . And he had 

a nillnbe r of diffe r en t options available t o him that he 

didn ' t exercise . His reas oning , his testimony, i s I thi nk 

incredible and s o we put that in cont ext with the testimony 

of my client about t he separat e incidents t hat occurred 

over the years and the recent incidents that have occurred 

since December of 2023 . And I thi nk it pr ovides the Court 
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with a better understanding of why a person l ike my cli ent 

could be in fear of Mr . Tovar and why s he s eeks this 

p r otective orde r . 

So t he f ear tha t she' s f elt in the testimony that 

she's provided the Court about past physical contac t 

be t ween the parties, domestic viol ence be t ween t he parties, 

I think p rovides the Cour t by a preponderan c e of t he 

evidence to award my cli ent wi th a p r otective order one t o 

fi ve ye a r s at the Cour t's discret i on . 

I have nothing f urt he r. 

THE COURT: Mr . Nooney? 

MR. NOONEY: Thank you, Your Honor. 

As t h i s Court has a l r eady cited , SDCL 25- 10, of 

c ourse, i s 1/'Jhat this Cou r t mus t cons ider f or the pur poses 

of whether or n ot t o i ssue a protect i on order . Some of 

the alleged incidence s are , of c ourse, jus t alleged, 

Your Honor . There i s no p r oof . There are no poli ce 

r eports . I f there were something that actually sai d this 

happened , t hat would be one t hing, but t hes e a re me r e l y 

allegations by Ms . Wagner against Mr . Tovar . Some of thos e 

allegations s terrmed mor e than 11 year s ago . Mos t of the 

a llegat i ons, Your Honor, de a l t wit h , real l y , wha t would be 

in the be s t i nterests of t he ch i ldren . As t h i s Court i s 

well aware , You r Honor , what i s i n the best int e r est s of 

t he children i s t o be d ealt wi th i n t he c i vi l pa t erni ty 
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matter 51CIV18-623. 

Rather a ll -- o r most of the a llegations and t h ing s 

s u ch as, y ou know, Rigo b eing i n Nevada a nd not a llowi ng 

Kylea to get rest or t o consume f ood t o hel p n ourish the 

baby , which I understand is i mpor tant, You r Honor, but my 

p oint is that's f o r the Court t o consi der i n the c u s tod y 

matter, n ot something to c on s ider for purposes of h im 

allegedly c reating harm o r fear of h arm. 

Mr . Nelson a s ked my client, Well r why weren ' t there 

cer t ain thi ngs y o u put in -- or why didn ' t you put certain 

things i n the motion for ch ange of c us tody? Your Hon or, a 

motion f o r chang e o f custody could b e a hundre d p a ges if 

the r e wa s e a ch and ever y allegation between the p a r t i es . 

I thin k it' s und isputed, You r Hon or, tha t t h e par ties 

have had s ome conflict. And as the Court in Batche lder 

versus Ba t chel der cited t o -- a gain that's 

B-A-T-C-H-E-L-D-E-R, 965 N. W. 2d 880 a high conflict 

r e l a tion shi p doe s n ot a llow a Court to g r ant a p r otect i on 

order, Your Honor . 

Mr. Ne l son has , unfortunatel y , fau l t ed my c lient for 

going to counseling on his own voli t i on . It ' s not as if 

t his Cou r t ordered my client t o go to counsel i n g . That is 

something that Mr . Tovar has elected to do , not e v en based 

on my recorrmendat i on . I t ' s something he ' d done way before 

h e ' d seen me . Men tal h eal th s h ou l dn' t be some thi n g tha t we 
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point fingers at peopl e to say, Well r why are you going t o 

counseling? That's absolutely uncal led for . 

The mere fact that Mr . Nel son wants to say Mr. Tovar 

i s a lar ge man and could inflict fear, t hat's not evidence, 

Your Honor . They have not met t heir burden -- or 

Ms. Wagner has not met h e r burden nor has h e r counsel t o 

state a nything or identify any evidence beyond a 

preponderance o f the evidence. 

Mr . Nelson c ontinue s t o argue t o t his Court, as he 

just did in his c l osing argument , tha t there has been, 

quote, a s t rained r elat i ons hip, Your Honor. I ' m not here 

to say -- tell the Cou r t that there 's not been a s t rained 

r e lationship, but a str ained r elationship, Your Honor, d oes 

n ot provid e a reason for this Court to grant a permanent 

protection order . As this Court is aware, a perman ent 

prot e ction order has some s e rious r e p e rcussion s for any 

individual who f inds themse l f in the p l ace of the 

respondent, as does my c lient . 

Mr . Ne lson wa nts t o cont inu e t o mold t he fac t s and 

change the facts as it con cerns the a llegati on at the park 

on or abou t May 22nd of 2024 . As my c lient had test i f i ed 

t o , You r Honor , h e h ad went t o the park t o take both t he 

boys on a bike r i de to school . Isaiah e l ect ed not to go on 

the b i ke r i de . There was, of course, then an a r gument t hat 

pu rsued bet ween I saiah, t h e minor chi l d , and h is mot her 
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that my client got stuck i n the middle of . My c lient t hen 

elected to go on the bike ride to take thei r youngest son 

Teyo and his pickup, of course, was at the park. My client 

didn't just , a ll the sudden, show up at Ms . Wagner ' s 

doorstep. My client came back t o get h is pickup and had 

wanted to say goodbye to his son t hat he 's had very minimal 

t ime with, Your Honor . Mr . Wagner -- sorry, Mr. Nelson 

wants to point the finger at my client t o say, She asked 

you to leave . He did leave , Your Honor . He wante d t o say 

goodbye to his son . There wa s not even one t i me within the 

audio recording vvhere there was yell ing or screaming. 

That, Your Honor, does not amount to a llow this Court t o 

grant the permanent p rot ecti on orde r as s ought by the 

Peti t i oner Ms . Wagner . 

For those r easons , Your Honor, we ' d r espectf ully 

request that this Cou rt deny the p ermanent protection 

order . Thank you . 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

Mr . Nelson, any rebuttal? Just --

MR. NELSON: Yes . Just shortly -- short, Your Honor . 

Again, like most of these cases , you have a he 

said/she said situation, althou gh my client did bri ng t wo 

oth er witnesse s to t estify about the h istory bet ween the 

parties . Again, I ask the Court to carefully consider not 

just my client ' s testimon y but Mr . Tovar ' s own tes timony 
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and the i ncon s i s t e ncies i n h i s s t a t ement s about what 

happened in t h e par k , how oft en the kids are hit , who 

i nsti gated thi s i dea of corporal punishment , and whe ther 

his s t a t ements a r e con sist en t , whether they make sense . I 

submit to t he Court credibi l ity weighs in my c l ient ' s favo r 

and agai nst Mr . Tovar . 

THE COURT: I have a couple of question s fo r counsel now. 

We d on 't h ave a j ury h e r e . I' m just goi ng t o ask these . 

Mr . Nelson , f irst of a l l , do you agree t hat the 

protection order, i f one were to i ssue, it mus t be based on 

t he a llegation s tha t a r e i n the peti t ion and not anythi ng 

outside o f tha t ? 

MR. NELSON: I would agree . 

THE COURT: For example, thi s door i n c ident from t en y e a rs 

ago or more, that ' s n ot a matter -- I coul d not find tha t 

t h a t woul d cau s e a fear of v i o l ence or be considered 

domestic abuse . Do you agree? 

MR. NELSON: I believe so, yes , You r Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr . Nooney, d o you agree with that? 

MR. NOONEY: I ' d agree, You r Hon o r . And beyond that , I 

think, j u st so t he Court knows and the Court is well aware 

there was t estimon y of both p a r t ies punching doors, kicking 

doors . 

Again, I -- the posi t i on of the Resp ondent is that 

does n ot amount t o a l l ow the Cou r t to enter a protect i on 
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order. 

THE COURT: Understood. I ' m j ust c l arifying that what this 

i s abou t , what i t u l timately comes down to is wha t ' s in 

this petition. It's n ot -- I mean, these ot her thi ngs 

and the reason I l e t t he testimony come i n was tha t ' s 

background and that's information that l e d us t o where we 

are today, but i t has to be based on t h e incidents tha t a r e 

alleged in the petition. Everyone agree on that? 

:tv:IR. NELSON: Ye s, Your Honor . 

:tv:IR. NOONEY: Yes , Your Hon or . .And beyond that , I ' d allege 

tha t clearly my c l ient d idn't h ave n oti ce as concerns s ome 

o f these allegations t o offer witne sses t o rebut such . 

THE COURT: Li ke I said, everyon e went i nto it ; we ' r e 

talking about background , bu t it ' s jus t these i n c i dents . 

:tv:IR. NELSON: Correct. 

:tv:IR. NOONEY: Ye s, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Give me about ten minutes here, r oughl y . I ' m 

going t o go collect my thoughts and write some thi ngs d own, 

and I will b e back in and issue a ruling . 

(Re c ess take n from 5 : 40 p .m. t o 5 : 59 p .m. ) 

THE COURT: Th a nk you fo r you r pati ence, l adies and 

gentlemen . I know i t was more than t en minute s there . 

I ' m going to state my f i ndings on t he record . I ' m 

goi ng to t ry to do them i n an orde r that makes sense t o 

everyon e a nd that you can follow me . 
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First of all, I find that jurisdicti on and venue are 

proper based on the stipulation of t he parties. That is 

that this i s the correct place and t hat the parties resided 

in Rapid City in Pennington County and the s tate of 

South Dakota. 

I'm going to find that Ms . Wagne r i s eligi bl e f or a 

protection order and what that means i s that the part i es 

were involved in a sign ificant romantic relationship in t he 

last year. That was also stipu l ated to by t he parties . 

Also , under that same subsection of the sta t u te, the 

parties have children together and so t hat meets subsect i on 

c, meaning that Ms. Wagner is eligible for a prot ection 

order . 

And I'm going t o f ind that in this situation domestic 

abuse did occur in thi s case . I ' m goi ng t o grant the 

prot ection order and I 'm going t o explain why . Dome s t ic 

abuse under the s t atute 25 -- SDCL 25-10-1 Domestic abuse, 

ph ysical harm, bodily injury, or attempts to cause physi cal 

harm or bodily harm -- and here ' s the rel evant part here 

or the inf liction of fear of irmninent physi cal harm or 

bodily injury when occu r r ing between persons engaged in a 

relationship as we described earlier . That is what is 

necessary for the finding in this case . 

I find that domesti c abuse di d occu r , speci f i cally the 

infliction of fear of irmninent physical harm or bodily 
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injury. The facts , excuse me, suppor ting that are 

primarily the incident . I t was an incident that occurred 

on February 9 , 2024, and it was that i nci dent where -- I ' m 

sorry, it was not that date. I apologiz e . I t was i n 

January . It was on J anuary 14th, where Mr. Tovar arri ved 

and h e poi nted a gun l aser -- h e pointed a l ase r through 

the front window. Ms. Wagner said she couldn 't see i t , but 

there was a lase r pointed at -- I believe the t estimony was 

h er son I saiah . I t was one of the son s . And I ' ll get that 

right in just a moment here when I f i nd it in my notes, but 

rega rdless it was a t one o f the sons ; t hen it was a t her 

chest and then it was at her forehead. I f it's debatabl e 

about whether that was thre atening conduct o r whether that 

was something that caused her t o -- reasonab l y caused her 

to be in f ear, there ' s other context. There ' s o t her 

context a nd it's incidents that were a lleged in the 

petition in this matter. The incidents were and I find 

I find Ms. Wagn er t o be c r edi b l e . I find her to b e a 

credible witness and I belie v e d h er t e stimony. She was 

d e taile d and she e xplained exactly what happen e d a nd in 

extens i ve detail. And becau s e I find her c redible, that ' s 

why I ' m going t o issue the prot ection order i n this case . 

But there were other i ncident s . There was evid ence 

r e l ated to the De f endant -- I' m sorry, the Respondent 

locking himself in a bedroom for three consecutive days . 
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Even his evidence showed that he came ou t of that b edroom 

and it looked like his phone l eft -- as far as I can tell 

from the exhi b i t, h i s phone left t heir resi denc e at 

3:55 p.m. I don 't know that it rebutted anyth i ng tha t 

Ms . Wagner had said about that . I t was a b ou t his 

intoxication . Okay. The intox i cati on is n o t i t s e lf en ough 

to form a threat. 

But there was a l ot of other incidents here . On 

De c embe r 30, 2023, or thereabouts, the De f endant had been 

c onsuming alcoh ol. When h e was asked a b out t he alcohol 

during cross-examination, he sai d, one shot . And then h e 

failed to mention the beer, and then h e said one b eer or 

six ? And, h e said, One to six . I find t hat he was bei ng a 

little evas ive in tha t answer. 

But more import antly , i t seems that i t's undisputed 

that h e did have the .AR-15 rifle in his h and out of t he 

s afe and I believe the testimony a l so wa s it was if i t 

was not und i s puted , I d o believe Ms. Wagner ' s tes timon y 

that h e attached o r h e was handling a laser s i ght f or t hat 

we apon . Be it a Red Dot o r whatever other s i gh t , ther e wa s 

something that he was d oing with a s i ght fo r t hat we ap on . 

Whether h e l e ft with i t i s really meaning l ess because t his 

is background i n f ormation as t o what l ed up t o January 1 4 . 

The Defendant, by his OV'ffi a dmissi on, I believe, 

handle d a nd c arries frequently a h andgun tha t does have a 
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laser sight on it. So I believe i t was r easonabl e f or 

Ms. Wagner t o believe that i n some way t hat l a s er be ing 

pointed at her through the window wa s meant t o threat en 

her, wa s me ant to intimidate her, and it was me ant t o pu t 

her i n f ear of imminent physical harm or bodi l y i njury. I 

also f ind that this was reasonably meant t o do the s ame t o 

the son and , again, I 'll f ind that name i n jus t a moment 

here. 

.And I believe that t h at i s suffici ent t o i s sue t he 

protecti on order a s to Ms . Wagner and as to bot h of the 

children as well. I don't believe t hat I need t o ma ke a 

finding that the thr eat was made against all t h ree of t hem 

individually in or der for all t hree of them t o be e lig i ble 

or t o g rant the prot ect ion orde r aga i nst them and so I 

belie ve that that is suffi c ient. 

We are -- I have c onsidered Batche l d e r . I tried t o 

read i t ver y qui ckl y while I was in t he back . .And thi s was 

n ot jus t a high-conflic t r e l ationship , thi s wa s a s i t ua t i on 

whe r e t he Def endant undert ook -- I ' m sorry , t he Respondent 

unde r took a nwnbe r of acts that we r e or cou l d r easonab l y be 

percei ved t o have thr e at ened or caused Ms . Wagner to be i n 

fea r of imminent bodily ha rm. 

.And I did a l l ow the par t ies t o go into quite a b i t of 

backgr ound . I am making c l ear on t he r ecord tha t I onl y 

considered t he matte rs in t he pet i t ion. That' s what I 
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addressed with counsel before we went i n the back . And I 

did allow that testi mony t o come in . It seemed t o me t h at 

everyone, both parties, wanted t o go i nto the h istory of 

this so I a llowed that, but the findings here are made 

based on the record of what happened as all eged i n the 

p e tition. 

I just have a few more n otes her e that I need to make 

sure that I cover. 

My last finding t hat I n eed t o make is that t he 

Respondent Mr . Tovar had a ctual n otice and oppor tunity to 

participate, he did participate, and h e was here i n person, 

and I believe the Resp ondent stipulated or his counsel 

stipulat e d t hat h e was prope rly s e rve d with notice f o r t his 

hearing. 

The time is as I keep talking her e, I keep l ooking 

through my note s t o find the name of t he corre ct chi ld. I 

believe it was I saiah. 

Counsel, woul d either o f you care t o enlighten me to 

make sure or s ee if I ' m say ing that wrong . 

MR. NELSON: I saiah i s correct, Your Honor . And Teyo was 

the other. 

THE COURT: Was i t I saiah t hat the i nitial laser wa s 

pointed at or the -- whate v er the laser was ? 

MR. NELSON: I b e lieve it was Te y o , T-E-Y- 0 . 

THE COURT: So I was s aying t h e wron g name . And I'm sure I 
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have it written h e re, I just don 't see it right now. 

Regardless, like I said , it didn ' t have t o be pointed 

at both children, it was pointed at one o f them and I 

believe that' s s ufficient t o enter the p r otection o rder 

against or related to all three of those i ndividual s . 

I can also do a nwnbe r of things under t he statute 

here with regard to -- I can restrain t h e parti es from 

committing acts of domestic violen ce . I will order t hat 

that is under 25 -- SDCL 25- 10- 5 . 

Mr . Tovar, you are restrained from d oing any such 

thing like tha t, committing an y acts of domest ic v i o l ence. 

I 'm goi ng to order that the p arties remai n a mini mum 

of 100 yards away from e ach othe r . I believe tha t was the 

r equest in the petition. I f i nd tha t that ' s appropriate . 

You ' re not t o dwell with each ot h e r . 

Th e r e i s a sepa rate cu stody matte r t hat we ' ve talke d 

about a nwnber of t imes during this hearing . I' m goi ng to 

l eave c ustody an d rel ated matters as f ar a s ch i l d support, 

custody, and the -- rea l l y pretty mu ch all o t her matters 

r e l ate d to the children , I' m g o i ng to l e a ve that for 

an other day becau se, again, I bel ieve that tha t case has 

been reopened f or addr essin g those matters . 

Counse l , do you agree? Mr . Nelson? 

MR. NELSON: Yes , Your Hon or . 

THE COURT: Mr . Noon ey, is t h at true? 
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MR. NOONEY: Yes , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Reopened? 

Thank you . 

2 01 

MR. NELSON: .And, Your Honor , I' m sorry t o i nterrupt you . 

I believe t he Court has a custody eval uator appoint ed as 

well . 

THE COURT: That ' s true . I thi nk that was done -- I thi nk 

Judge Wipf Pfei f l e did that last week, i f I remember 

correct ly. 

Was that the same order that ordered mediat i on? 

MR. NELSON: I thi nk so . 

THE COURT: Or was i t a separate order? 

MR. NELSON: I belie ve it ' s t he same one . 

THE COURT: Regardless, I ' m goi ng t o l eave t hose matters 

for that time . 

The othe r thi ng that -- anothe r thing t hat I find 

s upports and bol sters Ms . Wagner ' s testimony is on the 

i nci dent from May 22 , there was a recordi ng the r e . .And I 

know -- I know things can get heat ed when i t c omes t o 

domesti c a ffairs, but Ms . Wagne r did ask Mr . Tovar t o leave 

a numbe r of t imes and I jus t f ind t hat that hel ps bol ster 

her credibility. Sh e was t rying t o de- escalate the 

situation and I be l ieve that she has acted in a way t hat is 

s impl y t ryi ng to diffuse all confli c t in this case . .And I 

believe that a protective order in thi s case i s appropriat e 
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f or t hose pur poses . 

I am not going t o addr ess c ounseling . I be l ieve that 

is a matter that Mr . Tovar has undertaken on h i s ovm . I 

don' t thi n k that t here ' s anyone who contradi cts that so I ' m 

just going to take him at his word t hat he has done t hat . 

Mr . Nelson, is the r e anything that I have not 

addressed -- I ' m goi ng to grant the protecti on order for a 

period of five year s . Agai n , ch i l d custody and child 

support matters a re going t o be taken up i n t ha t -- in t he 

appropriate hearing, where we hear testimony abou t i ncomes 

and living s i tuati ons and thi ngs l ike t hat . 

That the part i es a r e not t o have cont act . A written 

orde r wi ll issue r egarding all of t he specifics about that 

and about my ruli ng . 

Mr . Nelson , is there anythi ng else that has been 

r equested that I have not addressed yet? 

MR. NELSON: No, not that has been requested i n the 

peti t i on . 

My client does wan t t he children to see t heir father . 

The United Families ' facilit y is, obviously, monitor ed and 

used f r equent l y in situations where super vi sed parent i ng 

time is request ed, but I be lieve Mr . Nooney is correct tha t 

their policy is such t hat they wil l not allow t he facility 

to be used i f t he r e ' s an allegation of a gun in a petition. 

I ' m not sure h ow t o remedy t hat , unl ess the Court i n its 
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findings detennines that the threat was made based upon a 

laser and that was sufficient rather than a gun to mitigate 

the situation with United Families. 

I my client does want the children t o see their 

father as soon as possible. 

THE COURT: So I gue ss I ' l l ask both counsel -- Mr . Nooney, 

I'm n ot asking you to agree with my decision, but my 

decision is what i t is . Now, do you have any suggest i ons 

as to what can be done to allow Mr . Tovar t o see his 

children? Do you have any other alternatives tha t you have 

in mind? 

MR. NOONEY: I don't, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Nelson? 

I mean, I'm amenable -- I ' m agreeable to the parties 

finding a way to d o that to allow Mr . Tovar t o have contact 

in on e way or another . I know that the protection order is 

t o keep them apart, but if it ' s superv ised -- I suppose 

that i s a l so part of the child -- chil d custody matter in 

some ways . 

MR. NELSON: My client ' s willing to allow -- if 

Mr . Tovar --

THE COURT: How about this? Le t me cut you short . I ' m 

sorry. 

MR. NELSON: Sure . 

THE COURT: I jus t i ssued a p r otection o r der . I ' m going t o 

C 203 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

2 04 

keep that in place. We 're goi ng t o have this i n p l ace f or 

a while . "When i s the next hearing on that custody matter? 

MR. NELSON: I don ' t thi nk we have one set and that ' s 

becaus e the e valua tor was jus t appointed. 

THE COURT: Let ' s see i f we can get that done, set up, in 

short or der . And as I unde rstand it, t he statute allows me 

to modi fy this to allow for such things t o happen, but for 

right now we 're going to have n o custody -- or, I'm sorry , 

no contact and we ' re going to have a protection order in 

place . The faster we can get this t aken car e of on the 

custody side or chil d s upport side or whatever i s a ll 

remaining , the faster we 'll be able to address these 

things. 

MR. NELSON: Understood. 

THE COURT: Anything else f or the record i n t his matter? 

Mr . Nelson? 

MR. NELSON: I have nothi ng . 

THE COURT: Mr . Nooney? 

MR. NOONEY: Nothing , You r Honor . 

THE COURT: We ' ll be adjourned . 

(Hearing conc luded at 6 :17 p .m. ) 

* * * * * * * * * 
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STATE OF SOUTH DJIKOTA 

COUNTY OF PENNINGTON 

KYLEA M. WAGNER, 

I N CIRCUI T COURT 

SEVENTH JUDI CIAL CI RCUIT 

51 T PO24 - 321 

Petitioner, 

vs . 
TPO- Modify Permanent Order 

Hear i ng 

RIGO B. TOVAR, 

Respondent. 

BEFORE : 

APPEARANCES : 

THE HONORABLE ERIC D. KEIDERMAN 
Ci rcuit Court J udge 
Rapid City, South Dakota 
Jul y 22 , 2024 , at 4 : 00 p . m. 

For the Pe t i t i oner : MR. GEORGE J. NELSON 

For the Respond e nt : 

George J . Nelson Law Offi ce 
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MR. JARED D. NOONEY 
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(WHEREUPON, the f ollowing proceedings were duly 

had:) 

THE COURT: We are on the record in 51TPO24 -321 a nd it' s 

Wagner versus Tovar . 

(To Mr. Ne l son a nd the Petitione r ) Come o n i n . I 

just wa lked i n, folks. Have a seat . 

2 

Co unsel, will you note your appear ance f o r t h e record, 

p l ease . 

MR. NELSON: Yes, Your Honor . George Ne l son on behal f my 

c lie nt Kyl ea Wagner . 

MR. NOONEY: Yes , Your Honor . Jared Nooney on behalf of 

the Resp ond ent Rigo Tovar . 

THE COURT: Very we ll . 

We 're here on -- what I see i n the fi le i s a moti on 

fo r an order to modify the order for protecti on . I t was 

the order fo r p rotecti on tha t was i ssued o n Jul y 1 of t h i s 

year, I bel i eve . I know t h a t the r e has been some emai l 

communications that I have seen ; some at my request . I 

believe this is something to do with child visi t ation . 

There are no children in the room. Okay. 

Mr. Nooney, I beli eve thi s i s y o ur mot i on . Am I 

correct? 

MR. NOONEY: Correct, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Can you just e n l ighten me as t o where we're 

goi ng with t hi s? 
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MR. NOONEY: Yes , Your Ho n o r. And if I may just k i nd of 

give the Court a n update . 

THE COURT: Please. 

MR. NOONEY: As t h e Court h ad r e ached out r egar ding the 

motion, Mr. Nelson and mysel f had discu ssed whe r e we were 

a t with this. The parti es have not reached a modifi ed 

stipulati on for a n agreement a s i t concerns t he Court's 

order entered o n Jul y 1 of 2 024 . As t he c urrent ord er 

s tands that this Court ent ered f or a p e rma nent o rder of 

protectio n , my c lient does not see his c h ildren f o r a 

period o f f i ve years . Th a t , o f c o u rse, wo u l d e q ua te t o 

3 

60 mo nths . And I ' v e done the math , Your Honor . That wou ld 

be 1, 825 days from the dat e t hat ord e r was e ntered . Beyo nd 

that, I believe t h is was discussed on the r ecord 

previo usly, but my c l ient h a d not seen his chi ldren since 

Ma y o f 2 02 4 . It' s al r eady b een two months , Your Hono r. So 

we 're motioning t he Court t o c ons i d e r a modificatio n o f the 

Court ' s order that was entered on July 1 , 2024 . 

THE COURT: Just before we move on -- Mr . Nelson, I ' ll hear 

from you i n jus t a moment -- a r e we -- there is a child 

cus t ody matter a l so pend i ng; i s tha t true? 

MR. NELSON: Yes , Your Ho n o r . There i s a c i vil f ile 

tha t -- I can g i ve y ou t he fil e numbe r h e r e . 

THE COURT: Th a t ' s o k a y . When is t hat sch eduled t o be 

h e ard? 
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MR. NELSON: There is no c u rrent hearing date set . 

MR. NOONEY: There i s not , Your Honor . We h ave --

4 

Mr . Ne l son and I h ave talked about where that case is at . 

As this Cou r t knows , i n the event my c l ien t we r e t o violate 

t he p e r manent ord er o f protect ion, t hat, of course, i s a 

cri mi na l abl e o f fense, a Cl ass 1 mi sdemeanor for the f irst 

occasion . 

THE COURT: Sure . 

MR. NOONEY: So wi th tha t , t h e permane nt p rotection order, 

of course, trumps any o rder t h e Court woul d enter i n t h e 

CIV fil e, which is --

THE COURT: Of cours e . I -- I understand . I ' m jus t -- I 

guess the point that I' m getti ng a t i s tha t we ' re goi ng t o 

resolve that part some day and I 

me let you speak f irst . Go a h ead . 

MR. NELSON: Yes , Your Hono r . 

we l l, Mr . Nelson , l et 

I thought t hat t h ere would b e a p roposed stipulat ion 

for my client t o sign and that wou ld a l low Mr . Tovar t o see 

the chi ldre n at United Famil i e s . That sti pulation wou ld 

represent to the Court that t he par ties were in a g reement 

that the exist i n g prot ectio n o rder would be mod i fied t o 

t h at extent . The parti es would do t h e orientati on at 

Uni t ed Famili es a nd a s chedul e would b e , I guess , agr eed 

upon f or t here t o be f a ther/chi l dren c o n t act . I ha ven ' t 

r e c e i v ed t he s t i pul a t i on yet . I was e xpect i ng t o put t hat 
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on t he record here today at t h e time of thi s h earing , but 

maybe I ' m missing something here . 

THE COURT: So , Mr. Nooney, I g uess the par ties' positions 

are a l ittle bit o f two ships passing in t he nigh t . Is 

there it sounds l i k e Mr . Nelson i s sayi ng tha t we could 

reach an agreement ; you ' re sayi ng we h aven ' t reached an 

agreement . Are we -- i s i t somet hing where you've 

negotiated and you j ust can't agree on t he t erms or where 

are we on t his? 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor, the proposal essentially that I 

made initially and just so -- I can represent to the 

Court -- I think Mr . Nelson will agree -- we ' v e ha d any 

number of conversations . Essential l y the p roposal was to 

remove the children from the prot ecti on o rder matter. 

Essential ly the terms were never agreed to on a 

s tipulation. I had rea c hed o u t to Mr. Ne l s on l ast week as 

it conce rns where we were a t and the fact o f where their 

p roposal was and my client was not agreeing to va r ious 

terms that were proposed. So with that , it is my belief, 

Your Honor , on behalf of the Respondent, that t he parties 

are no t g o ing t o enter a s t ipulation because t he terms are 

not agreeable to by both parties . 

THE COURT: So just as to that porti o n , Mr . Nelson, do you 

agree with wha t Mr. Nooney said? 

MR. NELSON: Yes . I mean, I ' m stil l t aken a little aback 
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b ecause there a r e a number of other i s sues t hat aren' t 

re l ated t o the TPO that t here h ave been d i scussi ons abou t 

and, honest l y , I don ' t recal l t h e re being a rej ecti o n of my 

c lient ' s offer for Mr . Tovar t o see the c h ild r en a t 

Uni ted Fami l i es . 

holiday . 

I may have miss ed that. It was over the 

Agai n , if -- my c l ient woul d enter i nto e v en a 

t e mpor a r y stipulati on . If t h e concern f o r Mr . Tova r i s 

t hat he i s l os ing h i s bond with h i s children , my c lient 

does not want t hat , but she does want it to be in a 

setting. I think -- wha t is i t -- as my memory gets 

re f reshed here -- t h e i ssu e she h ad was whether , you know, 

he would s how up at Uni ted Fami l ies weari ng a belt and my 

c l ient wanted to avo i d that a nd so t hat was t he condi t ion 

that was placed on this and I tho ught tha t was agreeable . 

And so, the r e fore , I thought we reall y d i d have an 

agr eeme n t on thi s . If we don ' t , we do n ' t a nd we 'l l just 

leave i t as it is . 

THE COURT: lli I need to ask f o r c larificat ion of what t his 

belt issue is or is i t -- is it an important t h ing that I 

need to know about? 

MR. NELSON: I believe i t i s rel ated to a crimi na l 

inv esti g a t i on . 

THE COURT: All right. Any more clarity you can provi de 

than tha t? 
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MR. NELSON: I t' s my understanding t hat the c h i l dren wo ul d 

receive pun ishment and it wo u l d i nvo l ve a bel t . 

THE COURT: Very we ll . I didn 't know if i t meant a b e l t 

wi t h a gun in it or something like t hat or if it meant -­

MR. NELSON: I belie v e it was a gun belt . 

THE PETITIONER: Yes . 

MR. NELSON: Ye a h . 

7 

THE COURT: Mr. Nooney , Mr. Nel son, b o th o f you, any chance 

that I c an g ive you five mi nutes a nd you'll reac h an 

agreement o r i s t hat no t goi ng t o happen he r e? 

MR. NOONEY: I do not believe it ' s going t o happen here , 

Your Honor . 

THE COURT: What are you asking for , Mr . Nooney? 

MR. NOONEY: It' s ki nd of a d o uble-edge sword, Your Honor . 

I mea n , the p o sitio n f r om the Respondent would be to have 

the childre n entirely r emoved from t he pro t ect ion o rde r, 

but t ha t, of cour se, i s up f o r this Cour t t o determi n e . 

THE COURT: Mr . Nelson, what -- okay. Mr . Nooney, then I ' m 

goin g to come b ack to you firs t . Children a re remove d from 

t his , then what d o you want? 

MR. NOONEY: I mean, then it would go back t o t h e current 

order that my c lient had prio r to the p r otecti on order 

b e i ng i n p l ace a nd we wou ld move f o r th within t ha t CIV 

fil e , Your Honor, wi th everything e l se that had predated 

this . And t ha t, o f c o urse , was the c hild c ust ody 
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evaluation and then eventual l y , of c o urse , an evidentiary 

hearing in f ront o f t h i s Court . 

THE COURT: But t hat's not c u rrently set for any hea r ings 

at this point? 

MR. NOONEY: It i s not, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Okay . 

8 

MR. NOONEY: I can ap prise t h e Court that the easiest thing 

probabl y to expla i n t o the Court i n a long - winded way is 

the protection order matter k i nd o f took over everythin g 

because then my c lient coul dn ' t see t h e c hildren. So 

that --

THE COURT: Understood . 

MR. NOONEY: - - essenti ally the other matters are on pause 

or on hold . 

THE COURT: Of course . Understood . 

Mr . Nel s on, l e t' s just say for -- l e t' s just say fo r 

the sake of argument tha t I was goi ng to modify thi s and d o 

something more than what yo u have proposed . Is your line 

just absolutely at t his United Famil ies ' thing? 

MR. NELSON: As far as supervised parenting time for 

Mr. To var? 

THE COURT: Or for any kind of parenti ng time . 

MR. NELSON: (Conferring with cl i e nt . ) 

Your Honor , I h ad referenced a crimi n a l investigation 

p e nding a nd my cl i e nt ' s positi o n would change if tha t 
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criminal i nvestigation resul ted i n no charges a nd she wo uld 

be open t o p r oceeding with s o me type of guidel ine p aren t ing 

time, but she's fearful of -- a gain, she i s -- you know, 

we ' v e g ot a p r otecti v e orde r i n p lace ; the Co urt has made 

its rul ing as to t h e need for it. I t i nclud e d my c lie n t 

and the children. She believes tha t i f there i s t o b e 

parenting t ime for the fa t her and t h e chil dren, it sho u ld 

be at l east initially s upervised . Sh e ' s o f f e r ed -- s h e ' s 

proposed Un ited Famil i es . We h ave no t r e c e i ved any 

counteroffer t o some o ther s upervisi on . 

THE COURT: Th i s crimi na l fil e you t alk about , i s i t 

p e nding right now? 

MR. NELSON: There i s no t a cri minal fi le ; the r e ' s just 

crimina l i nvestigati on. You know, t h ere a r e n o charges 

against eith er p a r ty a nd -- b u t i t d o es c o ncern t he 

c hildr e n. 

THE COURT: Ve ry well . 

MR. NELSON: You r Honor, if I may propo se somet hing? 

THE COURT: Su re . 

MR. NELSON: That we continu e t h is mat ter for 60 days. 

That there b e a court o rder f or the Co u r t t o receive from 

l aw e n f orceme n t the status o f a ny type of i nvesti g a tion . 

THE COURT: Well, we can d o tha t. I d o n't have a p r o b l e m 

do i ng tha t , but , i n the meantime , I think Mr . Noon ey ' s 

po i n t is t here o ught t o b e some thing . 
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MR. NELSON: And my client , Your Honor, has proposed 

something, is willing to do somet h ing . If there were a 

counteroffer t o consider, I don't know what t hat i s . 

10 

THE COURT: And maybe -- any maybe I shoul d have finished 

t hat senten ce b ecause Mr . Nooney ' s point i s ther e should be 

somethi ng . I know that he's ask i ng for more than you 're 

willing to agree to o r that you don' t want to sti p u l ate to 

that . But it does seem like your c lient i s amenab l e t o 

some visitation in some way a nd so what I'd like to do i s 

just to come up wi t h something that everybody c o uld live 

with for a month . And then per haps we set this and we 

revisit it again; we see what we can find out about this 

cri mi nal matter ; we maybe see i f we can get t hat civi l case 

back o n track. 

I' m going to let Mr . Nooney and Mr . Tova r visit for a 

mome nt. You two can v i sit too, if you need t o . 

MR. NELSON: Your Honor, there ' s anothe r option my c lie nt's 

putting on the table t hat is instead of Uni t ed Families , 

that t he grandfather , t he maternal grandfather, my c lient ' s 

fa t her , supervise -- would supervise d uring t h at time 

peri od, Mr . Tovar ' s parenti ng time . 

THE COURT: Okay . I ' m j ust trying to think of what order I 

s h ou l d go i n and who I a sk t hese q ues t ion s of , bu t I 'l l 

ask you firs t becau se you just said t hat . Do t hey get 

a l ong? 
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MR. NELSON: They have in the past, yes . I know o f n o -­

no serious conflicts or confrontations between t h e two , but 

I may be wr ong . I don 't know of any. 

THE COURT: Mr . Nooney, I 'll hear you o ut in just a moment , 

but do you mind if I ask your c lient a question fir s t? 

MR. NOONEY: That 's absolute l y fine, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Mr . Tovar, that gent l eman back there is 

Ms. Wagner ' s father, correct? 

That's you, sir? 

MR. WAGNER: (Nods head . ) 

THE COURT: CO y ou get along with him? 

THE RESPONDENT: I no longer get along wit h h i m. 

THE COURT: Okay . If he's t h ere whe n you are spending time 

with your k i ds, how would you feel abo ut that? 

THE RESPONDENT: I' d feel like I was being robbed o f my 

time . 

THE COURT: Okay . 

THE RESPONDENT: I wouldn ' t get true -- to spend my time 

with my children how I would wan t to . 

THE COURT: Su re. 

Mr. Nooney, go ahead with -- I t h ink you were taki ng 

some notes and you two were having a c onversation . Any 

i d eas from your s i de? 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor, I 've made my record on thi s . I ' m 

just going to l e t my r ecord stand . 

D 011 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

1 4 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

2 5 

THE COURT: Ok ay . 

MR. NOONEY: Th ank you . 

THE COURT: I'm going to grant a modificati o n t o t h is 

extent . I t ' s going to be small at t his point , b u t i t ' s 

going t o be v i s ita t ion a t Uni ted Famili e s . 

1 2 

Now, I seem t o remember from t h e last h eari ng that -­

was t here a n i ssue wi t h United Families o r i s t h a t -- is i t 

a probl e mati c p l a ce f or some reason o r no t? 

MR. NELSON: My understanding i s the y woul d n o t a llow the 

supervi sed parenting time because o f a pend i n g cri mi nal 

matter a nd tha t is why, a g ain, I tho u ght we h ad a 

stipula t ion to a void t hat. If the r e was to b e a 

sti pulati on entered by the parti es for t h i s court f i le, 

that they woul d a ccept that, to all ow the facility t o be 

used. But current l y t h ey -- wi t hout t hat, t hei r p o licy i s 

not t o b e a f a c ility to have t o conduct those t ypes o f 

pare nting t ime s when cri mina l mat t e rs a re pendi ng . 

THE COURT: So the a n swer is ? 

MR. NELSON: Un l ess there ' s a stipulat i o n , t hat ' s my 

u nderstanding . I might be -- I might be wrong on that . 

I' m no t the o ne t hat h as b een talking t o Unit ed Families , 

i t ' s been my c lient o r I t h ough t Mr . Noon ey. 

THE COURT: Mr . Noo n e y , h a ve you t a l ked t o Uni t ed Fa milies? 

MR. NOONEY: No , Yo u r Honor , bec ause as the c u rrent court 

o rde r s t a nds , my cl ient was no t even al l owed fo r s uper v i s ed 
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13 

visitation. 

THE COURT: Have you ever in t he past? 

MR. NOONEY: Not i n a c ase l i ke t h is , no, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: I ' m tryi ng to work something out here . I ' m 

trying to find some way where -- b e c a use nobody's walki ng 

out of here happy about the s ituation, I am certain o f 

that. But I'm trying t o come up wi t h s omething whe re I 

g iving Mr. Tovar a l i ttl e t i me with h is children b e cause 

and t he reaso n I'm doing t hat is becaus e I don 't believe 

that the Petitioner i s complet e l y aga inst that . So I'm 

t r ying to give jus t a little bit here , b ut I don ' t know, I 

don 't know what t o suggest , I don't kn ow what t o order, 

without a l ittle bit of g uidance . 

Mr. Nel son, a nything e l se? 

MR. NELSON: Yeah . I ' m stil l c onfused bec a u se I t hought at 

the evidentiary hearing the Responde nt provided the Court 

with a t ext message indi cating tha t they wou ld no t 

facilitate or conduct any United Family visitations pending 

a -- I guess a matter that involved a g u n or a criminal 

investigation. Ther e was an e x h ibi t t hat was offered to 

this Court a nd I believe it came from the Respondent . So 

there was communicat i ons, there had been communications 

b e twee n the Respondent a nd Unite d Fami l i es . So I n eed 

some -- I ' m confused at this point . I tho ught tha t ' s where 

we were g etting o u r infor mation as to why we we r e tryin g t o 
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set t his up wi t h United Families . 

MR. NOONEY: Your Honor, i f I may clari fy for t h e record, 

p lea s e? 

THE COURT: I would l ove f or you to clarify. 

14 

MR. NOONEY: I belie v e t he Court had a sked t h e q uest i on i f 

I had contacted Uni ted Fami l i es . My client had contacted 

United Fami l i e s wh e n the t empor ary protection o rder was 

e n tered by Judge Wi p f Pfei f l e . My c lient has not since , t o 

my knowledge, cont a cted Uni ted Fami l i es nor have I, as I 

just r epresent ed to t he Court, because as t he c u r rent c o urt 

order stands , my client i s not even e n titled to that . And 

j ust for p u rposes o f my r ecord, I j ust want to make it 

clear we ' re no t concedi ng or agreei ng to t hat , bu t I 

understand the Court ' s potential modification a nd what t hat 

looks l ike . 

THE COURT: We l l, so pre t ty much a ll or nothing for you? 

MR. NOONEY: I wouldn ' t say t hat , Your Hono r . I j ust 

would -- for the pur p oses of t he motion that ' s in front of 

the Court, the Respondent would be asking that the children 

b e e nt irely removed from the protectio n order . That , of 

course, would then requi re some addit i o nal - - t weaki ng i s 

probably not the r ight word , but i t would have to be some 

orde r t h a t wou l d the n not only remove the c h ildre n but 

allow f or exchanges , f or examp l e , f o r my c lie nt to p ick up 

the ki ds . He , of course , the n would seek to b e abl e to 
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attend spo rting event s , if he kept his distance 

intentionally from 

THE COURT: Sure . 

MR. NOONEY: -- Ms . Wagn e r . 

THE COURT: Yep. Okay. 

15 

Mr. Nelson, you 're not goin g to go for tha t or are you 

having the children removed from the protectio n order? 

MR. NELSON: Not a t this t ime , Your Honor, due to the 

pendi ng criminal i nvest i gation . 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. NELSON: My client would be open t o if t hat was , I 

guess , found to be wi thout any validity or a ny concerns by 

law enf orcement, there would be a d i fferent situati o n for 

her. 

THE COURT: We can keep this matter at t he fore on a ll 

these d iffe r e nt i ssues . I would r e a l ly like to know if 

Uni ted Fa milies woul d a l low some v i s i ts t here . I'd like t o 

know the answer to that question . I will -- I will 

conside r I will start , I g uess , with some vis i ts there 

a nd t hen we can see where thin gs go because sometime 

hopeful l y i n the near future a t some point we are able to 

come up with a determinatio n of what ' s happeni ng in a 

potential c rimina l, pardon me , i nvestigat ion. 

So f or r i g ht now I ' m no t -- I ' m no t comfort ab l e taking 

the childre n out o f the prote ct i on order for t h e reasons 
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Mr. Nelson outlines. And I kn ow that that' s not what the 

Respondent wants, o f course, Mr . Nooney, but I ' m j ust 

trying to come up with just somet hin g where we could lit t l e 

by little c o me up with a solution or even if it's not 

little by little , but it' s just little , it' s something. 

I' ll hear from the parti es again a week fro m now. We 

can d o it -- we can do it in seven days fro m n ow a t the 

same t ime and have another hearing, o r if you -- if someone 

can just make some phone calls and fi nd out if i t wi ll wo r k 

there, that's the answer I need. That's really the answer 

I needed for this hearing, b ut I understand we didn ' t -­

you know, nobody was on the same page as f ar as exactly 

where we're headed so I'm not t rying to chastise a nyone , 

but I think that's a big t h ing that we need to know f irst . 

And I'm willing to start t here. And t hen as we sort out 

a nd as we d e t e rmine whe r e thin gs are going, t h en a t some 

poin t we 'll have to d e t e rmine this c h i l d c ustod y matt e r a nd 

see if there are some o t her t h ings and other modifications 

that we can make . 

Mr . Nooney, because the order is in place and because 

of the find ings t hat I made al r eady, I believe the onu s i s 

probably on y o u to s ho w why a modi f i cation shoul d be made . 

So I guess I'm goi ng to p ut i t o n you t o ma ke a p hone call 

a nd find o ut. 

Mr. Ne l s on, I 'm sur e -- I don 't know, I g u ess the way 
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that it appea rs t o me i n t h i s h eari ng t hat becau se t h ey 

wo uldn't b e so op posed t o such an i d e a , it d oesn ' t s eem 

like it' s a bad i dea f or you t o work on i t t o g ether . 

But y o u ' re the one seeking mod ific a t ion here so I 

t h i nk t h a t s t a rts with you t hen . Do you d i sag ree? 

1 7 

MR. NOONEY: A diffi cul t t h ing , I t h i n k , Your Ho no r , is as 

t h e c urrent o rder stands , p rior t o t oda y -- a gai n, we ' re 

not c o ncedi ng t o t his , b u t t here was not even super v i s ed 

v i s i tat i on . So my understandi ng i s United Famil i es i s 

g o i ng to ask f o r t h e p e rmanen t order of protecti on . I f we 

p rovid e the p ermanent ord er of prote ction, they ' re going t o 

say , There i s no supervised visitation . We ' d be i n 

v i o l a t i on o f the court order i f the children were t o hav e 

s upervi sed vis i tat i o n at Uni ted Famil i es . 

THE COURT: So you d o n ' t t h ink you c an have a conversati on 

wi t h them and say, Her e ' s a h yp:J t heti cal : Just imagi ne 

tha t t h e judge is going to let h i m have v i s i ts . 

MR. NOONEY: Yes. We have a hypothetical , Your Honor . I 

just -- I was trying to understand from the Court ' s 

perspecti ve if we need t o provide the order, if there ' s 

g o i ng t o be a modi ficat i o n , o r if t he Court would just l ike 

my offi ce o r my c lient to reach o u t to Un i ted Families and 

get t ha t i nforma t i on . 

My concern, You r Honor , is I think it ' s going t o be 

depende nt o n wh a t t h e Court ' s o rder i s , but we can have t h e 
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hypothet i c a l conversation with them. 

THE COURT: That' s a l l I want t o know . You guys -- you 

gentlemen can e mail me, tell me what you find o ut . I j ust 

think i t ' s -- I t h ink it ' s a l o t e as i er i f you do i t 

togethe r or if you're in on t he conversation t oge t her o r 

try it together. I don't know, maybe that' s me bei n g a 

little too opt i misti c. But , yeah , j us t find out if they 

would do i t . If t hey would d o i t, what I woul d lik e t o d o 

i s to s t art there. Then we can figu re ou t what else we 

need to d o because thi s c i vil matt er i s s t a lled and we may 

need to wait on a c riminal inves tigation a nd we aren 't 

goin g t o have those result s i mmed iat ely so I ' m t r y ing to 

just come up with somethi ng t o -- s omethi ng t o do f o r now 

just for a sho rt period of time . 

And I say a nd I turn to you , Mr . No one y , bec aus e 

you ' r e the one that was seeking the modifi cati on a nd t hat ' s 

wh y I wante d you t o i n itia t e t he conversation, bu t i f 

Mr . Nelson does it wi t h you , I t hink that ' s goi ng t o help 

everyone . So that ' s a ll. That ' s what I mean t wi th -- j ust 

find o ut if it ' s a possibility if this man right here can 

go there nex t week if I o rder it. 

MR. NOONEY: Und erstood . I apologize, You r Honor , I 

mi sunde r s t o od what the Court was as king . 

THE COURT: Very we ll . And I d o n ' t mean t o -- I ' m not 

trying t o chew a nyone o ut , I ' m jus t -- I g uess I t hought i t 
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was p r e tty s i mp l e and ma ybe I jus t wa s n ' t ve r y c l e a r . So 

that 's all I'm l oo king f or . 

19 

I ' ll ha ve a heari ng -- we c an have a hea r i ng n ex t week 

if the two o f y o u t h ink that yo u can get in contact with 

t hem o r whe nev e r you p r opose . 

MR. NELSON: Yo u r Honor, Mr . Nooney and I can d i scu s s 

briefly outside a f t erwa r d s t o ma ybe s et up a c onf e renc e 

call wi th United Fami li e s a nd t ry t o g et c l ari fi c a t i o n from 

the m and t h en rep ort back to the Co urt . 

THE COURT: I ap preci a t e t hat . If yo u -- yeah, j ust l et me 

know what yo u find out . I f it l ooks like we can get 

some thi n g d o ne h e r e and ma ybe even an agreement b etween the 

two of yo u o r a mong all of you, I ' ll e ntert a i n it , I' l l 

entertain a modi f ica tion for that p u rpos e . I t h ink that i t 

makes some s ense and we ' v e got t h at c i vi l f ile out t here so 

l e t ' s see what we c a n do in t hat r esp e c t . And t hen over 

time per h a p s we 'll find o u t a b o u t t h i s cri mi na l mat ter and 

we can figure o u t where it goes i n the futu re . 

So for right now I ' m not going to set it fo r next 

week . I ' ll wait to hear . And you can feel free to just do 

i t b y e mail communi cat i on wi t h me a nd tel l me what you f ind 

o u t a nd l et ' s see wh ere we can go f r om there . 

Mr . Nooney, a nyth ing you n eed t o kn ow -- a nything e l se 

you need from my end? 

MR. NOONEY: J u s t so the r ecord is c l ear, Your Hono r , I 

D 019 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

1 7 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

2 4 

25 

20 

mean, the allegation for criminal investigation, that' s the 

first time I 've heard of i t. But beyond that, n ot hing 

further f rom the Respondent , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: I don't know anything about it either, 

Mr . Nooney , so I guess we 're going to see where that goes . 

So anything e lse , Mr . Nelson? 

MR. NELSON: I have nothing, Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Okay. We'll be adjourned i n t hi s matter . 

(Hearing c oncluded at 4 : 57 p .m. ) 

* * * * * * * * * 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF PENNINGTON ) 

KYLEA M. WAGNER, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

RIGO B. TOVAR, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

51CIV18-000623 

VERIFIED MOTION FOR CHANGE 
OF CUSTODY 

COMES NOW the Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, by and through his 

undersigned counsel, and hereby respectfully moves this Court for an Order 

Modifying Custody in the above-captioned matter, establishing a visitation 

schedule and child support consistent with any such modification. This Motion 

is made upon the following grounds: 

1. On or about April 18, 2018, a Verified Complaint for Paternity, and 

Custody was filed with this Court. See Verified Complaint for Paternity, and 

Custody. 

2. On or about March 22, 2019, the Court entered the Court Order 

Approving Parenting Plan, where the Court ordered that the parties shall share 

joint legal custody and the Plaintiff, Kylea M. Wagner, shall continue as the 

primary physical custodian of the two (2) minor children, Isaiah Tovar (then age 

3) born February 4, 2015, and Teyao Tovar (then age 2) born February 19, 2016, 

providing the Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, with parenting time. See Court Order 

EXHIBIT 

1 102 

Filed: 3/22/2024 5:10 PM CST Pennington County, South Dakota 51CIV18-000623 
E 001 



Approving Parenting Plan. A true and correct copy of the Court Order Approving 

Parenting Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

3. The Plaintiff and the Defendant reside in Pennington County, South 

Dakota, giving this Court jurisdiction over this matter. 

4. The Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, provides the minor children with 

consistency, structure, and guidance, that is not available when the minor 

children are with the Plaintiff, Kylea M. Wagner. 

5. The Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, is of information and belief that the 

Plaintiff, Kylea M. Wagner, has dependency issues related to illicit drugs and 

alcohol, that have risen to a level that impacts her ability to affectively parent the 

minor children. 

6. The Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, is of information and belief that lack 

of stability in the Plaintiff, Ky lea M. Wa gner's, current mental and emotional state 

has risen to a level that impacts her ability to affectively parent the minor 

children, as reflected in repeated communications from the Plaintiff, Kylea M. 

Wagner, to the Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar. These communications include, but are 

not limited to a text m essage , wher e the Plaintiff, Kylea M. Wagner , has indicated 

se lf-harm, while physically having one of the minor children in h er care. 

7. The Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, is further concerned about lack of 

consistency and stability for the minor children when they are in the care of the 

Plaintiff, Ky lea M. Wagner, particularly the amount of school tardies and school 

a bsences the minor children have had and may have in the future. 
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8. A substantial change in circumstance has occurred since the Court 

Order Approving Parenting Plan that was entered by the Court on or about 

March 22, 2019. 

9. At the time the Court entered the Court Order Approving Parenting 

Plan, the Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, worked as an underground core driller, where 

he worked and lived remotely outside of Pennington County, South Dakota, often 

in other states such as Arizona, Alaska, Nevada, Michigan, and Utah, where he 

would work for 28 consecutive days out of state and be off for 14 days, living in 

state. 

10. In June of 2019, on or about June 20, 2019, the Defendant, Rigo B. 

Tovar, resigned from his employment as an underground core driller, in order to 

work and to reside in Pennington County, South Dakota for the purpose of 

providing consistency, structure, and guidance for his two (2) minor children. 

11. While Kylea M. Wagner and Rigo B. Tovar were never legally married, 

on or about June of 2020, the parties reconciled, living together and mutually 

providing support for the minor children under one household. 

12. In February of 2024, the parties ended such relationship, where the 

Plaintiff, Kylea M. Wagner, removed the minor children from the residence where 

the Plaintiff, Kylea M. Wagner, and the Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, and the two (2) 

minor children resided at since approximately June of 2020. 

13. The best interest of the minor children will be served by a change in 

custody as set forth above. 
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WHEREFORE the Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, respectfully asks this Court to 

enter an Order as follows: 

1. That the Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar, be granted primary physical custody of 
the parties' minor children; 

2. That the Court enter an Order designating the Plaintiff, Kylea M. Wagner, 
with visitation privileges and support obligations with respect to the minor 
children; 

3. The Court enter further Orders as necessary in the best interest of the 
minor children, including, but not limited to ordering that the Plaintiff, 
Kylea M. Wagner, refrain from drinking alcohol and using illicit drugs while 
the minor children are in her care; 

4. For the recovery of the Defendant, Rigo B. Tovar's, costs and 
disbursements associated with this action, including reasonable attorney 
fees as permitted by South Dakota law; and 

5. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

Dated this 22nd day of March, 2024. 

NOONEY & SOLAY, LLP 

Is/ Jared D. Nooney 
JARED D. NOONEY 
Attorneys for Defendant 
326 Founders Park Dr. / P. 0. Box 8030 
Rapid City, SD 57709-8030 
(605) 721-5846 
jared@nooneysolay.com 
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VERIFICATION 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA } 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF PENNINGTON ) 

Rigo B. Tovar, being first duly sworn upon his oath, deposes and states 

that he is the Defendant in the above-referenced Motion for Change of Custody 

and that he has read the same and knows the contents thereof to be true to his 

own knowledge, except to those matters therein stated on information and 

belief and, as to those matters, he believes them to be true. 

RIGO B. TOVAR, Defendant 

Subscribed and sworn to before me by Rigo B. Tovar this R day of 

March, 2024. 

EAL 
JARED D. NOONEY 

Notary Public 
SOUTH DAKOTA 

otaryPublic - South Dakota 
My Commission Expires: 

----~~l flllc.~==1::-KExplres;;;;:-202~/5 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Jared D. Nooney, attorney for Plaintiff, hereby certifies that a true and 
correct copy of the foregoing was served on this 22nd day of March, 2024, by 
electronic service through Odyssey File & Serve, to: 

George Nelson 
2640 Jackson Blvd. 
Rapid City, SD 57702 
(605) 719-94 70 
gjnlaw@gmail.com 

Ky lie Riggins 
902 Columbus St. 
Rapid City, SD 57701 
(605) 721-7230 
kylie@rigginsfamilylaw.com 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

APPEAL NO. 30777 

KYLEA M. WAGNER, 
Petitioner and Appellee, 

vs. 

RIGO B. TOVAR, 
Respondent and Appellant. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT 
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

PENNINGTON COUNTY, SOUTH DAKOTA 

JARED D. NOONEY 
NOONEY & SOLA Y, LLP 
326 Founders Park Drive 
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Rigo B. Tovar 

The Honorable Eric Kelderman 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

For ease of reference, citations to the pleadings will be referred to as Settled 

Record ("SR") with the numbers assigned by the Clerk. References to the documents in 

the Appendix will be referred to as "App." with the appropriate page number. Citations to 

transcripts will be designated by transcript, date of hearing, and page and line number, 

e.g., "TR (7/01/2024), pp. 39:18--40:2." "Permanent Order for Protection' is sometimes 

identified as "Permanent Protection Order." 

Appellant Rigo Tovar will be referred to as "Mr. Tovar" or "Appellant." Appellee 

Kylea Wagner will be referred to as "Ms. Wagner" or "Appellee." The minor children 

will be referred to as "I.T. and T.T." where the context is collective, or if the context is 

individual the reference to the specific child will be "LT." or "T.T.," as the case may be. 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to SDCL § 15-26A-3. 

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

I. Whether the circuit court erred when it entered a Permanent Order for 
Protection. 

The circuit court correctly entered the Permanent Order for Protection. 

Most Relevant Authorities: 

• Parker v. Parker, 2017 S.D. 37, 898 N.W.2d 735 
• SDCL § 25-10-1(1) 

II. Whether the circuit court erred When it entered a Permanent Protection Order 
against Mr. Tovar, finding that domestic abuse occurred by him based on incidents, 
some of which occurred ten years ago. 

The circuit court properly considered the history of domestic abuse. 
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Most Relevant Authorities: 

• Parker v. Parker, 2017 S.D. 37, 898 N.W.2d 735 
• SDCL § 25-10-1(1) 

III. Whether the circuit court erred when it entered a Permanent Order for 
Protection for the maximum period of five years, prohibiting Mr. Tovar from 
contact with the protected parties and minor children, I.T. and T.T. 

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in issuing the Permanent Order for 
Protection for five years. 

Most Relevant Authorities: 

• Parker v. Parker, 2017 S.D. 37, 898 N.W.2d 735 
• SDCL § 25-10-5 

IV. Whether the circuit court erred by not modifying the Order for Protection when 
it heard Respondent's Motion for Order to Modify the Order for Protection at the 
July 22, 2024 Hearing to Modify the Permanent Order for Protection. 

The circuit court did not err in denying the motion to modify the Permanent Order 
for Protection. 

Most Relevant Authorities: 

• Batchelder v. Batchelder, 2021 S.D. 60, 965 N.W.2d 880 
• SDCL § 25-10-10 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Due to Mr. Tovar's ongoing acts of domestic abuse, on May 24, 2024 Ms. 

Wagner filed a Petition and Affidavit for Protection Order (Domestic Abuse) seeking 

protection for herself and the minor children, I.T. and T.T. (App. 1-5). The circuit court 

granted an Ex Parte Temporary Order for Protection. (App. 6-8). After hearings on June 

20, 2024 and July 1, 2024, the circuit court entered a Permanent Order for Protection for 

a period of five years, prohibiting Mr. Tovar from contacting Ms. Wagner and the 

children. (App. 9- 13). 
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On July 2, 2024, Mr. Tovar filed a Motion to Modify the Order for Protection. 

(App. 14-16). A hearing was held on July 22, 2024, where Mr. Tovar requested that the 

children be removed from the protection order to allow him unsupervised parenting time. 

(TR (7/22/2024), p. 6:13-15; p. 7:19-23). 

Due to a pending criminal investigation involving Mr .. Tovar's alleged abuse of 

the chilkdren, Ms. Wagner opposed any modification in the Protection Order. (TR 

(7/22/2024), pp. 6:22-25; 8:8-14). The circuit court denied Mr, Tovar's motion to modify, 

expressing concern about the children's safety and the ongoing criminal investigation. 

(TR (7/22/2024), pp. 12:24 -13:4). 

Mr. Tovar now appeals the circuit court's entry of the Permanent Order for 

Protection, as well as the circuit court's denial of his Motion to Modify it. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Ms. Wagner and Mr. Tovar began a significant romantic relationship in August 

2013 and have two children together, LT. and T.T. (TR (7/01/2024), pp. 8:22-9:2; p. 

13:3-4). Throughout their relationship, Mr. Tovar engaged in a pattern of domestic 

abuse, including physical harm, threats, and harassment, causing Ms. Wagner and the 

children to fear for their safety. 

Physical Abuse Incidents: 

1. First Incident (2013-2014): Within the first year of their romantic relationship 

Mr. Tovar physically assaulted Ms. Wagner by using his forearm against her neck 

to push her against a wall, and pin her there. Ms. Wagner testified: 
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"We had an argument... he was angry and pushed me up against our. .. 
laundry room and pinned me back with his forearm against my neck." (TR 
(7/01/2024), p. 15:11-14) 

Her father, Jerry Wagner, corroborated this pattern of abuse. He testified about an 

incident where Ms. Wagner and their newborn baby were locked in the bathroom while 

Mr. Tovar was "beating the door down": 

"She was calling and telling me that her and her newborn baby was locked 
in their bathroom ... and that he had been threatening her and was beating 
the door down." (TR (7/01/2024),pp. 92:23-93:2) 

2. Second Incident (Approximately 2015): About a year later, Mr. Tovar pinned Ms. 

Wagner on the bed, restricting her breathing: 

"He ... pinned me up against the bed, was on top of me, where I could not 
breathe or move ... I started tunnel vision and trying to fight for air." (TR 
(7/01/2024), p. 15:19-23) 

3. Choking Incident: Ms. Wagner disclosed to her mother, Ms. Jeanne Wagner, 

that Mr. Tovar had choked her: 

"I heard about it from Kylea that he choked her." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 
115:23-24) 

Abuse Towards the Children: 

Ms. Wagner and her parents testified about Mr. Tovar's abusive behavior towards 

the children, including physical harm and emotional abuse. 

• Physical Punishment: 

o Mr. Tovar's Admission: During cross-examination, Mr. Tovar admitted 
to using a belt to discipline the children: 

"Q: You used a belt on the children. 

A: Per her request." (TR (7/01/2024), p . 178:13-14) 

4 



He acknowledged that he had spanked the children with a belt multiple 
times: 

"Q: How many times has that happened? 

A: I don't recall how many times, but I have not done it in years ... " 
(TR (7/01/2024), p. 178:20-22) 

o Ms. Wagner's Testimony: She testified that Mr. Tovar has hit the 
children and used a belt when they were younger: 

"He punishes them by yelling at them or putting them in a room. I 
have witnessed him hit Isaiah. And he hit them with a belt when 
they were younger." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 60:12- 16) 

o Witness Testimony: Jeanne Wagner witnessed Mr. Tovar slap LT. across 
the face when I. T. was only a toddler: 

"I did witness him slap Isaiah across the face when he was about 
18 months old." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 117:3-4) 

o Children's Disclosures: LT. told his grandmother that Mr. Tovar had 
been "beating him with a gun belt": 

"He told me that his dad had been beating him with a gun belt." 
(TR (7/01/2024), p. 121:11- 12) 

• Emotional Abuse: 

o Ms. Wagner testified that Mr. Tovar emotionally abused the children: 

"He belittles the children. He makes them feel insecure about 
themselves. He uses them as a tool against adults." (TR 
(7/01/2024), p. 60:4--0) 

o The children expressed to their grandmother that their father does not like 
them: 

"It's pretty much been Isaiah's ongoing conversation throughout the 
years that his dad does not like him. He's told us that several 
times." (TR (7/01/2024),pp. 117:25-118:2) 

• Neglect and Lack of Concern: 
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o Ms. Wagner noted that Mr. Tovar does not show up for the children's 
well-being, and refuses to assist when they need him: 

"He doesn't show up for them when he's needed ... For example, 
Isaiah-or Teyo had a surgery done. Rigo refused to come and­
nor did he show up for him in the two weeks of healing, the 
healing process." (TR (7/01 /2024), p. 60:6-10) 

Pending Criminal Investigation: 

At the July 22, 2024 hearing, it was revealed that there is a pending criminal 

investigation involving Mr. Tovar's alleged abuse of the children. (TR (7/22/2024), p. 

8:8-14). Ms. Wagner expressed concern about the children's safety and opposed 

removing them from the protection order while the investigation is ongoing: 

"My client would change her position if the criminal investigation resulted in no 
charges ... She's fearful... She believes that if there is to be parenting time ... it 
should be at least initially supervised." (Ms. Wagner's counsel's statements, TR 
(7/22/2024), p. 8:9-14) 

Mr. Tovar's counsel acknowledged that this was the first time he heard of the 

criminal investigation: 

"Just so the record is clear ... the allegation for criminal investigation, that's the 
first time I've heard of it." (TR (7/22/2024),pp. 20:25-21 :2) 

Circuit Court's Consideration of Motion: 

The circuit court considered Mr. Tovar's motion to modify the protection order 

but ultimately denied it, citing concerns about the children's safety and the pending 

investigation: 

"I'm not comfortable taking the children out of the protection order for the reasons 
Mr. Nelson outlines." (TR (7/22/2024),pp. 12:24-13:2) 

The court attempted to facilitate supervised visitation at United Families, but 

practical issues prevented immediate implementation. (TR (7/22/2024 ),pp. 10:24-11 :3 ). 
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT ENTERED A PERMANENT 
ORDER FOR PROTECTION. 

A. Standard of Review 

The Supreme Court reviews a circuit court's decision to grant a protection order 

using a two-step process: (1) determining whether the circuit court's findings of fact were 

clearly erroneous; and (2) if the findings are not clearly erroneous, determining whether 

the circuit court abused its discretion in granting the protection order. Parker v. Parker, 

2017 S.D. 37, ~ 9,898 N.W.2d 735, 738. 

An abuse of discretion is "a fundamental error of judgment, a choice outside the 

range of permissible choices, a decision, which, on full consideration, is arbitrary or 

unreasonable." Bruggeman by Black Hills Advocate, LLC v. Ramos, 2022 S.D. 16, ,r 10, 

972 N.W.2d 492,496. 

B. The Circuit Court's Findings Were Not Clearly Erroneous. 

The circuit court found that Mr. Tovar committed domestic abuse against Ms. 

Wagner and the children. Under SDCL § 25-10-1(1), domestic abuse includes "physical 

harm, bodily injury, or attempts to cause physical harm or bodily injury, or the infliction 

of fear of imminent physical harm or bodily injury." 

Substantial Evidence of Domestic Abuse: 

1. Physical Assaults: Ms. Wagner provided detailed testimony of multiple physical 

assaults by Mr. Tovar, including being pinned against a wall and choked. (TR 

(7/01/2024), p. 15:11-23). Her father corroborated these incidents, recalling 
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rescuing her from the home where Mr. Tovar was "beating the door down." (TR 

(7/01/2024),pp. 92:23-93:2) 

2. Abuse Towards the Children: The circuit court heard substantial evidence of 

Mr. Tovar's abusive behavior towards the children, which constitutes domestic 

abuse under SDCL § 25-10-1 (1 ). 

o Physical Harm: Both Ms. Wagner and her mother testified about Mr. 

Tovar physically harming the children, including hitting them and using a 

belt. Mr. Tovar himself admitted to using a belt on the children: 

"Q: You used a belt on the children. 

A: Per her request." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 178:13-14) 

He acknowledged multiple instances of this punishment: 

"Q: How many times has that happened? 

A: I don't recall how many times, but I have not done it in years ... " 
(TR (7/01/2024), p. 178:20-22) 

o Emotional Harm: Testimony indicated that Mr. Tovar belittles the 

children and undermines their self-esteem. 

"He belittles the children. He makes them feel insecure about 
themselves." (Ms. Wagner's testimony, TR (7/01/2024), p. 60:4-5) 

o Ongoing Risk: Ms. Wagner believes the abusive behavior continues. 

"Q: Do you believe he does that to this day? 

A: I do." (TR (7/0 1/2024), p. 60:1 7-18) 

The circuit court overruled objections and allowed this testimony, 

recognizing its relevance. 

3. Threatening Behavior with Firearms: 
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o On December 30, 2023, Mr. Tovar, while intoxicated, accessed an AR-15 

rifle, attaching a laser to it despite Ms. Wagner's pleas to stop: 

"I told him that it was scaring me and I would like him to put it 
away ... He turned back around and told me it was none of my 
business and I needed to leave the room." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 
23:4-7) 

Mr. Tovar admitted to handling the firearm after consuming alcohol: 

"Q: On this evening, December 30th of 2023, you'd been drinking 
and you were in the room where the gun safe was, correct? 

A: Yes. Alone." (TR (7/01/2024),pp. 171 :25-172:2) 

He acknowledged having the gun in his hands: 

"Q: You had the gun, though, too­

A: Yes." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 172:8-9) 

The court found Mr. Tovar's testimony evasive regarding his alcohol 

consumption: 

"I find that he was being a little evasive in that answer." (TR 
(7/01/2024), p. 203:13-14) 

o Ms. Wagner's father testified about her fear during this incident: 

"She called concerned that Rigo had taken out a gun ... she was just 
simply scared." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 89:7-10) 

4. Pointing a Laser at Ms. Wagner and the Children: 

o On January 14, 2024, Mr. Tovar pointed a laser at Ms. Wagner and T.T., 

causing severe fear: 

"A red laser came from his truck ... onto my son's chest... the laser 
was on my chest and slowly moved to my forehead." (TR 
(7/01/2024), p. 36:2-9) 

The circuit court concluded that this act constituted domestic abuse: 
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"I believe that that is sufficient to issue the Pfotection order as to 
Ms. Wagner and as to both of the children as well." (TR 
(7/01/2024), p. 204:10-12) 

o Ms. Wagner testified she had not seen any other lasers in the house 

besides those attached to guns: 

Q: Had you seen any other type of laser in your house, other than 
ones attached to guns? 

A: No, I have not." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 86:20-22) 

o The trial judge sought clarification and ensured understanding that these 

lasers were potentially attached to firearms. (TR (7/01/2024), p. 86:12-17) 

5. Aggressive Confrontation at the Park: 

o On May 22, 2024, Mr. Tovar aggressively approached Ms. Wagner and 

I.I. at Wilderness Park: 

"He was coming at me with a very aggressive, fast walk trying to 
demand our son to leave me ... I was scared." (TR (7/01/2024),pp. 
53:22-54:1) 

Despite her requests for him to stay away, he continued to approach: 

"Q: How many times did Kylea ask you to leave the park there on 
that audio? 

A: Two. Three. I don't remember. A few." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 1 

167:23-25) 

6. Harm to Pets as Intimidation: 

o Ms. Wagner suspected Mr. Tovar of harming their puppy, which was 

found bleeding internally without external injuries: 

"Somebody would have to go inside the kennel for the puppy to 
get hurt." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 82:6-7) 
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Credibility Determinations: 

The circuit court is in the best position to assess the credibility of witnesses. 

Parker v. Parker, 2017 S.D. 37,, 14, 898 N.W.2d at 739. The court found Ms. Wagner's 

testimony credible and detailed: 

"I find Ms. Wagner to be credible. I find her to be a credible witness and I 
believed her testimony. She was detailed and she explained exactly what 
happened and in extensive detail." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 202:18-22) 

Conversely, the court found Mr. Tovar evasive: 

"I find that he was being a little evasive in that answer." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 
203:13-14) 

C. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Granting the 
Protection Order. 

Given the credible evidence of domestic abuse, the circuit court acted within its 

discretion in granting the Permanent Order for Protection. The court's decision was based 

on substantial evidence and was neither arbitrary nor unreasonable. 

In Parker v. Parker, the Supreme Court upheld the issuance of a protection order 

where there was sufficient evidence of a series of acts that harassed and intimidated the 

petitioner. 2017 S.D. 37,, 20, 898 N.W.2d at 741. Similarly, the evidence here supports 

the circuit court's findings. 

11. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE HISTORY OF 
DOMESTIC ABUSE. 

Mr. Tovar contends that the court erred by considering incidents from ten years 

ago. However, the court properly considered the full history of abuse to assess the 

ongoing threat posed by Mr. Tovar. 
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Under SDCL § 25-10-1 ( 1 ), domestic abuse encompasses a pattern of abusive 

behavior. The statute does not limit consideration to recent incidents. In Parker v. Parker, 

the court acknowledged that past conduct is relevant in determining whether a protection 

order is necessary. 2017 S.D. 37, ,r 15, 898 N.W.2d at 740. 

Relevance of Historical Abuse: 

• Establishing a Pattern: The history of abuse demonstrates a pattern of 

controlling and threatening behavior by Mr. Tovar. The incidents from 2013 

onwards show a consistent pattern that has escalated over time. 

• Ongoing Fear: Ms. Wagner testified that the past incidents contribute to her 

current fear: 

"I was scared because of the last several years of the repeated 
unpredictable behaviors of Rigo, that I felt like this was getting more 
serious as time went on." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 46:23-25) 

• Children's Well-being: The history of abuse has impacted the children. They 

have expressed ongoing fear, and they have reported recent instances of physical 

harm. 

The circuit court appropriately considered this history in granting the protection 

order, recognizing the ongoing nature of the abuse. 

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ISSUING 
THE PROTECTION ORDER FOR FIVE YEARS AND PROHIBITING MR. 
TOVAR TO HAVE CONTACT WITH THE CHILDREN. 

Under SDCL § 25-10-5, "any relief granted by the order for protection shall be for 

a fixed period and may not exceed five years." The circuit court was within its statutory 

authority to impose a five-year protection order. 
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A. The Inclusion of the Children in the Protection Order Was Justified. 

Under SDCL § 25-10-1(1), domestic abuse includes acts that inflict physical harm 

or the fear of imminent physical harm upon family or household members, which 

includes children. The evidence adduced at the hearing demonstrated that Mr. Tovar's 

abusive behavior had a direct and detrimental effect on the children. This justified their 

inclusion in the protection order. 

Evidence Supporting Inclusion: 

• Physical Abuse: Testimony from Ms. Wagner and her mother included telling of 

multiple instances of physical harm to the children, including 

Q: "You used a belt on the children?" 

A: "Per her request." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 178:13-14) 

• Emotional Harm: The children expressed feelings of fear of being disliked by 

their father, and fear of him due to his abusive actions. 

• Risk of Future Harm: The circuit court found that the incident involving the 

laser pointed at T.T. demonstrated a direct threat to the children's safety: 

"I believe that that is sufficient to issue the protection order as to Ms. 
Wagner and as to both of the children as well." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 
204:10-12) 

• Pending Criminal Investigation: At the July 22, 2024 hearing, it was disclosed 

that there is a criminal investigation involving Mr. Tovar's alleged abuse of the 

children. (TR (7/22/2024), p. 8:8-14). The court expressed concern about 

modifying the protection order in light of this investigation: 

"I'm not comfortable taking the children out of the protection order for the 
reasons Mr. Nelson outlines." (TR (7/22/2024),pp. 12:24- 13:2) 
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In Parker v. Parker, the Supreme Court upheld a protection order that included 

minor children when there was evidence that the respondent's actions endangered their 

safety. 2017 S.D. 37, 1120-21, 898 N.W.2d at 741. 

B. The Five-Year Duration Was Within the Court's Discretion. 

Given the severity and ongoing nature of the abuse, the circuit court did not abuse 

its discretion in issuing the protection order for the maximum period allowed under 

SDCL § 25-10-5. 

Ms. Wagner expressed the necessity for a long-term protection order: 

"Q: And you're seeking a protection order, a permanent protection order, 
for what period of time? 

A: Five years. 

Q: Why? 

A: l believe for myself, safety, and the children." (TR (7/01/2024), p. 
59:21-25) 

The court's decision to grant a five-year protection order was reasonable and 

supported by the evidence, reflecting the need to ensure the safety and well-being of Ms. 

Wagner and the children. 

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING MR. TOV AR'S 
MOTION TO MODIFY THE PERMANENT ORDER FOR PROTECTION. 

A. Standard of Review 

The decision to modify a protection order is within the circuit court's discretion. 

Under SDCL § 25-10-10, "upon application, notice to all parties, and hearing, the court 

may modify the terms of an existing order for protection." 
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B. The Circuit Court Acted Within Its Discretion in Denying Mr. Tovar's 

Motion to Modify. 

At the July 22, 2024 hearing, Mr. Tovar requested that the children be entirely 

removed from the protection order, allowing him to resume unsupervised parenting time. 

(TR (7/22/2024), p. 6:13-15; p. 7: 19-23). Due to a pending criminal investigation 

involving Mr. Tovar's alleged abuse of the children, Ms. Wagner opposed removing the 

children from the protection order. (TR (7/22/2024), p. 6:22-25; p. 8:8-14). She 

expressed a willingness to allow supervised visitation at United Families, but Mr. Tovar 

did not agree to the terms she proposed. (TR (7/22/2024), p. 5:22-6:3;pp. 11 :25-12:2). 

The circuit court denied the motion to modify, stating: 

"I'm not comfortable taking the children out of the protection order for the reasons 
Mr. Nelson outlines ... because of the findings that I made already, and given the 
pending criminal investigation." (TR (7/22/2024),pp. 12:24-13:4) 

The court emphasized the need to protect the children and considered the ongoing 

investigation: 

"We may need to wait on a criminal investigation and we aren't going to have 
those results immediately." (TR (7/22/2024), p. 18:11-13) 

The circuit court acted within its discretion in denying Mr. Tovar's motion to 

modify the protection order. Under SDCL § 25-10-10, the court may modify the terms of 

an existing order for protection upon application and hearing. However, the decision to 

modify lies within the court's sound discretion, considering the safety and well-being of 

the protected parties. 

In this case the court had previously made detailed findings supporting the 

inclusion of the children in the protection order, based on evidence of domestic abuse 
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involving them. (See Argument Section III, supra). At the July 22 hearing, the court 

considered the arguments and positions of both parties and determined that modification 

was not warranted at that time given the pending criminal investigation and the ongoing 

concerns for the children's safety. 

The court's decision was reasonable and aimed at safeguarding the well-being of 

the children, which is consistent with the purposes of the protection order statutes. See 

Batchelder v. Batchelder, 2021 S.D. 60, ~ 18, 965 N.W.2d 880, 886 ("The protection 

order statutes are intended to prevent further abuse and protect victims from future 

harm."). 

Moreover, the court attempted to facilitate some contact between Mr. Tovar and 

the children by suggesting supervised visitation at United Families, but practical issues 

prevented that from occurring at the time. (TR (7/22/2024),pp. 10:24-11 :3; p. 13:11-20). 

The court encouraged the parties (through their counsel) to explore options for supervised 

visitation, demonstrating a balanced approach that considered both the children's safety 

and Mr. Tovar's desire for contact. 

Therefore, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion to 

modify the protection order. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Appellee respectfully requests that this Court affirm 

the circuit court's Permanent Order for Protection, as well as the circuit court's decision 

to deny Appellant's motion to modify the Protection Order. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ENTERED A PERMANENT 
ORDER FOR PROTECTION. 

Kylea Wagner makes allegations of "[p]hysical [a]ssaults" and 

"[p ]hysical [h]arm" in Appellee's Brief, which are beyond the specific facts 

and circumstances of the [alleged] domestic abuse" See Appellee's Brief, 

pp. 7-8. As stated by this Court in Purcell v. Begnaud, 

A petitioner must 'allege the existence of domestic abuse[.]' 
SDCL 25-10-3 (2). The petitioner is also required to submit 
'an affidavit made under oath stating the specific facts and 
circumstances of the domestic abuse[.]' Id. (emphasis added). 
'One seeking relief under the domestic abuse laws must 
prove abuse by a preponderance of the evidence.' 

Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 8, 895 N.W.2d 346, 349 (quoting Beennann v. 

Beennann, 1997 S.D. 11, ,r 17, 559 N.W.2d 868,872); SDCL 25-10-5 

(emphasis in original). The circuit court erred by considering any 

allegation beyond the "specific facts and circumstances" as alleged by 

Kylea Wagner in the Petition & Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic 

Abuse) . See Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 8, 895 N.W.2d 346, 349 (quoting 

Beennann, 1997 S.D. 11, ,r 17, 559 N.W.2d 868,872); SDCL 25-10-5 

(emphasis in original); see also Petition & Affidavit for a Protection Order 

(Domestic Abuse), App. at B 001-024. 

Kylea Wagner did not a llege "specific facts and circumstances of [] 

domestic abuse" in the Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Order 
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(Domestic Abuse). Id. In fact, when asked "I AM ASKING THE COURT 

FOR A PROTECTION ORDER BASED UPON THE FACTS BELOW", and 

when informed to "check all that apply", Kylea Wagner only checked the 

following boxes: 

I AM ASKING THE COURT FOR A PROTECTION ORDER BASED UPON THE FACTS 
BELOW; 
On or about (month)~(chy) l :1 , (year)1.tl:1.. at approximatcly::2 YCo'cloclc~(am/pm), 
Respondent committedtheTollowing ai:t(s) of domestic abuse against Petitioner (if not me, my minor child 
who is related to Respondent) and any Protected Parties (other minor child in my custody related to 
Respondent): 
(check a(l that apply): 
D R~pondent c11u:uxl physical hmm or bodily iojwy. 
D Respondent attempted to cause physical harm or bodily injury. 
QI Respondent's. awons intli,;tt:d fcadn Petitioner and/or any Protooted Partie9 that Respondent was 

about to cause physical hann or bodily injUl')' to said Petitioner or Pl'Qtoct.ed Party. 
D Respondent violaied a protection order. 

Fo1111 lTJ8-091A if A.dull 
Farm UJH91Af ifJuW11l!ll 

Rcv. 07/21 

0 Respondent willfully. mali<,iousl)', and rcpca~dly followed Petitioner and/or any Protected Parnes. 
@.Respondent puraued a knowing and willful course of conduct which seriously alanncd, annoyed, or 

harassed Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties with no legitimate purpose. The pattern of conduct 
W83 a series of oots over a period of time, however short, showing a continuing pattern of har11Ssmcnt. 

D Respondent made a credible threat with intent to cawie Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties 
mu;ional,le ~ of death or great bodily injury. 

D The p:non willfuJly, maliciously, and repeatedly harassed Petitioner and/or .any Protected Parties by 
means of any verbal, clr;ctronict digital media, mechanic.al, telegraphic, or written eommwiication. 

D Respond.mt committed e crime ohiolence -ainst Petitioner or any Protected Parties. 

Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 

001-002. The two boxes checked only relate to the alleged incident on 

May 22, 2024 and not to any other alleged incidents. 
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On the Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic 

Abuse), as is referenced above, Kylea Wagner did not check the following 

boxes,: 1 

o Respondent caused physical harm or bodily injury. 

o Respondent attempted to cause physical harm of bodily injury. 

o Respondent willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly followed 
Petitioner and/ or Protected Parties. 

o Respondent made a credible threat with intent to cause 
Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties reasonable fear of death 
or great bodily injury. 

o The person willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly harassed 
Petitioner and/or any Protected Parties by means of verbal, 
electronic, digital media, mechanical, telegraphic, or written 
communication. 

o Respondent committed a crime of violence against Petitioner or 
any Protected Parties. 

Petition and Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse) , App. at B 

002-003. Nor did Kylea Wagner state "under oath [] the specific facts and 

circumstances of [ ] [alleged] domestic abuse"' in the Petition and 

Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), as required. See 

Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 8, 895 N.W.2d 346, 349 (quoting Beermann, 

1997 S.D. 11, ,r 17, 559 N.W.2d 868, 872); SDCL 25-10-5 (emphasis in 

original). For these reasons, any argument of "[p)hysical [a]ssaults" and 

"[p )hysical [h]arm" is improper and beyond "the specific facts and 

1 Again, which the Petitioner is to "check all that apply» . Petition and Affidavit for a 
Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App . a t B 002 (emphasis in o riginal). 
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circumstances [alleged]" in the Petition and Affidavit for a Protection 

Order (Domestic Abuse). Id. 

As argued by Kylea Wagner in Appellee's Brief, the circuit court 

considered "[s]ubstantial [e]vidence of [d]omestic [a]buse" including 

alleged "[p]hysical [a]ssaults" and "[p]hysical [h]arm". See Appellee's 

Brief, pp. 7-8. At the July 1, 2024 Permanent Protection Order Hearing, 

the circuit court stated as follows: 

THE COURT: [W]hat it ultimately comes down to is what's in 
this petition. It's not -- I m ean, these other things --
and the reason I let the testimony come in was that's 
background and that's information that led us to where we 
are today, but it has to b e based on the incidents that are 
alleged in the petition. Everyone agree on tha t? 

MR. NELSON: Yes, Your Honor. 

MR. NOONEY: Yes, Your Honor. And beyond that, [] 
m y client didn't have notice as concerns some 
of these allegations to offer witnesses to rebut such. 

Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 194:3 - p. 194: 12 (emphasis added). The 

circuit court erred by considering allegations of "[p ]hysica l [a]ssaults" 

and "[p]hysical [h]arm". As cited by Kylea Wagner in Appellee 's Brief, 

"[a]n abuse of discre tion is 'a fundamental error of judgment, a choice 

outside the range of permissible choices, a decision, which, on full 

consideration, is arbitrary or unrea sonable."' Appellee's Brief, p. 7 (citing 

Bro.ggeman by Black Hills Advoc., LLC v. Ramos, 2022 S.D. 16, ,r 34, 972 

N.W.2d 492, 504); Field v. Field, 2020 S.D. 51, ,r 15, 9 4 9 N.W. 2d 2 21 , 

224. It was an "abuse of discretion [and] [] 'a fundamental error of 
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judgment" when the circuit court considered allegations of "[p]hysical 

[a]ssaults" and "[p]hysical [h]arm", which was "a choice outside the range 

of permissible choices, a decision, which, on full consideration, is 

arbitrary or unreasonable." See Brnggeman by Black Hills Advoc., LLC, 

2022 S.D. 16, ,r 34, 972 N.W.2d 492, 504; see also Field, 2020 S.D. 51, ,r 

15, 949 N.W.2d 221, 224. 

Kylea Wagner argues to this Court that "the [circuit] court found 

Ms. Wagner's testimony credible and detailed[.]" See Appellee's Brief, p. 

11. When the circuit court stated that "I find that he was being a 

little evasive in that answer[,]" it was in regard to a question about how 

many beers Rigo Tovar had consumed. Transcript (7/01/2024), p. 

197: 13 - 14. The circuit court did not state that Rigo Tovar was not 

credible, just that his answer to one question was "a little evasive". Id. 

Rigo Tovar consuming alcohol is not a basis for a circuit court to grant a 

permane nt order for protection, such as the circuit court did h ere. 

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ENTERED A PERMANENT 
ORDER FOR PROTECTION WHEN IT FOUND DOMESTIC ABUSE 
OCCURRED BASED UPON ALLEGED INCIDENTS, SOME OF 
WHICH ALLEGEDLY OCCURRED TEN YEARS AGO. 

SDCL § 25-10-1(1) d efine s "domestic abuse", as follows: 

"Domestic abuse," physical harm, bodily injury, or attempts 
to cause physical harm or bodily injury, or the infliction of 
fear of imminent physical harm or bodily injury when 
occurring between persons in a relationship described in 
§ 25-10-3.1. Any violation of§ 25-10-13 or chapter 22-19A 
or any crime of violence as defined in subdivision 22-1-2(9) 
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constitutes domestic abuse if the underlying criminal act is 
committed between persons in such a relationship[.] 

Kylea Wagner argues that SDCL § 25-10-1(1) "encompasses a pattern of 

abusive behavior". See Appellee's Brief, p. 12. 

As stated by this Court in Fann Bureau Life Ins. Co. v. Dolly, 

"[w]hen interpreting a statute, we begin with the plain language 

and structure of the statute." Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 2018 S.D. 

28, ,r 9,910 N.W.2d 196, 199-200 (citing Magellan Pipeline Co. v. 

S.D. Dep't of Revenue & Reg., 2013 S.D. 68, ,r 9, 837 N.W.2d 402, 

404) (quoting In re Pooled Advoc. Tr., 2012 S.D. 24, ,r 32, 813 

N.W.2d 130, 141). Given this, this Court shall interpret SDCL § 25-

10-1(1) by its' "plain language and structure". See Fann Bureau 

Life Ins. Co., 2018 S.D. 28, ,r 9, 910 N.W.2d 196, 199-200. 

Nowhere in SDCL § 25-10-1(1) (again which defines "domestic 

abuse") did the Legislature define, let alone mentioned what 

"encompasses a pattern of abusive behavior". The plain language 

and structure of SDCL § 25-10-1(1) did not allow the circuit court 

to consider "a pattern of [alleged] abusive behavior", as argued by 

Kylea Wagner. See Appellee's Brief, p. 10; see also Farm Bureau 

Life Ins. Co., 2018 S.D. 28, ,r 9, 910 N.W.2d 196, 199-200; SDCL § 

25-10-1(1). More specifically, the circuit court erred when it 

granted the permanent order for protection and found domestic 
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abuse occurred by considering alleged incidents that allegedly 

occurred ten years ago. 

Kylea Wagner further argues that "[i]n Parker v. Parker, 

the court acknowledged that past conduct is relevant in determining 

whether a protection order is necessary." Appellee's Brief, p. 12 (citing 

Parker, 2017 S.D. 37, ,r 11, 898 N.W.2d 1, 4)2. When this Court 

considered a "course of conduct" in Parker, it dealt with an allegation of 

"harassment". Id. As stated by this Court in Parker, 

"SDCL 22-19A-4 defines 'harasses' as a 'knowing and willful 
course of conduct directed at a specific person which 
seriously alarms, annoys, or harasses the person, and which 
serves no legitimate purpose.' 'Course of conduct' is also 
defined in SDCL 22-19A-5 as 'a pattern of conduct 
composed of a series of acts over a period of time, however 
short, evidencing a continuity of purpose. Constitutionally 
protected activity is not included within the meaning of 
course of conduct.' Here, although the court did not use the 
statutory language when issuing its findings of fact, those 
findings nonetheless support that Jordan knowingly and 
willfully engaged in a series of acts that repeatedly harassed 
Abigail." 

Id. The case at hand is distinguishably different than Parker. In the 

case at hand, the circuit court did not find that Rigo Tovar 

"harassed" Kylea Wagner, as this Court found occurred in Parker. 

Id.; see also Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), 

2 Kylea Wagner incorrectly cites to ,r 15 of this Court's decision in Parker, but ,r 15 is 
the "[c]onclusion" section. Appellee's Brief, p. 12. This Court dealt with the pattern of 
conduct in ,r 11 of the Parkerdecision. See Parker, 2017 S.D. 37, ,r 11,898 N.W.2d 1, 
4). 
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App. at A 002. For these reasons, the circuit court erred when it 

considered alleged incidents, some that allegedly occurred ten 

years ago. 

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ENTERED A PERMANENT 
ORDER FOR PROTECTION FOR THE MAXIMUM PERIOD OF FIVE 
YEARS, PROHIBITING RIGO TOVAR, FROM CONTACT WITH THE 
PROTECTED PARTIES AND MINOR CHILDREN, LT. AND T.T .. 

Kylea Wagner argues that this Court in Parker, "upheld a 

protection order that included minor children when there was evidence 

that the respondent's actions endangered their safety." See Appellee's 

Brief, p. 14. This argument made by Kylea Wagner is misleading at best, 

as Parker makes no reference to minor children being protected parties 

pursuant to the protection order. See generally Parker, 2017 S.D. 37, 

898 N.W.2d 1. The only reference to minor children in this Court's 

decision in Parker, related to Petitioner, Abigail Parker and Respondent, 

Jordan Parker having children together, Abigail Parker having another 

child, Jordan Parker helping care for the children in April of 2025 when 

Abigail Parker was sick, and general references to SDCL § 25-10. Id. at 

,r,r 2, 5. 

Kylea Wagner argues that "[t]he circuit court was within its 

statutory authority to impose a five-year protection order." See Appellee's 

Brief, pp. 12-14. The circuit court abused its discretion in granting the 

Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse) for a period of five 

years. As this Court stated in Purcell, "even if the circuit court had found 
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that the children were victims of domestic abuse, it could have protected 

against such abuse without completely curtailing Begnaud's 

fundamental rights as a parent for three years." Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 

12, 895 N. W2d 346, 350-51. Similarly to Purcell, the circuit court could 

have protected against the minor children I.T. and T.T. "without 

completely curtailing [Rigo Tovar's] fundamental rights as a parent for 

[five] years[;]" however, in the case at hand, the circuit court abused its' 

discretion imposing the Permanent Order for Protection by not creating 

an exception or considering any visitation, let alone prohibiting Rigo 

Tovar from all "phone calls, emails, third party contact, including 

correspondence, direct or indirect" with his children, I.T. and T.T. for a 

period of five years. See Purcell, 2017 S.D. 23, ,r 12, 895 N. W.2d 346, 

350-51; see also Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), App. 

at A 001-004. 

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY NOT MODIFYING THE ORDER 
FOR PROTECTION WHEN IT HEARD RESPONDENT'S MOTION 
FOR ORDER TO MODIFY THE ORDER FOR PROTECTION AT THE 
JULY 22, 2024 HEARING TO MODIFY THE PERMANENT ORDER 
FOR PROTECTION. 

Kylea Wagner cites to Batchelder v. Batchelder, to argue that the 

circuit court's "decision was reasonable and aimed at safeguarding the 

well-being of the children[.]" See Appellee's Brief, p. 16; see generally 

Batchelder, 2021 S.D. 60, 965 N.W.2d 880. This Court in Batchelder, 

reversed the circuit court's order granting a permanent protection order, 
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holding that "[p]ermanent protection orders, like all other judicial orders, 

must rest upon sufficient factual and legal support. The circuit court's 

order in TPO 20-726 had neither." Batchelder, 2021 S.D. 60, ,r 28, 965 

N.W.2d 880,887. Ultimately, the preponderance of the evidence did not 

support the circuit court granting a Permanent Order for Protection 

(Domestic Abuse), prohibiting Rigo Tovar from seeing his minor children, 

LT. and T.T. for a period of five years. 

As it concerns the alleged "criminal investigation" as raised by 

Kylea Wagner, Kylea Wagner cherry picks portions of the testimony and 

argument from the July 22, 2024 court hearing on Rigo Tovar's Motion to 

Modify the Permanent Order for Protection. See Appellee's Brief, pp. 6, 

13, 15. The "criminal investigation" was an allegation and not something 

what was "revealed": 

MR. NOONEY: Just so the record is clear, Your Honor, I 
mean, the allegation [of a] criminal investigation, that's the 
first time I've heard of it. But beyond that, nothing further 
from the Respondent, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: I don't know anything about it either, Mr. 
Nooney, so I guess we're going to see where that goes. 

Transcript (7/22/2024), p. 3:8 - 3 : 18. It should further by noted that the 

alleged "criminal investigation" was an allegation by Kylea Wagner's 

attorney, George Nelson, and such was not testimony under oath by 

Kylea Wagner. 
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Kylea Wagner argues to this Court that "[d]ue to a pending 

criminal investigation involving Mr. Tovar's alleged abuse of the children, 

Ms. Wagner opposed removing the children from the protection order." 

See Appellee's Brief, p. 15 (citing Transcript (7/22/2024), p. 6:22-25; p. 

8:8-14). In denying the Motion for Order to Modify the Order for 

Protection, the circuit court based its' decision on the alleged "criminal 

investigation", again which was merely an allegation by Kylea Wagner's 

attorney, George Nelson and not testimony under oath by Kylea Wagner. 

Transcript (7/22/2024), p. 18: 11; p. 3:8 - 3: 18. The circuit court erred 

by considering an alleged criminal investigation and not granting the 

Motion for Order to Modify the Order for Protection. 

Kylea Wagner further argues that 

[T]he court attempted to facilitate some contact between Mr. 
Tovar and the children by suggesting supervised visitation at 
United Families, but practical issues prevented that from 
occurring at the time. (TR (7/22/2024), pp. 10:24-11 :3; p. 
13: 11-20). The court encouraged the parties (through their 
counsel) to explore options for supervised visitation, 
demonstrating a balanced approach that considered both the 
children's safety and Mr. Tovar's desire for contact. 

See Appellee's Brief, p. 16. United Families was not an option for 

supervised visitation of the minor children, LT. and T.T .. Petition & 

Affidavit for a Protection Order (Domestic Abuse), App. at B 002-004. 

Beyond this, the circuit court erred given that it did not grant Rigo 

Tovar's Motion to Modify Order for Protection that came before the circuit 

court on July 22, 2024. More specifically, the Court erred when it did not 
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enter a Modified Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), given 

that the Permanent Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse) provides that 

"[p]hone calls, emails, third party contact, including correspondence, 

direct or indirect are not permitted [by Rigo Tovar], with [LT. and T.T. ]" 

for a period of five years, with "NO EXCEPTIONS[.]" See App. Permanent 

Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), App. at A 001-004. 

It cannot be forgotten that the Notice of Entry of Order and 

Acknowledgement of Personal Service of the Permanent Order for 

Protection (Domestic Abuse) was executed by Rigo Tovar on July 1, 2024, 

immediately following the Permanent Order Hearing. See App. Permanent 

Order for Protection (Domestic Abuse), App. at A 004. Pursuant to SDCL 

§ 15-26A-6 "[a]n appeal from a judgment or order must be taken within 

thirty days after the judgment or order shall be signed, attested, filed and 

written notice of entry thereof shall have been given to the adverse 

party." Rigo Tovar had a tight window to appeal (thirty days from July 1, 

2024), which prohibited "explor[ing] options for supervised visitation" as 

suggested by Kylea Wagner. See Appellee's Brief, p. 16. Unless the 

Permanent Order of Protection is modified or this matter is reversed 

and/ or remanded to the circuit court, pursuant to the Permanent Order 

for Protection (Domestic Abuse), Rigo Tovar is prohibited from any 

contact with his minor children, LT. and T.T. until July 1, 2029. 

Permanent Order for Protection, App. at A 001-004. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing arguments and authority set forth herein, the 

Appellant, Rigo B. Tovar, respectfully requests that this Court reverse the 

circuit court's Permanent Order for Protection. 

Dated this 13th day of January, 2025. 

NOONEY & SOLAY, LLP 

Is/ Jared D. Nooney 
JARED D. NOONEY 
Attorney for Respondent and Appellant 
326 Founders Park Drive/ P. 0. Box 8030 
Rapid City, SD 57709-8030 
(605) 721-5846 
jared@nooneysolay.com 
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